

Universität für Bodenkultur Wien University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna

Department of Forest and Soil Sciences

Institute of Silviculture

Supervisor: Assoc.Prof. DI Dr. Rupert Seidl

DISTURBANCE IMPACTS ON FOREST SUCCESSION, BIODIVERSITY, AND ECOSYSTEM SERVICES IN A CHANGING WORLD

Dissertation

to obtain a doctoral degree (*Dr.nat.techn.*) at the University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna

Dominik Thom

Vienna, August 2016

"A society grows great when old men plant trees whose shade they know they shall never sit in."

Greek Proverb

Preface

The main body of this thesis comprises three peer-reviewed scientific papers which can be found in the Appendix of this work (sections 9.1 to 9.3). Please note that the format of each article follows the requirements of the respective journal. Whereas detailed descriptions of the experimental design and results of my work can be found in each paper, the synthesis of sections 1-8 aims to frame and interlink the findings of my dissertation in order to highlight the contribution of my thesis to filling existing knowledge gaps on disturbance dynamics in a changing world. In this way, my synthesis provides a common structure for the individual articles, and stimulates a discussion of the results beyond the scope of each paper. Moreover, I here present new hypotheses based on the advances made in my thesis, which I consider worth investigating in the future.

I hope the reader of my thesis feels excited by the research provided here and gains inspiration for his or her own investigations. I also like to mention that although I am certain about the validity of the methods used in this study, as in all fields of natural sciences no results should be considered without uncertainty. If there is one thing I learned during my PhD, it is that nothing we do and conclude from our findings is just black and white, but everything is shaded in grey. Hence, I believe that there is no perfect solution to a problem or only one outcome, but one can strive to find a good compromise and reduce the uncertainty among possible outcomes.

Please cite this thesis either by referring to the respective article:

- Thom, D., Rammer, W., Dirnböck, T., Müller, J., Kobler, J., Katzensteiner, K., Helm, N., Seidl, R., 2016. The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape. J. Appl. Ecol., DOI: 10.1111/1365-2664.12644
- Thom, D., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2016. Disturbances catalyze the adaptation of forest ecosystems to changing climate conditions. Glob. Chang. Biol. (accepted with minor revision)
- Thom, D., Seidl, R., 2016. Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests. Biol. Rev. 91, 760–781.

or by quoting it in its entirety as:

Thom, D. (2016) Disturbance impacts on forest succession, biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning in a changing world. Dissertation, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Vienna, p.188

Abstract

Forest ecosystems are dominated by long-living organisms with limited ability to migrate in space and time. Rapid changes in the climate system cause an increasing maladaptation of forests to their environment. Besides the direct impacts of climate change on forest ecosystems, climate change also modifies natural disturbance regimes. During the last decades, disturbance activity has significantly increased in many parts of the world, and a further increase as a result of climate change is very likely. Yet there is high uncertainty about the impacts of climate change and disturbance on the conservation of biodiversity and the provisioning of ecosystem services to society.

This thesis aimed to reduce this uncertainty by (i) synthesizing the effects of natural disturbances on biodiversity and ecosystem services in a global literature review, (ii) assessing the long-term development of tree species under varying climate and disturbance regimes by means of process-based landscape modelling, and (iii) investigating the role of climate change and disturbances on a wide range of forest biodiversity indicators in space and time.

I screened in total 1958 peer-reviewed papers for disturbance impact on biodiversity and ecosystem services, and reviewed 478 in detail. Subsequently, I simulated the autonomous adaptation of forests and their associated biodiversity under different climate and disturbance scenarios at Kalkalpen National Park (KANP). To account for the complexity of changes in ecosystems I employed the individual-based forest landscape and disturbance model (iLand).

I found strongly diverging disturbance impacts on forests: while disturbances increased biodiversity, they decreased ecosystem services provisioning. My results indicated that tree vegetation and associated biodiversity take centuries to adapt to changed climatic conditions, but also revealed a catalyzing effect of disturbances accelerating adaptation to a changing environment.

I conclude that disturbances create opportunities for ecosystems to reorganize themselves with potentially positive implications for the biodiversity and resilience of future forest ecosystems. Management should focus on the diversification of forests to provide ecosystems with the flexibility to react on changes of the environment and safeguard biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning in a changing world.

<u>Keywords</u>: autonomous adaptation, biodiversity, climate change, disturbance, ecosystem services, forest ecosystem management, forest ecosystem dynamics, iLand, modelling, succession

Kurzfassung

Waldökosysteme werden von langlebigen Organismen dominiert, die nur bedingt ihren Standort verändern können. Der schnell voranschreitende Klimawandel kann somit zu einer Fehlanpassung von Ökosystemen an ihre Umweltbedingungen führen. Das Klima verändert Ökosysteme jedoch nicht nur direkt, sondern auch über Änderungen im Störungsregime. In den letzten Jahrzehnten wurde bereits ein Anstieg von Störungen in vielen Teilen der Welt beobachtet und eine weitere Zunahme gilt als sehr wahrscheinlich. Bislang herrscht große Unsicherheit über die Wirkung von Klimawandel und Störungen auf Biodiversität und Ökosystemleistungen.

Mit meiner Dissertation habe ich daher (i) die Effekte natürlicher Störungen auf Biodiversität und Ökosystemleistungen mithilfe einer globalen Übersichtsarbeit untersucht, (ii) die langfristige Entwicklung der Baumartenvegetation unter Annahme verschiedener Klima- und Störungsszenarien mit einem prozessbasierten Landschaftsmodel simuliert und (iii) die Rolle von Klimawandel und Störungen auf eine Reihe von unterschiedlichen Biodiversitätsindikatoren räumlich und zeitlich abgeschätzt.

Insgesamt habe ich 1958 wissenschaftliche Artikel auf ihren Inhalt überprüft und 478 für die Analyse von Störungseffekten auf Biodiversität und Ökosystemleistungen einbezogen. Anschließend habe ich die autonome Anpassung von Wäldern und ihrer Biodiversität im Nationalpark Kalkalpen unter verschiedenen Klima- und Störungsszenarien simuliert. Um der Komplexität von Ökosystemen gerecht zu werden, habe ich das individuenbasierte Waldlandschafts- und Störungsmodell (iLand) benutzt.

In meiner Studie konnte ich stark unterschiedliche Störungseffekte identifizieren und zeigen, dass Störungen Biodiversität erhöhen, aber gleichzeitig Ökosystemleistungen reduzieren. Simulationen zeigten einen Anpassungszeitraum der Baumvegetation und assoziierter Biodiversität auf veränderte Klimabedingungen von mehreren Jahrhunderten, aber auch eine Beschleunigung des Anpassungsprozesses durch Störungen.

Meine Schlussfolgerung ist, dass Störungen eine Chance für die Reorganisation von Ökosystemen bedeuten und positive Folgen für die Biodiversität und Resilienz von zukünftigen Waldökosystemen haben können. Managementstrategien sollten sich auf die Förderung von Biodiversität konzentrieren, damit Waldökosysteme den drastischen

VI

Umweltänderungen gewappnet sind und auch in Zukunft Biodiversität erhalten sowie Ökosystemleistungen bereitstellen können.

<u>Stichwörter</u>: autonome Anpassung, Biodiversität, iLand, Klimawandel, Modellierung, Ökosystemleistungen, Störungen, Sukzession, Waldökosystemdynamik, Waldökosystemmanagement

Contents

1	Introduction1		
2	Objectives		
3	Mat	erials and Methods	
	3.1	Workflow	
	3.2	Literature review and meta-analysis	
	3.3	Case study area7	
	3.4	Simulation model7	
	3.5	Initial conditions and drivers	
	3.6	Simulation design	
	3.7	Analysis of autonomous adaptation of tree vegetation10	
	3.8	Analysis of trajectories of biodiversity	
4	4 Results		
	4.1	Disturbance impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services	
	4.2	Forest development at KANP under changing climate and disturbance regimes 13	
	4.3	Spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity change at KANP	
5	Dise	Discussion	
	5.1	Biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning in a changing world16	
	5.2	Management implications17	
	5.3	Implications for future research	
6	5 Conclusions		
7	Ack	Acknowledgements	
8	Ref	References	
9	App	pendix	
	9.1 tempe	Paper I: Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in prate and boreal forests	
	9.2 Paper II: Disturbances catalyze the adaptation of forest ecosystems to changing climate conditions		
	9.3 traject	Paper III: The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatio-temporal tories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape	

1 Introduction

Ongoing climatic changes may constitute the biggest challenge to mankind in the future. In particular, forest ecosystems may be strongly affected by climate change, as they are strongly restricted in their capability to react to rapid environmental changes. Trees are long-lived organisms and unable to change their spatial position. Migration of tree species is restricted to seed dispersal of mature tree individuals. Hence, it is unlikely that tree species can track the expected rapid climatic changes (Corlett and Westcott 2013). As a result forests will be increasingly maladapted to their environments, which may have severe consequences for ecosystem functioning (Maciver and Wheaton, 2005). Mountain forest ecosystems are expected to be particularly vulnerable to climate change as they are characterized by steep environmental gradients and upwards migration is limited by topography (Dirnböck et al., 2011; Engler et al., 2011).

Climate change does not only affect forests directly (i.e., via unmediated impacts of climate variables such as temperature and precipitation), but also indirectly (i.e., via impacts of climate change on mediators that subsequently have an impact on forests). Natural disturbance is likely the most prominent indirect driver of ecosystem change, as disturbance regimes are strongly coupled to the climatic system, abruptly modify the resource availability of forests, and consequently initiate the reorganization of ecosystems (Holling, 2001). Climate change has been identified as key driver of increases in natural disturbances in forest ecosystems worldwide (Dale et al., 2001). Most notably, an intensification of disturbance activity has been suggested for fire in tropical (Hoffmann et al., 2003), subtropical (Pitman et al., 2007), Mediterranean (Moriondo et al., 2006), and boreal (Balshi et al., 2009) ecosystems, as well as for insects, particularly bark beetles, in temperate ecosystems (Seidl et al., 2014).

While climate change is commonly hypothesized to negatively affect biodiversity (Butchart et al., 2010; Sala, 2000), disturbances are expected to have a positive effect on biodiversity (Müller et al., 2008; Roxburgh et al., 2004). A general proposition is thus to emulate the natural disturbance regime in forest management to sustain adequate levels of biodiversity in production forests (O'Hara and Ramage, 2013). However, future disturbance activity might be outside of the range of natural variability (Millar and Stephenson, 2015), and ultimately

have negative consequences for biodiversity. In this regard it is important to note that changes in the various dimensions of a disturbance regime (i.e., disturbance frequency, return interval, rotation period, size, intensity, severity, and residuals (Turner, 2010)) may have divergent impacts on biodiversity. For instance, frequent small-scale (e.g., gap or patch size) disturbance events continuously provide small amounts of deadwood and lead to a heterogeneous horizontal and vertical forest structure, ultimately resulting in highly diverse forest ecosystems (Franklin and van Pelt, 2004). Large infrequent disturbance events, on the other hand, provide large amounts of deadwood within a short period of time, which is essential for the survival of very specialized species such as saproxylic beetles (Müller et al., 2008). However, large disturbance events potentially lead to more homogenous ecosystems compared to frequently disturbed systems in the long-run (Kuuluvainen, 2009). How divergent disturbance regimes contribute to biodiversity over varying temporal and spatial scales remains largely unclear to date.

In contrast to disturbance impacts on biodiversity, disturbance-induced alterations of ecosystem services are generally regarded as negative by forest managers. Disturbances *inter alia* reduce the size of merchantable timber stocks (Hanewinkel et al., 2011) and release carbon from ecosystems (Weng et al., 2012). Therefore, foresters generally aim to minimize disturbance. They, for instance, reduce the susceptibility of forests to wind disturbance by shortening rotation periods (Zell and Hanewinkel, 2015), or perform salvage logging and sanitation fellings to prevent bark beetle outbreaks after windthrow (Wermelinger, 2004). In ecosystems where fire is the dominant disturbance agent, and specifically in low severity fire regimes, it is common practice to reduce the amount of fuel by means of prescribed burning to prevent crown fires of larger trees (Ryu et al., 2006).

Yet, forest ecosystem managers are facing large uncertainties with regard to the spatiotemporal trajectories of forest ecosystems under changing climate and disturbance regimes, and their impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services. Moreover, if forests are managed to fulfil a multitude of functions and services simultaneously (for instance, in most parts of Central Europe,), drivers of ecosystem change may simultaneously have positive and negative impacts on these goals (see e.g., Huston & Marland, 2003). As a result of these uncertainties and ambiguities, there is hesitation in implementing adaptation measures to climate change. Detailed scientific analyses are required to reduce this uncertainty, and to provide recommendations on how to make forests more resilient to possible future changes (Seidl et al., 2016).

Broad-scale investigations of tree species change and associated changes in biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning have been conducted using species-distribution models (Hanewinkel et al., 2012; Thomas et al., 2004). These models describe the fundamental niche of species, however, they do not account for demographic processes (e.g., regeneration, competition, and disturbances) influencing the realized niche of species. Studying the spatiotemporal responses of tree species to climate change and changing disturbance regimes is the domain of process-based simulation models, which account for both environmental drivers and demographic processes. Another advantage of these models is their potential to explicitly address forest management under varying environmental and socio-economical conditions (Rammer and Seidl, 2015). Hence, dynamic process-based models are needed to investigate biodiversity and the provisioning of ecosystem services in a changing world.

2 Objectives

The overall aim of this thesis was to investigate potential impacts of natural disturbances and climate change on the conservation of biodiversity and the provisioning of ecosystem services, i.e. the primary goals of forest ecosystem management. In particular my objectives were to (i) synthesize the global understanding on disturbance impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services, (ii) assess the response of tree species composition and associations to climate change and disturbances, and (iii) investigate the role of climate change and disturbance on a wide range of forest biodiversity indicators in space and time.

Disturbances *inter alia* generate deadwood, an important component of biodiversity as many species are dependent on deadwood as habitat (Thorn et al., 2016), promote species-rich early-successional ecosystems (Swanson et al., 2011), and provide a suitable micro-climate for a range of species (Fischer et al., 2013). The emulation of natural disturbance regimes is thus commonly promoted to foster biodiversity in managed forests (Franklin et al., 2002; Kuuluvainen and Grenfell, 2012). For these reasons, I hypothesized positive disturbance impacts on biodiversity. In contrast, disturbances reduce the amount of merchantable timber (Seidl et al., 2008), and carbon stored in forest ecosystems (Law et al., 2001), they affect net primary productivity (Hicke et al., 2003), and can even lower the aesthetic value of forests for recreationists (Hunt and Haider, 2004). Thus I assumed a negative impact of disturbances on all functional groups of ecosystem services (i.e., provisioning, regulating, supporting, and cultural services). As trees are long-living organisms and are limited to seed dispersal in their ability to migrate, I expected considerable time lags in the autonomous adaptation of forests to climate change. However, I also hypothesized that intensifying disturbance activity catalyzes the adaptation of forest ecosystems through an increased portion of forests being in the phase of reorganization (see also Holling, 2001). Finally I assumed negative consequences of climate change for biodiversity, but at the same time a mitigation of climate change impacts on biodiversity through increasing disturbance activity. The time lags in the final response of forest-dwelling species were hypothesized to coincide with the response of tree species to climate change, as forest-dwelling species are often associated to specific tree species (Kirk and Hobson, 2001; Tikkanen et al., 2006).

3 Materials and Methods

3.1 Workflow

In order to provide an overview of the methods used in this thesis, I summarize the main steps to address my questions and hypotheses in Figure 1. All papers (Appendix 9.1 - 9.3) are thematically connected, i.e., Paper I provided an overview of disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity, Paper II simulated climate and disturbance impacts on the forest development in a mountainous landscape, and Paper III used the same simulation approach to quantify climate and disturbance impacts on spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity in detail. While the methods applied in Paper I were decoupled from the other papers, Papers II and III utilized a similar methodological approach.



Figure 1: Short summary of the methods used to derive the papers of this thesis (see Appendix 9.1 - 9.3).

3.2 Literature review and meta-analysis

I performed a literature search using the Scopus database (https://www.scopus.com) to identify peer-reviewed studies on the impacts of fire, wind, and bark beetles on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal biomes (see also Appendix 9.1). I initially screened a total number of 1958 papers. Of those I selected 478 studies for further analysis. I allowed multiple entries per study into my analysis table if, for instance, a study reported on several disturbance agents, ecosystem services, and biodiversity indicators. Furthermore, I recorded the time since disturbance (in order to address changing disturbance effects over time) as well as disturbance severity (as, for instance, stand-replacing disturbances may alter ecosystems more strongly than low-severity disturbances). The final database derived from the literature contained 887 entries of disturbance effects on ecosystem services (n=348) and biodiversity (n=539).

From this body of literature, I first derived the overall impact of disturbances on ecosystem services and biodiversity by categorizing disturbance impacts into positive, negative, neutral and mixed effects. To test the hypothesis of diverging disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity I compared disturbance effects by means of independence tests. As this test is useful to analyze the significance of differences between two samples, but does not provide insights into the size of the difference, I took a subset of entries and conducted a quantitative meta-analysis. Specifically, I investigated variables related to either biodiversity, i.e., species richness (S') and Shannon-Index (H') or carbon storage, i.e., total ecosystem carbon (TEC), aboveground living carbon (ALC), dead aboveground carbon (DAC) and soil organic carbon (SOC), and derived the relative change of a variable after disturbance to an undisturbed control. For this quantitative subset of the data, I analyzed the disturbance effect size by means of multiple linear regression using time since disturbance and 1-disturbance severity (i.e. with the intercept a standardized disturbance effect for a severity of 100%) as covariates. Moreover, I used independence tests to analyze the effect of salvage logging and prescribed burning on biodiversity and ecosystem services in order to assess how these two widely-used approaches in disturbance management alter disturbance impacts.

3.3 Case study area

The review of Paper I (Appendix 9.1) provides an overview of disturbance impacts on a broad range of ecosystem services and biodiversity indicators, but the global scale of the analysis distorts disturbance impacts on local to regional scale which is the spatial extent of forest management planning. Furthermore, owing to its broad scope the review was neither able to analyze biodiversity at the level of relevant species groups for nature conservation (e.g., taxonomic groups and red-list species), nor did it provide projections of disturbance impacts under changing environmental conditions. Therefore, I performed an in-depth analysis of the trajectories of forest development and associated biodiversity indicators at Kalkalpen National Park (KANP), the largest contiguous protected forest area in Austria (Fig. 1 in Appendix 9.2).

The national park is located at the northern front range of the Alps and has a total area of 20,850 ha. The complex terrain encompasses altitudes from 385 to 1963 m a.s.l., therefore temperature and precipitation vary considerably within the landscape (the mean annual temperature ranges from $3.6 - 9.0^{\circ}$ C and the annual precipitation sum from 1205 - 1741mm). The dominant soil types are shallow Lithic and Rendzic Leptosols as well as Chromic Cambisols over calcareous bedrock. Since 1997 KANP is accredited by the IUCN under category II (National Park), and management has been ceased completely in the core zone of the park. Some of the most important forest types of Central Europe can be found at KANP, including European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* [L.]) dominated forests at low altitudes, mixed forests of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* [K.]), silver fir (*Abies alba* [Mill.]) and European beech in mid-elevations, and subalpine spruce forests in the highest reaches of the landscape.

3.4 Simulation model

I employed iLand (the individual-based forest landscape and disturbance model) to simulate forest development at KANP. iLand was developed to simulate forest landscapes at high resolution (Seidl et al., 2012a; 2012b), and accounts for the dynamic feedbacks between tree vegetation, climate (change), and disturbance regimes. To this end, the model incorporates processes in a hierarchical multiscale approach, i.e., iLand considers processes at the single

tree level (e.g., resource competition, growth, mortality), stand level (e.g., light, water, and nitrogen availability), and landscape level (e.g., seed dispersal and disturbances). I parameterized in total 29 Central European tree species for simulation with iLand. I tested and evaluated the tree species parameters against independent inventory data on 34 forest stands distributed over Austria, two landscapes in the Austrian Alps, and one landscape in the Swiss Alps. The parameter tests included analyses of the growth performance of tree species, their mortality rates, as well as their dominance under varying environmental conditions (see also Supporting Information in Appendix 9.2 for the parameter tests at KANP). A more detailed description of iLand can be found in Appendices 9.2 and 9.3 of this thesis, in Seidl et al. (2012a) and Seidl et al. (2012b), as well as on the iLand homepage (http://iLand.boku.ac.at).

3.5 Initial conditions and drivers

Simulations with iLand require inputs of climate, soil, and current tree vegetation (i.e., initial conditions). Climate and soil conditions were considered at a spatial grid of 100×100 m (1 ha) in iLand, covering a total of 19,200 ha at KANP. Initial tree vegetation (i.e., the vegetation condition at the start of the simulation) on a net stockable forest area 13,865 ha was implemented at 10×10 m cells.

The simulation of future trajectories of forest development at KANP considered four different climate scenarios. For the baseline climate I randomly sampled years within the period 1950 - 2010. In addition, three different combinations of global and regional circulation models under A1B forcing (Jacob, 2001; Pal et al., 2007; Radu et al., 2008) were derived to simulate transiently changing climatic conditions until the end of the 21^{st} century. Beyond the year 2099, a stabilization of the climate at the level of the last 20 years of the 21^{st} century was assumed. Relative to baseline climate conditions, this period represented a temperature change between +3.1°C and +3.3°C, and a precipitation change between -89 mm and +141 mm.

I characterized soil conditions at KANP using inventory data on soil depth, type, texture, and plant available nitrogen. Soil depth and type (Kobler, 2004) as well as soil texture were derived from a regular 300×300 m inventory grid over KANP (n=622). Plant available

nitrogen was derived by means of stratified sampling over ecoregion, elevation, soil depth, aspect, and slope, using a dataset developed for the grid of the Austrian National Forest Inventory (n=557) (Seidl et al., 2009).

A number of different data source were synthesized to initialize the current tree vegetation of KANP at the level of stand polygons (10×10 m resolution), and to estimate the stockable area within each stand polygon. These sources included terrestrial inventory plots (n=1122) as well as forest planning data, aerial photography analysis, and airborne LiDAR products (Light Detection And Ranging) of the landscape. Based on these data I derived tree species composition, diameter at breast height (dbh), tree age and height as well as the position of trees within the landscape. In total, I initialized more than 2 10^6 trees from 17 different species. As these empirically derived data sources roughly characterize the state of tree vegetation at KANP in the year 1999, and as the KANP has been affected by severe disturbance events since then, I simulated the forest landscape from 1999 until 2013 incorporating the spatial explicit disturbance records of KANP (see also Seidl and Rammer, 2016). Ultimately, 2013 was the initial year for all scenario analyses. More information on initial conditions of the landscape and drivers of forest dynamics can be found in Appendix 9.2 and 9.3.

3.6 Simulation design

Starting from the current state of vegetation, I simulated forest development over 1000 years under the four climate scenarios described in the previous section (see also Appendix 9.2 and 9.3). Additionally, I simulated different generic disturbance scenarios in which disturbance frequency, severity, and size were altered independent of each other for each climate scenario. Parameters of disturbance frequency, severity, and size were altered independent of each other for each climate scenario disturbance regime in the low-intensity variant, while the high-intensity variant assumed an intensification of disturbance activity in line with future projections of disturbance changes (Seidl et al., 2014). In total, I simulated 36 unique combinations of climate and disturbance scenarios \times two disturbance frequencies \times two disturbance sizes to investigate the development of tree vegetation and biodiversity under changing climate and disturbance regimes. To account for stochasticity of the simulation,

each scenario combination was simulated 10 times (i.e., in total 360 runs were performed). The analyses of Paper II and III (Appendices 9.2 and 9.3) were based on the same set of simulation runs.

3.7 Analysis of autonomous adaptation of tree vegetation

First, I investigated the autonomous adaptation of tree vegetation at KANP, and the role of disturbance therein by analyzing the time required until the vegetation composition was in dynamic equilibrium with climate conditions. Second, I analyzed species change by calculating the spatial pattern of tree species turnover on the landscape (see also Appendix 9.2). I considered the vegetation as being in equilibrium with climate when the temporal variation in basal area of each individual tree species on the landscape was within $\pm 2 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ of their respective simulation endpoint (defined as the average basal area per tree species in the last 200 years of the simulation). Moreover, I estimated migration speed over elevation based on the mean annual change rates of a species' leading edge, defined as the 90th percentile of the elevation distribution of a species on the landscape. Spearman's rank correlation was used to test whether species changed individually or in associations. To test for disturbance effects on forest adaptation, I unraveled the differential effects of disturbance extent (i.e., percent of the landscape area disturbed) and disturbance impact (i.e., percent of basal area disturbed) on the time until a dynamic equilibrium of the species composition emerged on the landscape. Finally, I quantified the species turnover triggered by climate change at the level of 100 m grid cells.

3.8 Analysis of trajectories of biodiversity

I performed an in-depth analysis on the trajectories of biodiversity change resulting from the simulated climate change and disturbance scenarios at KANP (see also Appendix 9.3). To that end I selected eleven indicators of biodiversity and analyzed their individual responses to the investigated scenarios in time and space. The effective number of tree species (the exponent of the Shannon index), and the structural heterogeneity of the tree canopy were directly

derived from iLand simulation outputs. Diversity of ground vegetation was determined using selected releves of the AlpFlor database (n=852) (Dullinger et al., 2012). Eight indicators of animal diversity were deduced from 52 inventory plots distributed over neighboring Bavaria. For each of the nine indicators that were not directly derived from iLand simulation outputs, I developed negative binomial generalized linear models (glms) with a logarithmic link function where the response variable (number of species) was related to mean annual precipitation sum (Psum) and mean annual temperature (Tmean) (indicators of the climate regime), canopy cover (an indicator for light availability and the local thermal regime), as well as to the identity and relative share of individual canopy tree species (indicators of species association). These empirically derived models were then used to predict the species number for each group using climate data and iLand simulation outputs as covariates. For the analyses of climate change effects over time I aggregated all 100-m grid cells to landscapelevel mean responses and compared each simulation under climate change with the mean over the baseline period under the same disturbance scenario. Likewise, the disturbance effect was calculated by relating scenarios of different disturbance frequencies, severities and sizes to the respective undisturbed scenario for any given climate regime. Spatial changes in biodiversity were addressed by an analysis of biodiversity hotspots. As the loss of functionally unique species is more important for ecosystem functionality than the number of species (O'Gorman et al., 2011), I defined a biodiversity hotspot as area where every indicator exceeded its 25th percentile value.

4 Results

4.1 Disturbance impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services

I found strong support for diverging disturbance effects on biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning, which was independent of time since disturbance (Fig. 2 in Appendix 9.1). While biodiversity was positively related to disturbance (p<0.001), the ecosystem services provisioning in all categories (i.e., supporting, provisioning, regulating and cultural services) decreased markedly with disturbance (p<0.001). Albedo, a service important for the regulation of the climate through the reflection of radiation, was the only ecosystem service showing a positive disturbance response (Fig. 3 in Appendix 9.1). A large majority of studies reported timber, primary production, fresh water provisioning, protection against natural hazards, and carbon storage as being negatively affected by disturbance. All indicators of biodiversity (diversity indices, species richness, and habitat quality) were overall positively affected by disturbance. However, a number of studies also reported negative impacts of disturbance on these variables, indicating a higher uncertainty in the generalization of disturbance effects on biodiversity compared to ecosystem services.

The mean standardized effect of a stand-replacing disturbance revealed significant impacts on all carbon compartments (Fig. 4 in Appendix 9.1). In particular ALC (-91.3 \pm 9.1%) and DAC (+155.5 \pm 71.5%) were strongly affected by disturbance. For all investigated compartments time since disturbance significantly explained disturbance effects on carbon storage (Table 3 in Appendix 9.1). With every passing year after a stand-replacing disturbance event the disturbance impact on ALC and DAC decreased by +0.6% and -1.4%, respectively. In contrast, the assessed biodiversity indicators (*S'* and *H'*) did not change significantly with time since disturbance. The analysis of the mean standardized disturbance effect provided insights into the diverging disturbance effects on biodiversity and carbon storage: While a disturbance event with 100% severity had a positive impact on species richness (+35.6 \pm 32.3%), it had a comparable negative impact on total ecosystem carbon (-38.5 \pm 8.3%). The analysis on the effects of disturbance management on ecosystems services and biodiversity revealed only one significant effect, and that was an increased negative consequence of prescribed burning on ecosystem services compared to wildfire (p<0.001). However, this

result should be interpreted with caution as it is based on only 13 observations for the effects of prescribed burning.

4.2 Forest development at KANP under changing climate and disturbance regimes

The analysis on future forest development at KANP revealed that if the effect of disturbances was neglected the tree vegetation took 558 years to reach a dynamic equilibrium even under baseline climate, as a result of past management legacies (Fig. 2 and Table 3 in Appendix 9.2). Climate change prolonged the time to reach a dynamic equilibrium by 148 years. In contrast, disturbances reduced the time to reach a dynamic equilibrium on average over all scenarios by 119 years under baseline climate conditions (-21.3%), and by 72 years under changed climatic conditions (-10.2%).

European beech benefited most from climate change compared to baseline climate conditions at the end of the simulation period, as indicated by an absolute increase of +28.5 and +32.2percentage points in simulations with and without disturbances, respectively (p < 0.001). Also oak species (Quercus petraea [Matt.] and Quercus robur [L.]) increased notably by +20.0 and +22.9 percentage points (p < 0.001). On the contrary, Norway spruce and silver fir which are main tree species under baseline climate declined substantially in a changing climate (-19.4 and -16.7 percentage points and -13.5 and -8.1 percentage points, respectively, p < 0.001). Disturbance effects on late serial species were all negative while disturbance strongly favored early seral species, most notably silver birch (Betula pendula [Roth]), European larch (Larix decidua [Mill.]), and aspen (Populus tremula [L.]). A subsequent analysis at the level of the individual dimensions of the simulated disturbance regime revealed a synergistic effect between disturbed basal area and disturbed landscape extent on the adaptation speed of the landscape, i.e., if the disturbance impact on basal area was low, the extent of disturbance had only a weak influence on the adaptation speed (Fig. 3 in Appendix 9.2). While an increasing share of area disturbed at KANP was beneficial for the adaptation of the tree vegetation, an increase in the mean size of disturbance events had the opposite effect, i.e., the scenarios with increased disturbance size needed on average 24.8 years longer to reach dynamic equilibrium compared to scenarios assuming historical disturbance sizes. In contrast, an increase in disturbance frequency and severity accelerated forest adaptation (-64.3 and -54.5 years, respectively).

The adaptation of forests to changing climatic conditions at KANP also involved an upwards shift in elevation of several hundreds of meters for many tree species. The maximum average change rate was +0.37 m asl yr⁻¹ (silver fir). Another concomitant effect of forest adaptation to a changing climate was a change in species associations. For instance, European beech and oak species were clearly positively related under baseline climate conditions, but moderately negatively associated under climate change. Altered species ranges and associations also resulted in the emergence of local novelty in tree species composition. For instance, a comparison between baseline climate under the historic disturbance regime with climate change under the most extreme disturbance regime revealed a species turnover (i.e., a change in locally present tree species) of 51.8%, with most pronounced changes being simulated at the lowest and highest elevations of the national park (Fig. 5 in Appendix 9.2).

4.3 Spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity change at KANP

The empirically derived models of diversity revealed various direct and indirect responses of species groups to climate change. At the end of the 1000-year simulation period, six indicators showed positive direct responses, while five indicators were negatively affected by climate change. Direct climate change impacts were overall beneficial for the diversity of ground vegetation, Hemiptera, Hymenoptera, Mollusca, Symphyta and Syrphidae, but reduced the diversity of Araneae, Carabidae and saproxylic beetles as well as the canopy complexity of forests (Fig. 2 and Table 3 in Appendix 9.3).

While climate change impacts on the studied diversity indicators were strong but ambiguous, disturbance effects were generally positive, but less distinctive (Fig. 3 and Table 3 in Appendix 9.3). The slow response of indicators after an initial, direct response to climate change highlights their tracking of the delayed tree vegetation adaptation. Consistent with the results on the divergent effects of disturbance regime dimensions on the adaptation of tree

vegetation, I found that an increase in disturbance frequency and severity are beneficial for biodiversity, while an increase in mean disturbance size decreases biodiversity.

The analysis of biodiversity hotspots underlined the effects of a changing environment on biodiversity. After 1000 simulated years the hotspot area decreased significantly under climate change compared to baseline climate simulations (p<0.001), and shifted from low-moderate elevations to higher elevation zones (Fig. 4 in Appendix 9.3). In contrast, disturbances increased the extent of hotspots (p<0.001), for instance, by 146.1% under baseline climate.

5 Discussion

5.1 Biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning in a changing world

Here I presented the impacts of disturbances on biodiversity and ecosystem services assessed by a large body of peer-reviewed scientific articles. I showed that, on the one hand, disturbances have a strong negative impact on ecosystem services while, on the other hand, they have a distinct positive impact on biodiversity, confirming the hypothesis of diverging disturbance impacts on management goals (Fig. 2, 3, and 4 in Appendix 9.1). An in-depth analysis of disturbance impacts on biodiversity at KANP supported the results obtained from the global review of the literature (Fig. 3 in Appendix 9.3). The simulations were also in line with the expectation of disturbance being a facilitator of long-lasting forest (Fig. 2 in Appendix 9.2) and associated biodiversity (Fig. 2 in Appendix 9.3) adaptation under changed environmental conditions (Fig. 3 in Appendix 9.3). However, the direct effects of climate change on biodiversity at KANP were rather ambiguous compared to the findings of disturbance effects (cf. Fig. 2 in Appendix 9.3 with Fig. 2 in Appendix 9.1).

Broad-scale investigations have suggested a strong climate change-induced decline of biodiversity (Sala, 2000; Thuiller et al., 2005) and ecosystem services (Hanewinkel et al., 2012; Schröter et al., 2005) in many parts of the world during the 21st century. In contrast to the assessment of the spatio-temporal dynamics of forest biodiversity at fine spatial grain such as presented in Appendix 9.3, those studies have largely focused on direct impacts of climate change on biodiversity and ecosystem service provisioning (e.g., temperature and precipitation), largely disregarding indirect impacts (e.g., modification of habitat of forestdwelling species from increasing disturbance activity). However, as demonstrated here, indirect effects can be crucial determinants for the magnitude of change in biodiversity under climate change, and this indirect effect is likely similar for ecosystem service supply as indicated by the pronounced disturbance effects on ecosystem services in Paper I. For instance, intensifying disturbance activity (Seidl et al., 2014) may amplify positive disturbance impacts on biodiversity, and this may in turn mitigate negative impacts of climate change on biodiversity. My thesis finds support for such a compensatory effect of disturbances, as increasing disturbance levels partly offset negative impacts of climate change on some of the investigated indicators. However, climate change also potentially promotes the occurrence of "mega-disturbance" events in the future (Millar and Stephenson, 2015). This increase in disturbance activity may push systems across a tipping point beyond which disturbances neither foster the adaptation of forest ecosystems to changing environments (as ecosystems become unstable), nor support biodiversity (due to a homogenization of ecosystems). Disturbance regimes that are currently characterized by small but frequent disturbance events may change to disturbance regimes that are dominated by large scale disturbance events, which could ultimately also lead to a lower disturbance frequency (as ecosystems need a long time to recover from mega-disturbances). Consequently these new regimes could endanger both the sustainable provisioning of ecosystem services and biodiversity, and thus challenge forest ecosystem management. Future investigations are needed to identify such tipping points in forest ecosystems.

5.2 Management implications

Driven by the simplicity of even-aged forest management and the goal to achieve the highest possible revenues from timber production, forest management activities have strongly altered ecosystems and created widespread plantations of monocultures in many parts of the world with negative consequences for biodiversity and several ecosystem functions and services (Felton et al., 2016). Recent investigations have shown that – against initial intentions – such monocultures often do not produce larger amounts of timber compared to mixed forests (Pretzsch et al., 2010), and that the expected revenues from such management systems are strongly dependent on economic assumptions (Hanewinkel et al., 2014; Pukkala, 2016). Furthermore, simplified calculations on timber and economic outputs of forests usually disregard the potentially strong effects of natural disturbances (Knoke et al., 2008). Previous assessments of disturbance drivers provided evidence that monocultures are highly susceptible to disturbance (Thom et al., 2013), and it is likely that the dimension of disturbance events is already beyond the natural range of variability in some regions as a result of altered forest structure and composition. Examples for regions where forest management has strongly increased the intensity of disturbance regimes can be found in different parts of the world, for instance in Central Europe (Seidl et al., 2011) or North America (Westerling, 2006). Increases in disturbance activity will likely counteract this trend as disturbance will foster biodiversity in forests (Fig. 2, 3 and 4 in Appendix 9.1 and Fig. 3 in Appendix 9.3) which may support their resilience towards environmental changes. Therefore, forest managers should not regard disturbance impacts as entirely negative, but they should take disturbances as opportunity to adapt forests to changing environments (Appendix 9.2, Fig. 2). However, if the size of disturbance events becomes much larger in comparison to the historic disturbance regime, the benefits for biodiversity will be reduced or even reversed. Such an effect is suggested by the intermediate disturbance hypothesis (due to niche partitioning of species within the segments of canopy gap (Roxburgh et al., 2004)), and was supported by the results of this study (Appendix 9.3, Fig. 3). Where disturbance size potentially leads to a homogenization of ecosystems, forest management should consider to actively plant different tree species to foster resilience.

My global review on common disturbance management methods indicates that salvage logging and prescribed burning have only a limited potential to facilitate management objectives (Appendix 9.1). The only statistically significant impact of these management measures was a positive effect of prescribed burning on biodiversity, while at the same time ecosystem services were negatively affected. Over all analyzed papers in the global review the analysis of salvage logging did not substantiate a strong advantage of this management practice for the analyzed indicators, i.e., it neither had a significant positive effect on ecosystem services provisioning nor on biodiversity. In the context of future megadisturbances alternative (long-term) management strategies are thus required. Concepts that aim to emulate the natural historic disturbance regime are often promoted as a solution to deal with future uncertainties (Drever et al., 2006; Kuuluvainen and Grenfell, 2012). However, natural forest ecosystem dynamics and disturbance regimes may differ considerably in the future (see also O'Hara 2016). Hence I suggest that adaptive forest management goes beyond concepts that aim to mimic the past. Moving from highly susceptible monocultures towards forest ecosystems of high biodiversity and including tree species that can be expected to tolerate projected climate conditions is required to limit impacts of potential changes in climate and disturbance regimes. My thesis indicated an increasing maladaptation of forest ecosystems under climate change (Appendix 9.2, Fig. 2). As the response of tree species to changing environments lags considerably behind climatic changes, ecosystem management must take long lead times into account in adapting forests to changing environmental conditions, and hence to promote ecosystem services provisioning and biodiversity in the future.

5.3 Implications for future research

In addition to the effects of increasing disturbance regimes studied here also other possible secondary effects of climate change need further attention to comprehensively estimate climate change impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem services (Fig. 2). For example, it is widely recognized that biodiversity promotes ecosystem service supply (Isbell et al., 2011; Pasari et al., 2013), i.e., if biodiversity is increased as a result of higher disturbance activity under climate change this increase likely mitigates some of the negative effects of elevated disturbance levels and climate change on ecosystem service provisioning. Furthermore, it is likely that changes in disturbance regimes will be buffered by negative feedbacks, i.e., an increase in disturbance activity in the near future could lead to a reduction of disturbances in the long-run (negative interaction effect). This dampening feedback can be driven by tree species change towards species with lower susceptibility to the emerging disturbance regime (e.g., in most parts of KANP Norway spruce, a species highly susceptible to wind and bark beetle disturbance, was replaced by the more disturbance resistant European beech in the simulations with changed climatic forcing). Future studies should thus further investigate the complexity of climate change impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem service provisioning by addressing not only direct impacts of climate change, but also indirect and interaction effects.



Figure 2: Expected long-term impacts of climate change on disturbances, biodiversity and ecosystem services. The figure illustrates direct (arrows from climate change to ecosystem services, biodiversity, and disturbances), indirect (arrow from disturbances to biodiversity and ecosystem services as well as arrow from biodiversity to ecosystem services), and interaction

(arrow from disturbance back to disturbance) effects driven by climate change. Solid arrows indicate effects investigated in this study while lined arrows show effects based on other studies. Green: positive impact, red: negative impact. Asterisks and numbers provide examples for studies which support the hypothesized effects.

To understand the response of ecosystems, and their associated biodiversity and ecosystem services, it is also important to investigate impacts of environmental change over different temporal (Fig. 2 in Appendix 9.2 and 9.3) and spatial scales (Fig. 4 in Appendix 9.3). For instance, the assumption that highly diverse ecosystems also provide a broader range of ecosystem services (Isbell et al., 2011; Silva Pedro et al., 2016) introduces a paradox, if disturbances have positive impacts on biodiversity and at the same time negative impacts on ecosystem services as presented in my thesis (Appendix 9.1, Fig. 2, 3, and 4). This raises the question whether ecosystem service provisioning is lower in frequently disturbed but diverse forest ecosystems compared to infrequently disturbed but less diverse ecosystems. Even though I found evidence for a reduction of ecosystem services provisioning after disturbance, it is possible that frequently disturbed forests are highly diverse and provide high amounts of ecosystem services simultaneously without violating the general findings of this study, if disturbance responses are considered in the long run and for multiple disturbance events (Fig. 3). This should be tested in future investigations by comparing the temporal variation and average levels of ecosystem service supply and biodiversity of frequently disturbed ecosystems with ecosystems that are characterized by low disturbance frequency over a long time period. In this context, important ecosystem processes for such an investigation such as tree species migration require simulations of larger spatial entities, while processes such as tree growth require a much finer spatial resolution (e.g., individual trees), hence study designs are needed that include hierarchical process structures. Moreover, resistance and resilience are likely higher in heterogeneous ecosystems with high biodiversity than in homogeneous ecosystems with low biodiversity (see e.g., Silva Pedro et al., 2015). Hence it can be expected that disturbance severity and size are lower for disturbance events in highly diverse ecosystems, and that those ecosystems have an accelerated rate of recovery to the level of ecosystem service provisioning prior to disturbance (see also Turner et al., 2013). To better understand the complexity of dynamic ecosystem responses to climate change, also these interrelations need further attention in future investigations.



Figure 3: Hypothesized relation between disturbance regimes, ecosystem services and biodiversity over time. Green lines represent an ecosystem with high disturbance frequency, while red lines indicate an ecosystem with low disturbance frequency. Broken lines indicate the average of biodiversity and ecosystem service supply over time. The green scenario demonstrates that frequently disturbed ecosystems can promote higher biodiversity and at the same time provide increased amounts of ecosystem services in comparison to the red scenario with lower disturbance frequency. The figure demonstrates that the findings of this thesis regarding diverging disturbance impacts on forest management goals are not in contradiction with the general opinion that ecosystems with high biodiversity also provide high amounts of ecosystem services.

6 Conclusions

My thesis demonstrated the diverging effects of disturbances on ecosystem services and biodiversity (Appendix 9.1, Fig. 2, 3, and 4). Moreover, I found an increasing maladaptation of forest ecosystems under climate change, but also that disturbances create opportunities for ecosystems to reorganize themselves (Appendix 9.2, Fig. 2). As a result it is likely that the resilience of disturbed ecosystems will be higher in the future, and that their maladaptation towards novel climatic condition will be decreased compared to undisturbed forest ecosystems. Depending on management goals the positive response of biodiversity after disturbance (Appendix 9.3, Fig. 3) may even serve to better fulfil objectives of forest ecosystem managers (e.g., in national parks or where forests are managed for multiple purposes). I thus propose that disturbances should not a priori be regarded as negative in forest ecosystem management, but instead as an integrated and important part of ecosystem dynamics. However, forest managers must be aware that with climate change disturbance activity can exceed a tipping point, beyond which disturbance threatens biodiversity and the sustainable supply of ecosystem services. As indicated by my work (Appendix 9.2, Fig. 2), adaptation of forest ecosystems has to take long lead-times into consideration. Yet, there is considerable uncertainty how different ecosystems will respond to climate change and disturbance regimes that transgress the historical range of variability as historical reference conditions are of limited value to predict a changing world. Future studies should investigate the complexity of forest ecosystem responses in paired long-term studies, i.e., they should simultaneously compare ecosystem service supply and biodiversity in ecosystems with varying climate and disturbance regimes while covering a large spectrum of possible environmental changes. To deal with the uncertainty of future environments, I propose a diversification of management regimes away from simplified forest plantations such as monocultures towards mixed forests. Only a management that diversifies forests will provide ecosystems with the flexibility to react on drastic changes of the environment and safeguard biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning in a changing world.

7 Acknowledgements

First of all, I like to thank my parents who supported me all along the way of my education to my phD. Both provided me with more support than I needed and with the freedom to selfdetermine my life. I hope they are satisfied with my efforts to make the best out of it.

I own my research team that advised me during my phD studies a vast debt of gratitude. I think I had the best team for conducting a phD in forest disturbance ecology and management. I am very proud about what we reached together, and the good atmosphere we had among us. In particular, I acknowledge the spirit of my supervisor Rupert Seidl. He always knew an answer how to deal with the most delicate research questions. He shared not only his tremendous knowledge with me, but also his enthusiasm to perform high quality research. Besides the work on our common project (DICE), he also supported me when I was working on my own side-projects, and he introduced me to our paper club "Neigungsgruppe" where I *inter alia* learned how to review papers. Another outstanding person at my side was Werner Rammer who guided me on his ship from one iLand to the next, and here I do not solely mean to the next version of our forest landscape and simulation model. He is not just the best forest landscape programmer, but has also extraordinarily high social competences. He has always been a patient guide through technical problems of all kinds, and it has always been fun to work with him.

I also like to thank the head of our institute, Hubert Hasenauer. I always appreciated it when he came to my office or I met him in the corridors and he told me his stories about what is happening inside and outside our institute in an amusing way. From him I also got some insights in the management of an institute, and how the socio-political structure of an institute works.

Although time was usually very limited, I found some time to spend with my colleagues outside the university. First and foremost I like to thank Mariana da Silva Pedro and Florian Irauschek with which I not solely used to go out for après-work beer on Fridays after we worked until we were the last residuals of the institute (the Friday disturbance usually leads to a rapid decrease in employees over time), but we also spend some time for other activities, for instance, Flo and me went for a "hiking" tour through the vineyards of Klosterneuburg. Another important mate for mine was Captain Mathias Neumann with whom I was on a

sailing trip in Croatia. We had a great time together and I am looking forward to spend more holidays with him together in the future. I would also like to thank my office flatmate Katharina Albrich for the good company during the last months. I appreciated to share a similar kind of black humor and perceptions about the world with her. Other colleagues whose company I want to acknowledge here include Debojyoti Chakraborty (Dev Chewbacca), Adam Moreno, Elisabeth Pötzelsberger, Christopher Thurnher, Tamara Eckhart, Ivana Zivojinovic and Philipp Toscani.

Outside of BOKU I like to mention my former Professor of Applied Silviculture, Peter Spathelf (HNE Eberswalde). I am grateful for his interest in my professional carrer and his advises after I finished the Bachelor course "IFEM" in Eberswalde. Lastly, I want to thank William Keeton (University of Vermont) for the very interesting pubs talks we had. I found our conversations always very inspiring, and I am looking forward to an intensification of our cooperation in the future.

8 References

- Balshi, M.S., McGuire, A.D., Duffy, P., Flannigan, M., Walsh, J., Melillo, J., 2009. Assessing the response of area burned to changing climate in western boreal North America using a Multivariate Adaptive Regression Splines (MARS) approach. Glob. Chang. Biol. 15, 578–600.
- Butchart, S.H.M., Walpole, M., Collen, B., van Strien, A., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Almond, R.E. a, Baillie, J.E.M., Bomhard, B., Brown, C., Bruno, J., Carpenter, K.E., Carr, G.M., Chanson, J., Chenery, A.M., Csirke, J., Davidson, N.C., Dentener, F., Foster, M., Galli, A., Galloway, J.N., Genovesi, P., Gregory, R.D., Hockings, M., Kapos, V., Lamarque, J.-F., Leverington, F., Loh, J., McGeoch, M. a, McRae, L., Minasyan, A., Morcillo, M.H., Oldfield, T.E.E., Pauly, D., Quader, S., Revenga, C., Sauer, J.R., Skolnik, B., Spear, D., Stanwell-Smith, D., Stuart, S.N., Symes, A., Tierney, M., Tyrrell, T.D., Vie, J.-C., Watson, R., 2010. Global biodiversity: indicators of recent declines. Science (80-.). 328, 1164–1168.
- Corlett, R.T., Westcott, D.A., 2013. Will plant movements keep up with climate change? Trends in Ecology and Evolution, 28, 482 488.
- Dale, V.H., Joyce, L. A., Mcnulty, S., Neilson, R.P., Ayres, M.P., Flannigan, M.D., Hanson, P.J., Irland, L.C., Lugo, A.E., Peterson, C.J., Simberloff, D., Swanson, F.J., Stocks, B.J., Michael Wotton, B., 2001. Climate Change and Forest Disturbances. Bioscience 51, 723.
- Dirnböck, T., Essl, F., Rabitsch, W., 2011. Disproportional risk for habitat loss of highaltitude endemic species under climate change. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 990–996.
- Drever, C.R., Peterson, G., Messier, C., Bergeron, Y., Flannigan, M., 2006. Can forest management based on natural disturbances maintain ecological resilience? Can. J. For. Res. 36, 2285–2299.
- Dullinger, S., Willner, W., Plutzar, C., Englisch, T., Schratt-Ehrendorfer, L., Moser, D., Ertl, S., Essl, F., Niklfeld, H., 2012. Post-glacial migration lag restricts range filling of plants in the European Alps. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 21, 829–840.
- Engler, R., Randin, C.F., Thuiller, W., Dullinger, S., Zimmermann, N.E., Araújo, M.B., Pearman, P.B., Le Lay, G., Piedallu, C., Albert, C.H., Choler, P., Coldea, G., De Lamo, X., Dirnböck, T., Gégout, J.C., Gómez-García, D., Grytnes, J.A., Heegaard, E., Høistad, F., Nogués-Bravo, D., Normand, S., Puşcaş, M., Sebastià, M.T., Stanisci, A., Theurillat, J.P., Trivedi, M.R., Vittoz, P., Guisan, A., 2011. 21st century climate change threatens mountain flora unequally across Europe. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 2330–2341.
- Felton, A., Nilsson, U., Sonesson, J., Felton, A.M., Roberge, J.M., Ranius, T., Ahlström, M., Bergh, J., Björkman, C., Boberg, J., Drössler, L., Fahlvik, N., Gong, P., Holmström, E., Keskitalo, E.C.H., Klapwijk, M.J., Laudon, H., Lundmark, T., Niklasson, M., Nordin, A., Pettersson, M., Stenlid, J., Sténs, A., Wallertz, K., 2016. Replacing monocultures with mixed-species stands: Ecosystem service implications of two production forest alternatives in Sweden. Ambio 45, 124–139.

- Fischer, A., Marshall, P., Camp, A., 2013. Disturbances in deciduous temperate forest ecosystems of the northern hemisphere: Their effects on both recent and future forest development. Biodivers. Conserv. 22, 1863–1893.
- Franklin, J.F., van Pelt, R., 2004. Spatial aspects of structural complexity in old-growth forests. J. For. 102, 22–29.
- Franklin, J.F., Spies, T.A., Pelt, R. Van, Carey, A.B., Thornburgh, D.A., Berg, D.R., Lindenmayer, D.B., Harmon, M.E., Keeton, W.S., Shaw, D.C., Bible, K., Chen, J., 2002. Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. For. Ecol. Manage. 155, 399–423.
- Jacob, D., 2001. A note to the simulation of the annual and inter-annual variability of the water budget over the Baltic Sea drainage basin.Meteorol. Atmos. Phys. 77, 61–73.
- Hanewinkel, M., Cullmann, D. A., Schelhaas, M.-J., Nabuurs, G.-J., Zimmermann, N.E., 2012. Climate change may cause severe loss in the economic value of European forest land. Nat. Clim. Chang. 3, 203–207.
- Hanewinkel, M., Frutig, F., Lemm, R., 2014. Economic performance of uneven-aged forests analysed with annuities. Forestry 87, 49–60.
- Hanewinkel, M., Hummel, S., Albrecht, A., 2011. Assessing natural hazards in forestry for risk management: a review. Eur. J. For. Res. 130, 329–351.
- Hicke, J.A., Asner, G.P., Kasischke, E.S., French, N.H.F., Randerson, J.T., Collatz, G.J., Stocks, B.J., Tucker, C.J., Los, S.O., Field, C.B., 2003. Postfire response of North American boreal forest net primary productivity analysed with satellite observations. Glob. Chang. Biol. 9, 1145–1157.
- Hoffmann, W. A., Schroeder, W., Jackson, R.B., 2003. Regional feedbacks among fire, climate, and tropical deforestation. J. Geophys. Res. 108, 1–11.
- Holling, C.S., 2001. Understanding the complexity of economic, ecological, and social systems. Ecosystems 4, 390–405.
- Hunt, L.M., Haider, W., 2004. Aesthetic impacts of disturbances on selected boreal forested shorelines. For. Sci. 50, 729–738.
- Huston, M.A., Marland, G., 2003. Carbon management and biodiversity. J. Environ. Manage. 67, 77–86.
- Isbell, F., Calcagno, V., Hector, A., Connolly, J., Harpole, W.S., Reich, P.B., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Schmid, B., Tilman, D., van Ruijven, J., Weigelt, A., Wilsey, B.J., Zavaleta, E.S., Loreau, M., 2011. High plant diversity is needed to maintain ecosystem services. Nature 477, 199–202.
- Kirk, D.A., Hobson, K.A., 2001. Bird–habitat relationships in jack pine boreal forests. For. Ecol. Manage. 147, 217–243.
- Knoke, T., Ammer, C., Stimm, B., Mosandl, R., 2008. Admixing broadleaved to coniferous tree species: a review on yield, ecological stability and economics. Eur. J. For. Res. 127, 89–101.
- Kobler J (2004) Risikokarten als Planungsgrundlage fur Flachenbewirtschaftung und Tourismuslenkung im Nationalpark Kalkalpen Oberosterreich. *Faculty of Earth Sciences, Geography and Astronomy, University of Vienna.* 1–304.
- Kuuluvainen, T., 2009. Forest management and biodiversity conservation based on natural ecosystem dynamics in Northern Europe: The complexity challenge. AMBIO A J. Hum. Environ. 38, 309–315.
- Kuuluvainen, T., Grenfell, R., 2012. Natural disturbance emulation in boreal forest ecosystem management theories, strategies, and a comparison with conventional even-aged management. Can. J. For. Res. 42, 1185–1203.
- Law, B.E., Thorton, P.E., Irvine, J., Anthoni, P.M., Van Tuyl, S., 2001. Carbon storage and fluxes in ponderosa pine forests at different developmental stages. Glob. Chang. Biol. 7, 755–777.
- Maciver, D.C., Wheaton, E., 2005. Tomorrow's forests: Adapting to a changing climate. Clim. Change 70, 273–282.
- Millar, C.I., Stephenson, N.L., 2015. Temperate forest health in an era of emerging megadisturbance. Science (80-.). 349, 823–826.
- Moriondo, M., Good, P., Durao, R., Bindi, M., Giannakopoulos, C., Corte-Real, J., 2006. Potential impact of climate change on fire risk in the Mediterranean area. Clim. Res. 31, 85–95.
- Müller, J., Bußler, H., Goßner, M., Rettelbach, T., Duelli, P., 2008. The European spruce bark beetle Ips typographus in a national park: from pest to keystone species. Biodivers. Conserv. 17, 2979–3001.
- O'Gorman, E.J., Yearsley, J.M., Crowe, T.P., Emmerson, M.C., Jacob, U., Petchey, O.L., 2011. Loss of functionally unique species may gradually undermine ecosystems. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 278, 1886–1893.
- O'Hara, K.L., Ramage, B.S., 2013. Silviculture in an uncertain world: Utilizing multi-aged management systems to integrate disturbance. Forestry 86, 401–410.
- Pal, J.S., Giorgi, F., Bi, X., Elguindi, N., Solmon, F., Rauscher, S.A., Gao, X., Francisco, R., Zakey, A., Winter, J., Ashfaq, M., Syed, F.S., Sloan, L.C., Bell, J.L., Diffenbaugh, N.S., Karmacharya, J., Konaré, A., Martinez, D., da Rocha, R.P., Steiner, A.L., 2007. Regional climate modeling for the developing world: The ICTP RegCM3 and RegCNET. Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 88, 1395–1409.
- Pasari, J.R., Levi, T., Zavaleta, E.S., Tilman, D., 2013. Several scales of biodiversity affect ecosystem multifunctionality. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 10219–10222.

- Pitman, A.J., Narisma, G.T., McAneney, J., 2007. The impact of climate change on the risk of forest and grassland fires in Australia. Clim. Change 84, 383–401.
- Pretzsch, H., Block, J., Dieler, J., Dong, P.H., Kohnle, U., Nagel, J., Spellmann, H., Zingg, A., 2010. Comparison between the productivity of pure and mixed stands of Norway spruce and European beech along an ecological gradient. Ann. For. Sci. 67, 712–712.
- Pukkala, T., 2016. Plenterwald, Dauerwald, or clearcut? For. Policy Econ. 62, 125–134.
- Radu, R., Déqué, M., Somot, S., 2008. Spectral nudging in a spectral regional climate model. Tellus A 60, 898–910.
- Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2015. Coupling human and natural systems: Simulating adaptive management agents in dynamically changing forest landscapes. Glob. Environ. Chang. 35, 475–485.
- Roxburgh, S.H., Shea, K., Wilson, J.B., 2004. The intermediate disturbance hypothesis: patch dynamics and machnisms of species coexistence. Ecology 85, 359–371.
- Ryu, S.R., Chen, J., Zheng, D., Bresee, M.K., Crow, T.R., 2006. Simulating the effects of prescribed burning on fuel loading and timber production (EcoFL) in managed northern Wisconsin forests. Ecol. Modell. 196, 395–406.
- Sala, O.E., 2000. Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science. 287, 1770–1774.
- Schröter, D., Cramer, W., Leemans, R., Prentice, I.C., Araújo, M.B., Arnell, N.W., Bondeau, A., Bugmann, H., Carter, T.R., Gracia, C. A, de la Vega-Leinert, A.C., Erhard, M., Ewert, F., Glendining, M., House, J.I., Kankaanpää, S., Klein, R.J.T., Lavorel, S., Lindner, M., Metzger, M.J., Meyer, J., Mitchell, T.D., Reginster, I., Rounsevell, M., Sabaté, S., Sitch, S., Smith, B., Smith, J., Smith, P., Sykes, M.T., Thonicke, K., Thuiller, W., Tuck, G., Zaehle, S., Zierl, B., 2005. Ecosystem service supply and vulnerability to global change in Europe. Science 310, 1333–1337.
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W., 2016. Climate change amplifies the interactions between wind and bark beetle disturbance in forest landscapes. Landscape Ecology, DOI 10.1007/s10980-016-0396-4
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W., Jäger, D., Lexer, M.J., 2008. Impact of bark beetle (Ips typographus L.) disturbance on timber production and carbon sequestration in different management strategies under climate change. For. Ecol. Manage. 256, 209–220.
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W., Lexer, M.J., 2009. Schätzung von Bodenmerkmalen und Modellparametern für die Waldökosystemsimulation auf Basis einer Großrauminventur. Allg. Forst- und Jagdzeitung 180, 35–44.
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W., Scheller, R.M., Spies, T.A., 2012a. An individual-based process model to simulate landscape-scale forest ecosystem dynamics. Ecol. Modell. 231, 87–100.

- Seidl, R., Schelhaas, M.-J., Lexer, M.J., 2011. Unraveling the drivers of intensifying forest disturbance regimes in Europe. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 2842–2852.
- Seidl, R., Schelhaas, M.-J., Rammer, W., Verkerk, P.J., 2014. Increasing forest disturbances in Europe and their impact on carbon storage. Nat. Clim. Chang. 4, 806–810.
- Seidl, R., Spies, T.A., Peterson, D.L., Stephens, S.L., Hicke, J.A., 2016. Searching for resilience: addressing the impacts of changing disturbance regimes on forest ecosystem services. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 120–129.
- Seidl, R., Spies, T.A., Rammer, W., Steel, E.A., Pabst, R.J., Olsen, K., 2012b. Multi-scale drivers of spatial variation in old-growth forest carbon density disentangled with Lidar and an individual-based landscape model. Ecosystems 15, 1321–1335.
- Silva Pedro, M., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2015. Tree species diversity mitigates disturbance impacts on the forest carbon cycle. Oecologia 177, 619–630.
- Silva Pedro, M., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2016. A disturbance-induced increase in tree species diversity facilitates forest productivity. Landsc. Ecol. 31, 989–1004.
- Swanson, M.E., Franklin, J.F., Beschta, R.L., Crisafulli, C.M., DellaSala, D.A., Hutto, R.L., Lindenmayer, D.B., Swanson, F.J., 2011. The forgotten stage of forest succession: earlysuccessional ecosystems on forest sites. Front. Ecol. Environ. 9, 117–125.
- Temperli, C., Bugmann, H., Elkin, C., 2013. Cross-scale interactions among bark beetles, climate change, and wind disturbances: A landscape modeling approach. Ecol. Monogr. 83, 383–402.
- Thom, D., Seidl, R., Steyrer, G., Krehan, H., Formayer, H., 2013. Slow and fast drivers of the natural disturbance regime in Central European forest ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manage. 307, 293–302.
- Thomas, C.D., Cameron, A., Green, R.E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L.J., Collingham, Y.C., Erasmus, B.F.N., de Siqueira, M.F., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., van Jaarsveld, A.S., Midgley, G.F., Miles, L., Ortega-Huerta, M.A., Townsend Peterson, A., Phillips, O.L., Williams, S.E., 2004. Extinction risk from climate change. Nature 427, 145–148.
- Thorn, S., Bässler, C., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Cadotte, M., Heibl, C., Schäfer, H., Seibold, S., Müller, J., 2016. Changes in the dominant assembly mechanism drive species loss caused by declining resources. Ecol. Lett. 19, 163–170.
- Thuiller, W., Lavorel, S., Araujo, M.B., Sykes, M.T., Prentice, I.C., 2005. Climate change threats to plant diversity in Europe. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 102, 8245–8250.
- Tikkanen, O.P., Martikainen, P., Hyvarinen, E., Junninen, K., Kouki, J., 2006. Red-listed boreal forest species of Finland: associations with forest structure, tree species, and decaying wood. Ann. Zool. Fennici 43, 373–383.

- Turner, M.G., 2010. Disturbance and landscape dynamics in a changing world. Ecology 91, 2833–2849.
- Turner, M.G., Donato, D.C., Romme, W.H., 2013. Consequences of spatial heterogeneity for ecosystem services in changing forest landscapes: Priorities for future research. Landsc. Ecol. 28, 1081–1097.
- Weng, E., Luo, Y., Wang, W., Wang, H., Hayes, D.J., McGuire, A. D., Hastings, A., Schimel, D.S., 2012. Ecosystem carbon storage capacity as affected by disturbance regimes: A general theoretical model. J. Geophys. Res. Biogeosciences 117, 1–15.
- Wermelinger, B., 2004. Ecology and management of the spruce bark beetle Ips typographus—a review of recent research. For. Ecol. Manage. 202, 67–82.
- Westerling, A.L., 2006. Warming and Earlier Spring Increase Western U.S. Forest Wildfire Activity. Science. 313, 940–943.
- Zell, J., Hanewinkel, M., 2015. How treatment, storm events and changed climate affect productivity of temperate forests in SW Germany. Reg. Environ. Chang. 15, 1531–1542.

9 Appendix

9.1 Paper I: Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests

Thom, D., Seidl, R., 2016. Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests. Biol. Rev. 91, 760–781.

Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests

Dominik Thom^{*} and Rupert Seidl

Institute of Silviculture, Department of Forest- and Soil Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU) Vienna, Peter-Jordan-Straße 82, 1190 Vienna, Austria

Running title: Disturbance impacts on biodiversity and services

*Author for correspondence (E-mail: dominik.thom@boku.at.ac) Tel.: (+43) 1 / 47654-4071).

ABSTRACT

In many parts of the world forest disturbance regimes have intensified recently, and future climatic changes are expected to amplify this development further in the coming decades. These changes are increasingly challenging the main objectives of forest ecosystem management, which are to provide ecosystem services sustainably to society and maintain the biological diversity of forests. Yet a comprehensive understanding of how disturbances affect these primary goals of ecosystem management is still lacking. We conducted a global literature review on the impact of three of the most important disturbance agents (fire, wind, and bark beetles) on 13 different ecosystem services and three indicators of biodiversity in forests of the boreal, cool- and warm-temperate biomes. Our objectives were to (*i*) synthesize the effect of natural disturbances on a wide range of possible objectives of forest management, and (*ii*) investigate standardized effect sizes of disturbance for selected indicators *via* a quantitative meta-analysis.

We screened a total of 1958 disturbance studies published between 1981 and 2013, and reviewed 478 in detail. We first investigated the overall effect of disturbances on individual ecosystem services and indicators of biodiversity by means of independence tests, and subsequently examined the effect size of disturbances on indicators of carbon storage and biodiversity by means of regression analysis. Additionally, we investigated the effect of

commonly used approaches of disturbance management, i.e. salvage logging and prescribed burning.

We found that disturbance impacts on ecosystem services are generally negative, an effect that was supported for all categories of ecosystem services, i.e. supporting, provisioning, regulating, and cultural services (P<0.001). Indicators of biodiversity, i.e. species richness, habitat quality and diversity indices, on the other hand were found to be influenced positively by disturbance (P<0.001). Our analyses thus reveal a "disturbance paradox", documenting that disturbances can put ecosystem services at risk while simultaneously facilitating biodiversity. A detailed investigation of disturbance effect sizes on carbon storage and biodiversity further underlined these divergent effects of disturbance. While a disturbance event on average causes a decrease in total ecosystem carbon by 38.5% (standardized coefficient for stand-replacing disturbance), it on average increases overall species richness by 35.6%. Disturbance-management approaches such as salvage logging and prescribed burning were neither found significantly to mitigate negative effects on ecosystem services nor to enhance positive effects on biodiversity, and thus were not found to alleviate the disturbance paradox. Considering that climate change is expected to intensify natural disturbance regimes, our results indicate that biodiversity will generally benefit from such changes while a sustainable provisioning of ecosystem services might come increasingly under pressure. This underlines that disturbance risk and resilience require increased attention in ecosystem management in the future, and that new approaches to addressing the disturbance paradox in management are needed.

Key words: fire, wind, bark beetles, disturbance effect, biodiversity, ecosystem services, forest management, salvage logging, prescribed burning, disturbance paradox.

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	35
II. Materials and Methods	37
(1) Literature review	37
(2) Analysis	41
III. Results	42
(1) Disturbance effects on ecosystem services and biodiversity	42
(2) The effect of salvage logging and prescribed burning	48
(3) The size of disturbance effects on biodiversity and forest carbon storage	48
IV. Discussion	51
(1) What we know about disturbance impacts on forest ecosystems	51
(2) Challenges for synthesizing disturbance impacts	52
(3) The disturbance paradox and how to address it in ecosystem management	54
V. Conclusions	56
VI. Acknowledgements	57
VII. References	57
VIII. Supporting Information	91

INTRODUCTION

In recent decades, forest disturbance regimes have intensified in many parts of the world (Chapin et al., 2000; Schelhaas, Nabuurs & Schuck, 2003; Balshi et al., 2007; Gardiner et al., 2010). The frequency of large wildfires in western North America has, for instance, increased by nearly four times in the period 1987-2003 compared to the average for 1970-1986 (Westerling et al., 2006), while at the same time bark beetle damage has reached unprecedented levels (Meddens, Hicke & Ferguson, 2012). A similar trend is evident for wildfire, windthrow, and bark beetles in Europe (Schelhaas et al., 2003; Seidl et al., 2014). This trend is likely to continue in the future as a result of the climatic changes expected for the coming decades (Seidl, Schelhaas & Lexer, 2011b; Temperli, Bugmann & Elkin, 2013; Li et al., 2013; Reichstein et al., 2013; Seidl et al., 2014). In many areas, changes in the disturbance regime (i.e. in the distinctive type, size, severity, and frequency of disturbance over extended spatio-temporal scales) are expected to be among the most severe climate change impacts on forest ecosystems (Lindner et al., 2010; Turner, 2010). Disturbances are important natural drivers of forest ecosystem dynamics (Franklin et al., 2002; Kuuluvainen & Aakala, 2011), and strongly modulate the structure and functioning of forest ecosystems (Weber & Flannigan, 1997; Turner, 2010). Changing disturbance regimes might thus considerably alter forest ecosystems, with potentially far-reaching impacts on their biological diversity and capacity to provide ecosystem services to society.

With the aim to provide ecosystem services to society while fostering biodiversity, ecosystem management requires a comprehensive understanding of the impacts of natural disturbances. Notwithstanding this high relevance, natural disturbances have hitherto been discussed inconclusively in the context of ecosystem management, with views and recommendations ranging from strict avoidance of disturbance (due to negative effects on selected ecosystem services) to emulating disturbance in management (to utilize their beneficial effects on biodiversity). On the one hand, substantial efforts are undertaken in research and management to quantify disturbance risk, with the aim to minimize their negative impacts through increasing the resistance of forests to disturbances (e.g. Jactel *et al.*, 2009; Overbeck & Schmidt, 2012). Measures such as fostering individual-tree stability through thinning (Schelhaas, 2008), adapting landscape-scale harvesting patterns to disturbance risk [e.g. stand edges *versus* the main wind direction (Byrne & Mitchell, 2013)], and choosing a rotation period that balances disturbance risk with economic considerations (Loisel, 2014) have long

been practiced in forestry in order to avoid disturbance-related losses particularly with regard to timber production. On the other hand, with the advent of science-based ecosystem management and a growing understanding of the integral role of disturbances in natural forest ecosystem dynamics, mimicking natural disturbance regimes to foster elemental processes of ecosystem dynamics is increasingly advocated (e.g. Toivanen & Kotiaho, 2007; Newton *et al.*, 2011). Hypothesizing a positive effect of disturbances on biodiversity and acknowledging their role in creating keystone habitats within forested landscapes, these ideas view disturbances as inherently positive. In human-altered boreal forest ecosystems, for instance, where fire is the major natural disturbance agent, there are suggestions for the application of prescribed burning as a measure to restore natural forest conditions (Bergeron *et al.*, 2002; Toivanen & Kotiaho, 2007; Olsson & Jonsson, 2010). In wind- and bark beetle-dominated disturbance regimes the creation of gaps of various sizes and shapes is recommended to mimic natural disturbance regimes and stimulate biodiversity (Franklin *et al.*, 2002; Seymour, White & DeMaynadier, 2002; Kern *et al.*, 2014).

The valuation of disturbances and their role in management thus seems to vary strongly with the particular objective considered (e.g. biodiversity conservation *versus* timber production). However, only a small proportion of forests serve a sole objective: only about 5% of the world's forests are strict reserves for the conservation of biodiversity (Hoekstra *et al.*, 2005), while a similar fraction are designated plantations for the production of wood and biomass (Carnus *et al.*, 2006). The large majority of forest landscapes need to fulfill a multitude of functions and services simultaneously, including but not limited to serving as habitat, protecting the soil from erosion, producing timber and biomass, storing carbon, etc. In such situations where multiple objectives need to be met within a forest landscape, disturbances can be expected to have both positive and negative impacts on possible objectives of ecosystem management (see e.g. Huston & Marland, 2003), a hypothesis that we here refer to as the "disturbance paradox". Considering that not only disturbances have increased recently but also the range and demand for societally relevant ecosystem services has been growing steadily in recent decades, we estimate that addressing this paradox will be a key challenge for future forest ecosystem management.

Here we attempt to describe and quantify the various effects of natural disturbances in a literature review and meta-analysis of disturbance impacts at the global scale. In particular, we examine the effects of three of the most detrimental disturbance agents globally [i.e. fire,

wind, and bark beetles (FAO, 2010)], focusing on forest ecosystems of the boreal and temperate biomes, a forest area of approximately 13.5 million km² (Hansen, Stehman & Potapov, 2010). Acknowledging the growing societal importance of a variety of different ecosystem services we not only survey disturbance impacts on traditionally important forest goods (such as timber production) but also include a total of 13 different ecosystem services from all four categories distinguished by the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment in our analysis: provisioning, supporting, regulating, and cultural services (MEA, 2005). Furthermore, we also investigated disturbance impact on three important indicators of biodiversity. Our overall objectives were (i) to synthesize the effect of natural disturbances on a wide range of possible objectives of forest ecosystem management, and (ii) to investigate standardized effect sizes of disturbance impacts for selected indicators via a quantitative meta-analysis. Based on these analyses we discuss pathways to addressing disturbances in ecosystem management in the particular context of changing disturbance regimes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

(1) Literature review

We searched the literature for studies on disturbance by fire, wind and bark beetles, and their impacts on ecosystem services as defined by the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MEA, 2005), as well as their effects on biodiversity, focusing on species richness and habitat quality as well as on indices of diversity (e.g. Shannon-Index, Simpson-Index, etc.). We restricted our literature review to boreal and temperate forest ecosystems as subtropical and tropical forests differ considerably in ecological processes and anthropogenic impacts. In particular, extratropical forests are generally less diverse than tropical forests, and share a common set of genera as well as drivers of forest dynamics (e.g. temperature) (Thomas & MacLellan, 2002). Furthermore, land-use history and recent management differ strongly between tropical and extratropical regions, with a long history of intensive human use and several decades of sustainable management in the temperate and boreal zone (Siry, Cubbage & Ahmed, 2005; Canadell & Raupach, 2008). Focusing solely on the boreal and temperate subset of the literature controlled for these broad differences in our analysis, and thus increased the inferential potential with regard to disturbance effects. The literature search was performed using the Scopus database (SciVerse Scopus, 2013), and the cutoff date for the inclusion of publications was June 6th, 2013. The search terms and synonyms used are listed as supporting

online information in Appendix S1. In total, 1958 papers were identified for screening. From this overall body of literature, reviews and syntheses were excluded in order to avoid double counting and the potential transfer of artifacts or errors from one review to the next (Whittaker, 2010). Furthermore, we excluded articles which did not compare disturbed forests with long-lasting undisturbed "control" sites. Depending on the study scale and context, either the state before a disturbance, an undisturbed reference, or an assumption about an equilibrium condition was assumed as a reference to determine the disturbance effect. From the 1958 papers screened initially 478 were selected for further analysis. For each of these studies we collected information on geographical location, spatial and temporal scales, assessment methodologies and management treatments (Tables 1 and 2, Appendix S2). We furthermore recorded whether the reported disturbance effect is related to single or multiple disturbance events (i.e. disturbance regime). If studies included expert opinions on certain disturbance effects they were initially included in our database, but were subsequently omitted from quantitative analyses. We allowed multiple entries per study, for instance if a study examined more than one disturbance agent, ecosystem service or biodiversity indicator. Furthermore, considering that ecological effects can change over time, we also recorded the temporal time frame for every study. In order to alleviate potential autocorrelation issues, effects were grouped into four different time horizons (i.e. short term: 1-5 years, mid term: 6-25 years, long term: 26-100 years, very long term: >100 years). The final database for analysis contained 887 entries of disturbance effects on ecosystem services and biodiversity.

Table 1. Geographic distribution of observations (N=887) of disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity reported in 478 peer-reviewed publications included in the analysis. Note that two observations addressing fire and wind impact, respectively, at the global scale, are not included.

		Disturbance agent				
Biome	Continent	Fire	Wind	Bark beetles		
Boreal	Africa	-	-	-		
	Asia	11	1	0		
	Europe	28	23	3		
	North America	221	24	30		
	South America	0	0	0		
	Australasia	0	0	0		
Cool temperate	Africa	0	0	0		
	Asia	2	10	0		
	Europe	54	38	11		
	North America	198	25	18		
	South America	9	0	0		
	Australasia	28	6	0		
Warm temperate	Africa	2	0	0		
	Asia	10	0	0		
	Europe	33	0	0		
	North America	55	18	0		
	South America	2	0	0		
	Australasia	24	1	0		
Total		677	146	62		

Table 2. Assessment methodology and focal scale of observations (N=887) regarding disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity reported in 478 peer-reviewed publications included in the analysis. Stand: 1–10 ha, Patch: 11–100 ha, Landscape: 101–100,000 ha, Region: >100,000 ha. NA: undefined temporal of spatial scale.

	Assessment methodology						
Temporal scale	Spatial scale	Empirical	Remote sensing	Simulation	Questionnaire	Expert opinion	Mixed
Short term	Stand	237	1	12	0	14	1
(1-5 years)	Patch	23	0	2	0	0	0
	Landscape	28	0	5	2	14	3
	Region	6	2	24	0	4	2
	Global	0	0	0	0	0	0
Mid term	Stand	117	0	16	0	7	0
(6-25 years)	Patch	16	0	2	0	3	0
	Landscape	12	0	9	0	8	2
	Region	5	10	23	1	3	1
	Global	0	0	0	0	0	0
Long term	Stand	50	0	12	0	6	0
(26-100 years)	Patch	5	0	2	0	3	0
	Landscape	4	0	11	0	4	0
	Region	1	1	24	1	10	0
	Global	0	0	2	0	0	0
Very long term	Stand	22	0	6	0	8	0
(>100 years)	Patch	1	0	2	0	2	0
	Landscape	4	0	11	0	16	0
	Region	4	0	14	0	17	0
	Global	0	0	0	0	0	0
NA	Stand	0	0	0	0	2	0
	Patch	0	0	0	0	1	0
	Landscape	3	0	0	0	10	0
	Region	0	0	3	4	5	0
	Global	0	0	0	0	0	0
	NA	0	0	0	0	1	0
Total		538	14	180	8	138	9

(2) Analysis

We analyzed our literature-derived database of disturbance effects in two steps. First, we assessed the disturbance effect on indicators of ecosystem services and biodiversity. To that end, a descriptive classification of the disturbance impact was made based on the findings reported in the literature (i.e. negative, neutral, mixed, or positive impact of disturbance on the respective indicator). This classification allowed us to synthesize results consistently from different methodological approaches. It furthermore enabled a comparison of disturbance impacts between ecosystem services measured on different scales (e.g. recreational value versus carbon storage in a forest landscape), as well as between the impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity. Initially, we tested whether the observed distribution of studies over response categories differed significantly from a random distribution, i.e. we assessed whether a significant disturbance effect can be established from the literature. Subsequently, we tested for differences in disturbance impact among agents, biomes, and study approaches, evaluating the variation of disturbance impacts with these categories. In an attempt to confirm or reject the hypothesized diverging impacts of disturbance on criteria of relevance for ecosystem management (disturbance paradox hypothesis) we also tested whether disturbance impacts differ between indicators of ecosystem services and biodiversity. Another controversial issue in the context of disturbance management is the effect of salvage harvesting after disturbance, i.e. partial or complete removal of disturbance-killed trees from a site (Donato et al., 2006; Lindenmayer, Burton & Franklin, 2008a; Thorn et al., 2014). We thus also tested the hypothesis that disturbance effects after salvage differ significantly from unsalvaged conditions. Finally, we also compared impacts of prescribed burning to those of wildfires, in order to test for differences in disturbance impacts from intended and unintended fires. All these tests were conducted using independence tests, a powerful, permutation-based approach to test the null hypothesis that two variables (measured on arbitrary scales) are independent of each other (Hothorn et al., 2008), using the package coin (Hothorn et al., 2013) within the R language and environment for statistical computing (R Development Core Team, 2014).

In a second step, in order to determine effect size, we conducted a meta-analysis based on quantitative information on disturbance impact for two particularly well-researched criteria: biodiversity and carbon storage. For biodiversity, we analyzed disturbance-induced changes in species richness (S', N=57) and species entropy (H', N=28), the latter represented by the

Shannon-Index of diversity. Due to the limited sample size further subdivision into the effects of disturbance on specific taxonomic groups was not possible. With regard to carbon storage, we distinguished between disturbance effects on total ecosystem carbon (TEC, N=27), aboveground live carbon (ALC, N=38), dead aboveground carbon (DAC, N=25), and soil organic carbon (SOC, N=39) in our meta-analysis. For all variables the effect size was calculated as the per cent change induced by disturbance relative to the reference condition (control). Only entries from single disturbance events without subsequent salvage logging were considered in this second analysis step. We used multiple linear regression analysis to examine the size and statistical significance of disturbance effects on indicators of carbon storage and biodiversity. To generalize the disturbance regime and allow a comparison across studies we used time since disturbance (in years) and disturbance severity (i.e. proportion of timber volume, basal area, or forest area affected by disturbance, using a scale of 0-1) as covariates in the analysis. These parameters were recently used by Miller, Roxburgh & Shea (2011) in an attempt to generalize disturbance effects on diversity. We analyzed the residuals of our regression models for trends as well as for temporal autocorrelation (using a Durbin-Watson test), and found support for the assumptions of homoscedasticity and independence. From these regression models we analyzed both the intercepts (i.e. the standardized effect at fixed severity and time since disturbance) and slopes (i.e. how the disturbance effect changes with time and severity). To aid the interpretation of the former we transformed severity to 1severity in our analysis, making the intercept a standardized effect of 100% severity. Additionally, we fitted multiple linear regression models with disturbance agents and biomes as covariates in order to test for the generality of our findings across agents and geographical locations.

RESULTS

(1) Disturbance effects on ecosystem services and biodiversity

Overall, 478 studies from the boreal (34.9%), cool (47.1%) and warm temperate (18.0%) biomes addressing effects of disturbances on forest ecosystems were reviewed. The overwhelming majority of articles originated from North America (63.8%), followed by Europe (21.3%) and Australasia (8.8%) (Fig. 1, Table 1). With regard to disturbance agents the effects of forest fires were addressed most frequently (78.0%), while only 15.4% of studies investigated impacts of wind and 6.6% of bark beetles. 60.9% of the research results

compiled in our database were empirical, while 19.3% were based on expert opinion, 16.0% derived from simulation studies, and the remaining 3.8% either investigations based on remote sensing, public questionnaires or a combination of different approaches (Table 2). Studies from recent years were overrepresented in our database, with publications on disturbance impact increasing at a rate of approximately 3.1 papers per year between 1996 and 2012 (before 1996 the number of studies was sparse and irregular). This rate of increase of 11.9% year⁻¹ is considerably higher than that of the general literature on, e.g. ecosystem management, which was +7.0% over the same period (Seidl, 2014).

Overall, there is strong evidence for a distinct impact of disturbances on criteria relevant to ecosystem management, with only 19.3% of entries in our database showing no or mixed effects of disturbance. The fact that in our sample of the literature negative impacts (45.1%) and positive effects (35.6%) were nearly equally distributed confirms the hypothesized disturbance paradox in ecosystem management. These divergent impacts are primarily driven by the disparity of disturbance effects on biodiversity and ecosystem services (Fig. 2). We found that all ecosystem service categories [i.e. supporting, provisioning, regulating and cultural services (Appendix S3)] were affected predominately negatively by disturbance (P < 0.001). At the level of individual ecosystem service indicators, the only investigated aspect that was positively influenced was albedo (Fig. 3), as related to the climate change mitigation function of forest ecosystems (Jin et al., 2012). Timber and primary production, fresh-water provisioning as well as protection against gravitational natural hazards were found to be predominately negatively affected by disturbances. Moreover, the large majority of studies reported a negative disturbance impact on carbon storage, mainly due to a reduction of live biomass in the ecosystem. However, there were also some examples of a positive disturbance effect on carbon storage: in a boreal forest ecosystem in Ontario, ALC peaked 92 years after disturbance then declined to a significantly lower level during the following decades, stabilizing 140 years after disturbance (Seedre & Chen, 2010). For the same forest, SOC peaked between 29 and 140 years after disturbance, before decreasing by approximately one-third over the next 63 years (Chen & Shrestha, 2012). This suggests that not only direct disturbance-related C losses in ALC but also the enhanced growth of a regenerating forest as well as the rate of decomposition of dead organic matter need to be considered for a comprehensive assessment of disturbance effects on forest C budgets. Overall, however,

96.3% of 27 observations on C cycle impacts indicated a negative effect of disturbances on TEC.

By contrast, we found an overall positive effect of disturbances on biodiversity (P < 0.001). Species richness, habitat quality, and diversity indices were equally positively affected by disturbance. However, the disturbance effect is less consistent for biodiversity than for many ecosystem service indicators, and a number of studies also report negative impacts of disturbances on the indicators of biodiversity investigated here. Hingston & Grove (2010), for example, reported reduced bird species richness in Tasmanian lowland wet eucalypt forests during the first 50 years after wildfire. By contrast, Klaus et al. (2010) found a positive effect of fire on the number of bird species in southern Appalachian upland forests. This illustrates that some species groups might react differently to disturbances depending on the context and specific ecosystem investigated. Also belowground diversity is affected by disturbances, yet dedicated studies are still rare to date. Negative impacts on earthworm biomass and diversity at sites with uprooted trees were reported from areas as different as Belgium and northern Iran (Nachtergale et al., 2002; Kooch & Hosseini, 2010). Another belowground species group that was reported to be negatively affected by windthrow (salvaged) and fire disturbance was Oribatida in the Slovakian High Tatra Mountains (Lóšková et al., 2013). However, a positive impact of fire was reported on soil collembolan diversity in a northern hardwood forest (Huebner, Lindo & Lechowicz, 2012) as well as on soil microbial communities in Spain (Fontúrbel et al., 2012), indicating that disturbances can have both positive and negative impacts on soil diversity. Overall, however, 73.1%, 69.8% and 65.3% of studies reported either a positive or neutral response of diversity, species richness and habitat quality, respectively, to disturbance.

At the level of different disturbance agents we found no support for significant differences between the effects of fire, wind, and bark beetles on indicators of biodiversity. With regard to ecosystem services, however, the impacts of fire differed significantly from those of wind and bark beetles (P<0.001 and P=0.006, respectively), with the latter agents being more frequently reported to have no influence on ecosystem services. This indicates that bottom-up disturbances such as fire (i.e. susceptibility decreasing with tree size and/or age) might have different impacts than top-down disturbances such as wind and bark beetles (where susceptibility increases with tree size and/or age). Differences in disturbance impacts between biomes were evident in our data: the effect of disturbances on ecosystem services differed

among the boreal and temperate biomes (P<0.001 and P=0.005 for cool- and warm-temperate biomes, respectively), while boreal and cool-temperate biomes differed with regard to disturbance impacts on biodiversity (P=0.022). Generally, disturbance effects were least distinctive in the boreal biome, with negative disturbance impacts on ecosystem services more pronounced in the temperate biomes compared to boreal ecosystems. However, disturbances also had a stronger positive effect on biodiversity in the cool-temperate biome than in the boreal biome.

By comparing results across different types of methodologies, e.g. simulation studies *versus* empirical approaches, we found some noteworthy deviations from the null hypothesis of consistent disturbance impacts across study methods. Concerning the impacts of disturbances on ecosystem services we found a significant difference between empirical studies and simulation studies (P=0.030) as well as an indication for differences between empirical studies and expert opinions (P=0.057), with simulation studies and experts reporting a stronger negative effect than empirical analyses. With regard to the effects of biodiversity, we found that both simulation studies (P=0.007) and expert opinions (P<0.001) differed significantly from empirical studies. Here, our data indicate that simulation studies underestimate the positive effects of disturbance on biodiversity compared to empirical analyses, while experts overestimate this positive effect. It is also interesting to note that neutral effects (i.e. no disturbance impact on biodiversity) were more commonly reported in empirical studies than in any other methodological approach.



Fig. 1. Geographical distribution of papers addressing the impacts of fire (red, comprising wildfire and prescribed burning), wind (blue) and bark beetles (orange) on ecosystem services and biodiversity. The size of the circles represents the number of peer-reviewed papers per agent and region, while percentages indicate the relative share of disturbance agents per continent. The focal areas of our analysis were the boreal, cool- and warm-temperate biomes as defined by Holdridge (1947, modified using World Clim data), illustrated here in different shades of green.



Fig. 2. Disturbance effects on (A) biodiversity and (B) ecosystem services. N indicates the number of observations in our database of disturbance effects synthesized from 478 peer-reviewed articles.



Fig. 3. Disturbance effects on indicators of ecosystem services and biodiversity (shaded). Bars show the distribution of positive, neutral and negative disturbance effects per indicator; N denotes the total number of observations. Note that neutral and mixed effects were subsumed under the neutral category here, and that findings based on expert opinions were excluded.

(2) The effect of salvage logging and prescribed burning

We tested whether the reported disturbance impacts of prescribed burning differed relative to those of wildfires, hypothesizing that controlled burns will have fewer negative effects on ecosystem service provisioning. We found no support for this hypothesis: prescribed burns were more frequently reported to have a negative impact on ecosystem services than wildfires (P<0.001). Yet, this result must be interpreted with caution as it is based only on a small sample of studies for the effect of prescribed burning (N=13). With regard to the predominately positive effects of fire on indicators of biodiversity, prescribed burns did not differ significantly from wildfires (P=0.413).

Another frequently discussed management intervention in the context of disturbance management is salvage logging. Based on previous findings, we hypothesized a negative impact of salvage logging on biodiversity (Lindenmayer *et al.*, 2008*a*). Although a slight trend was evident in our data (i.e. the positive disturbance effect on biodiversity indicators was more pronounced for non-salvaged forests), it was not significant in our comparison of 38 observations on salvage logging with 145 observations of unsalvaged disturbance effects (P=0.205). Moreover, with regard to the impact on ecosystem services no significant differences between salvaged and unsalvaged studies were found (P=0.168), however the data reveal a negative trend for salvaged forests.

(3) The size of disturbance effects on biodiversity and forest carbon storage

Disturbance effects on forest ecosystems differ greatly with disturbance severity and time since disturbance, which is why we studied effect sizes using these two variables as covariates. Time since disturbance significantly explained disturbance effects for all investigated carbon compartments (Table 3). Effects on ALC and DAC were particularly strongly related to this variable, and differences to undisturbed conditions (–91.3% and +155.5% in the first year after disturbance for ALC and DAC, respectively) decreased by +0.6% (ALC) and -1.4% (DAC) on average with every passing year following disturbance. Disturbance severity was not significant in any model, but was retained in the analysis due to its ecological relevance (see also Miller *et al.*, 2011). While the analysis of disturbance impacts on indicators of C storage yielded acceptable coefficients of determination (R² from 0.736 to 0.124), the explanatory value of disturbance regime covariates was poor with regard

to species richness and entropy. Neither species richness nor entropy was found to differ significantly with time since disturbance and disturbance severity. Tests for differences between agents and biomes overall supported a common global meta-analysis under consideration of disturbance regime covariates for both response variables (data not shown).

The analysis of the standardized disturbance effect (i.e. the calculated impact for a year of an event with 100% severity) showed that indicators of biodiversity as well as deadwood C stocks increased with disturbance, while aboveground and soil carbon stocks decreased (Fig. 4). The mean \pm 95% C.I. standardized effect of disturbance on total ecosystem carbon was – 38.5 \pm 8.3% (*P*<0.001), while species richness was significantly increased by +35.6 \pm 32.3% (*P*=0.035).

Table 3. Meta-analysis (multiple linear regression) of disturbance effects on indicators of carbon and biodiversity (response variables) and their relation to covariates describing the disturbance regime. ALC, aboveground live carbon; TEC, total ecosystem carbon; DAC, dead aboveground carbon; SOC, soil organic carbon; *S*', species richness; *H*', species entropy (Shannon-Index).

	Time since disturbance		1-severity		
	Coefficient	<i>P</i> -value	Coefficient	P-value	R ²
ALC	0.606	< 0.001	33.461	0.064	0.736
TEC	0.192	0.006	12.860	0.361	0.280
DAC	-1.435	0.014	-477.129	0.200	0.258
SOC	0.260	0.042	-9.075	0.792	0.124
<i>S</i> '	-0.307	0.291	-19.400	0.576	0.022
H'	-2.608	0.589	-175.386	0.555	0.020



Fig. 4. Standardized disturbance effect size (i.e. per cent disturbance-induced change relative to reference condition) for indicators of carbon stock (filled symbols) and biodiversity (open symbols). Values are standardized coefficients for a disturbance severity level of 100%, and whiskers denote the 95% confidence interval. ALC, aboveground live carbon; TEC, total ecosystem carbon; SOC, soil organic carbon; DAC, dead aboveground carbon; *S*': species richness; *H*', species entropy (Shannon-Index).

DISCUSSION

(1) What we know about disturbance impacts on forest ecosystems

We investigated disturbance effects of fire, wind, and bark beetles in a search for general differences in disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity. The large number of studies available for analysis not only indicates the importance of disturbance impacts to forest ecosystems, but also provides a suitable basis for a global synthesis on disturbance effects. The increasing number of publications over time may represent a response of the scientific community to the increase in disturbance frequency observed in recent decades (Westerling *et al.*, 2006; Seidl *et al.*, 2014), and should imply a growing understanding of disturbance processes. However, while disturbance impacts on biodiversity are increasingly well researched, we found more variability in information on different ecosystem services. While the main focus of the reviewed papers was on regulating services (predominately on C storage as an important mechanism of climate regulation), supporting and provisioning services are less well studied. The disturbance impact on cultural services has barely been assessed to date (Appendix S3).

In addition, the information available on disturbance impacts also differs with disturbance agent and region. The impact of fire on biodiversity and ecosystem services is the most intensively studied disturbance agent, reflecting the dominant role of wildfire in disturbance regimes around the globe (e.g. Conard *et al.*, 2002; Schelhaas *et al.*, 2003; Littell *et al.*, 2009; Newton *et al.*, 2011; Knox & Clarke, 2012). Regional differences were apparent in our database of published studies on disturbance impacts: Asia, for instance, is underrepresented in our analysis; we found only 10 unique studies on disturbance impacts on biodiversity and 11 on ecosystem services for that continent. However, it has to be noted that not the entire geographic imbalance in disturbance processes. The main cause of such variation in peerreviewed information available from different regions is likely to be the language barrier (Powell, 2012). Differences in local research agendas are also likely to play a role (see e.g. Kajala & Watson, 1997). Nonetheless, we advocate research programs that facilitate a broader study of disturbance effects (geographically as well as in terms of the indicators studied), in

order to close some of the remaining gaps in our understanding of the role of disturbances in forest ecosystems.

(2) Challenges for synthesizing disturbance impacts

One challenge for a global synthesis lies in a comparison of the different methodological approaches used to study disturbance impacts. Simulation approaches appear to underestimate the effect of disturbances on biodiversity perhaps because current disturbance models are rarely able to assess effects on diversity over a broad variety of guilds. Future improvements in simulation modelling should thus aim to capture the multiple impacts of disturbances better on ecosystems and their diversity (see also Seidl *et al.*, 2011*a*). Another interesting finding was that expert knowledge differed significantly from the results of empirical studies. Part of this difference could be explained by expert knowledge being reported for different systems and contexts, i.e. systems and indicators that are less well represented by empirical studies. However, the finding that disturbance impacts estimated by experts are more negative on ecosystem services and more positive on biodiversity than those estimated empirically strongly suggests that expert opinions should be omitted from further quantitative analysis (Whittaker, 2010). It should also be noted that our data – like most published literature reviews – are likely to incorporate a degree of publication bias (Møller & Jennions, 2001), i.e.

A second challenge relates to the general ability to synthesize the published literature. Although we found a large number of papers dealing with disturbance impacts on biodiversity and carbon storage, only a limited number (18.4% and 22.4%, respectively) could be used in a quantitative meta-analysis. In most instances we had to exclude studies due to inconclusive reporting of disturbance severity, or the absence of a proper control, consequently making it impossible to quantify the disturbance effect. We thus call for better reporting, especially the inclusion of summary statistics in publications, and advocate a BACI (before – after, control – impact) design (Stewart-Oaten, Murdoch & Parker, 1986) to facilitate future syntheses on this topic. The increasing requirement to make the results of studies available upon publication, either as an electronic supplement or in archiving services such as Dryad (http://datadryad.org/) should benefit such syntheses in the future. However, some variation in the choice of an appropriate control to disturbed systems is likely to persist, as, for example, the definition of "old-growth" conditions often differs regionally. Note also that historic land-

use and management practices may influence reference conditions as well as disturbance drivers and impact (e.g. Carcaillet *et al.*, 2009), an aspect that cannot be rectified in a global review and meta-analysis such as that presented here.

Another difficulty for synthesis and generalization arises from the inherent complexity of disturbance regimes in temperate and boreal forests (see also White & Jentsch, 2001). While we studied three of the most influential disturbance agents globally, other agents of high regional significance were not considered. For example, ash dieback, a disease affecting common ash (Fraxinus excelsior L.) trees of all age-classes, is currently strongly impacting forest ecosystems in many European countries (Halmschlager & Kirisits, 2008; Ogris, Hauptman & Jurc, 2009), but was not included in this analysis. Our first analysis step revealed significant differences in impact among disturbance agents, documenting that the unique ecology of every agent is important for understanding its effects (e.g. which trees are affected and how). In the second step of our analysis we included severity and time since disturbance as covariates in order to generalize across agents in our meta-analysis. Tests of this generalization assumption show that differences among agents could be explained satisfactorily with these two covariates (data not shown), enabling a statistical analysis across agents and scales. This underlines the potential for a process-based analysis of disturbance regimes in synthesizing knowledge from individual observations to reach general patterns and principles (Turner et al., 1993; White & Jentsch, 2001; Seidl et al., 2011a; Miller et al., 2011).

However, this ability to generalize might to some degree be attributed to the inclusion of only temperate and boreal forest ecosystems in our data set. Whether the general patterns deduced for these biomes also hold for tropical forests remains to be tested. Martin, Newton & Bullock (2013), conducted a review on the effects of anthropogenic disturbance on carbon stocks and plant diversity for more than 600 secondary forest sites in the tropics. They show that both biodiversity and carbon storage were negatively affected by clearing (a high-severity disturbance), and took several decades to recover. Assuming that salvage logging after natural disturbance results in an impact comparable to anthropogenic clearing we here find contrasting results for biodiversity effects in temperate and boreal forests: our data suggest a weak positive effect of disturbance on biodiversity (not significantly affected by salvage logging, P=0.205). This indicates that further studies are needed to establish whether the disturbance paradox described here also applies to tropical forests.

The existence and strength of simultaneous positive and negative impacts of disturbances on objectives of ecosystem management, described here as the disturbance paradox, might not only vary geographically but is likely also strongly dependent on the indicators selected for analysis, and hence the local relevance of specific ecosystem services and aspects of biodiversity. Generalist species might, for instance, benefit strongly from disturbance events while specialists and late-seral species – which are often a priority for conservation – could be negatively affected (Devictor & Robert, 2009). Moreover, disturbances might benefit invasive alien species (see e.g. Crawford *et al.*, 2001), widely regarded as negative for biodiversity. Owing to the broad scope of this study such aspects were not explicitly considered in our analysis. They might, however, be of high relevance in local assessments and management decisions, and could thus strongly modify the disturbance paradox, described here based on a global synthesis for boreal and temperate forests. A context-specific assessment of biodiversity effects at the level of guilds, red-listed species, and alien/native/endemic species in future studies is thus suggested in order to scrutinize further the generality of the disturbance paradox presented here.

(3) The disturbance paradox and how to address it in ecosystem management

We found strong evidence for the existence of the disturbance paradox in our global analysis of disturbance impact. Disturbance effects on ecosystem services and biodiversity clearly differ in the published literature, with ecosystem services being overall negatively affected while biodiversity is predominately positively influenced by natural disturbances. Our metaanalysis of the disturbance effect on species richness and total ecosystem carbon storage aptly illustrates this paradox: while species richness increases by 35.6% on average for a high-severity disturbance event, a simultaneous loss of 38.5% of total ecosystem carbon storage is to be expected. When management goals are to increase carbon storage while at the same time fostering biological diversity, managers are faced with ambiguity with regard to assessing the impact of a disturbance event, and gauging the implications of future disturbance regimes. Are disturbances to be prevented (as far as possible) to reduce negative impacts on ecosystem services, or are they to be welcomed and incorporated into management due to their positive effects on biodiversity?

While our global study cannot resolve this paradox of ecosystem management – which needs to be addressed in the local context of stakeholder preferences, habitat quality, and other

constraints – several interesting insights for disturbance management can be deduced from our analysis. Since negative disturbance impacts on carbon storage are strongly reduced with time since disturbance, but positive effects on biodiversity do not vary significantly over time, our global meta-analysis suggests that managing for a low- to medium-frequency disturbance regime would result in limited impacts on provisioning services while still benefiting biodiversity. In other words, our data indicate that the disturbance event itself matters for biodiversity, while having enough time between these events ensures recovery of ecosystem services. Albeit not significant in our analysis, the same is true with regard to severity, i.e. moderate- or mixed-severity disturbances (see e.g. Perry *et al.*, 2011) are likely to be the best balance between negative effects on ecosystem services and positive effects on biodiversity. Traditional disturbance management approaches such as salvage harvesting and prescribed burning, for instance, are not able to moderate between negative ecosystem service impacts and positive diversity effects according to our analysis. We even found a higher proportion of papers reporting negative effects from prescribed burning on ecosystem services provisioning compared to wildfire. However, due to sample-size limitations we were not able to analyze these data for differences in effect size, although differences in severity (i.e. mean severity over all studies for prescribed burning=26.2%, wildfire=88.1%) suggest a positive effect of prescribed burning (Hurteau & North, 2009; Meigs et al., 2009).

Ongoing climatic changes will likely increase disturbance frequency and severity in many parts of the world (Temperli *et al.*, 2013; Li *et al.*, 2013; Seidl *et al.*, 2014) which – according to our findings – may have negative implications for ecosystem service provisioning. Hence, adaptation of forest ecosystems to such changes in disturbance regime is of great importance in current forest ecosystem management, in order to sustain future ecosystem services provisioning to society. However, as many important drivers of the disturbance regime such as species composition respond to management changes only on time scales of decades to centuries (e.g. Hicke & Jenkins, 2008; Thom *et al.*, 2013), such management considerations need to take long lead-times into account. On the other hand, our analysis indicates that intensifying disturbance regimes may also represent an opportunity to foster biodiversity in forest ecosystems, and might thus to some degree alleviate the ongoing biodiversity crisis (Thomas *et al.*, 2004; Stuart *et al.*, 2004). In this context it is interesting to note that more diverse ecosystems are often more resistant and resilient to disturbance impacts (Bengtsson *et*

al., 2000), so that in the long term disturbance effects on ecosystem services might be buffered by increasing structural and compositional diversity.

CONCLUSIONS

- (1) Over the last decades, the number of peer-reviewed publications on forest disturbances and their effects has increased, mirroring the increasing relevance of disturbance regimes and the changes therein. However, the available literature is heterogeneously distributed over agents and regions, with most studies addressing forests in North America and Europe, and mainly focusing on fire impacts.
- (2) Disturbances in forest ecosystems can have both positive and negative impacts on objectives relevant to ecosystem management. We here find that ecosystem services of all four categories defined by the MEA (2005) (provisioning, supporting, regulating, and cultural) are predominately negatively impacted by natural disturbances. Biological diversity, as represented by species richness, habitat quality, and diversity indices is, on the other hand, predominately positively affected by natural disturbances.
- (3) In a meta-analysis we determined that on average a disturbance event decreases total ecosystem carbon by 38.5% (standardized coefficient for a stand-replacing disturbance event in the year of the disturbance), while species richness increases by on average 35.6%.
- (4) For ecosystem management, which aims to provide ecosystem services sustainably to society while preserving and fostering biodiversity, these divergent disturbance impacts present a paradox they are at the same time risk factors and facilitators of management objectives. Our analysis suggests that measures of disturbance management such as salvage logging and prescribed burning do not significantly moderate these diverging impacts. However, a meta-analysis of carbon storage (an important regulating service in the context of climate change mitigation) and biodiversity suggests that managing for a disturbance regime of low to medium frequency and severity could limit impacts on ecosystem services while still being beneficial for biodiversity.
- (5) Our review suggests that intensifying disturbance regimes under climate change will largely benefit biological diversity of forest ecosystems. Ecosystem services provisioning on the other hand will mostly be negatively impacted by such changes in the disturbance

regime. This might require a timely adaptation to changing disturbance regimes in order to provide important ecosystem services sustainably in the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by the project "Climate sensitivity of disturbance regimes and implications for forest ecosystem management" (DICE), funded by the Austrian Science Fund FWF (grant P 25503-B16). R. Seidl acknowledges further support by a European Commission's Marie Curie Career Integration Grant (PCIG12-GA-2012-334104). We thank M. Pedro and F. Pasztor as well as two anonymous reviewers for helpful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- ABBOTT, I., LIDDELOW, G.L., VELLIOS, C.V., MELLICAN, A.E. & WILLIAMS, M.R. (2011). Forestcheck: the response of birds to silviculture in jarrah (*Eucalyptus marginata*) forest. *Australian Forestry* **74**, 328–335.
- ABRAMS, M.D., SPRUGEL, D.G. & DICKMANN, D.I. (1985). Multiple successional pathways on recently disturbed jack pine sites in Michigan. *Forest Ecology and Management* **10**, 31–48.
- AGER, A.A., FINNEY, M.A., KERNS, B.K. & MAFFEI, H. (2007). Modeling wildfire risk to northern spotted owl (*Strix occidentalis caurina*) habitat in Central Oregon, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **246**, 45–56.
- AMIRO, B.D., BARR, A.G., BLACK, T.A., IWASHITA, H., KLJUN, N., MCCAUGHEY, J.H., MORGENSTERN, K., MURAYAMA, S., NESIC, Z., ORCHANSKY, A.L. & SAIGUSA, N. (2006). Carbon, energy and water fluxes at mature and disturbed forest sites, Saskatchewan, Canada. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 136, 237–251.
- AMIRO, B.D., CHEN, J.M. & LIU, J. (2000). Net primary productivity following forest fire for Canadian ecoregions. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **30**, 939–947.
- AMMANN, M., BÖLL, A., RICKLI, C., SPECK T. & HOLDENRIEDER, O. (2009). Significance of tree root decomposition for shallow landslides. *Forest Snow and Landscape Research* 82, 79–94.
- ARAVENA, J.C., CARMONA, M.R., PÉREZ, C.A. & ARMESTO, J.J. (2002). Changes in tree species richness, stand structure and soil properties in a successional chronosequence in northern Chiloé Island, Chile. *Revista Chilena de Historia Natural* **75**, 339–360.
- ARKLE, R.S. & PILLIOD, D.S. (2010). Prescribed fires as ecological surrogates for wildfires: a stream and riparian perspective. *Forest Ecology and Management* **259**, 893–903.
- ARMSTRONG, G.W. (2004). Sustainability of timber supply considering the risk of wildfire. *Forest Science* **50**, 626–639.
- ARTHUR, M.A., PARATLEY, R.D. & BLANKENSHIP, B.A. (1998). Single and repeated fires affect survival and regeneration of woody and herbaceous species in an oak-pine forest. *Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society* **125**, 225–236.

- AZERIA, E.T., BOUCHARD, M., POTHIER, D., FORTIN, D. & HÉBERT, C. (2011). Using biodiversity deconstruction to disentangle assembly and diversity dynamics of understorey plants along post-fire succession in boreal forest. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 20, 119–133.
- AZEVEDO, J.C., POSSACOS, A., AGUIAR, C.F., AMADO, A., MIGUEL, L., DIAS, R., LOUREIRO, C. & FERNANDES, P.M. (2013). The role of holm oak edges in the control of disturbance and conservation of plant diversity in fire-prone landscapes. *Forest Ecology and Management* 297, 37–48.
- BACHELET, D., NEILSON, R.P., LENIHAN, J.M. & DRAPEK, R.J. (2004). Regional differences in the carbon source-sink potential of natural vegetation in the U.S.A. *Environmental Management* **33**, S23–S43.
- BALSHI, M.S., MCGUIRE, A.D., DUFFY, P., FLANNIGAN, M., KICKLIGHTER, D.W. & MELILLO, J. (2009). Vulnerability of carbon storage in North American boreal forests to wildfires during the 21st century. *Global Change Biology* 15, 1491–1509.
- BALSHI, M.S., MCGUIRE, A.D., ZHUANG, Q., MELILLO, J., KICKLIGHTER, D.W., KASISCHKE, E., WIRTH, C., FLANNIGAN, M., HARDEN, J., CLEIN, J.S., BURNSIDE, T.J., MCALLISTER, J., KURZ, W.A., APPS, M. & SHVIDENKO, A. (2007). The role of historical fire disturbance in the carbon dynamics of the pan-boreal region: a process-based analysis. *Journal of Geophysical Research* 112, 1–18.
- BANFIELD, G.E., BHATTI, J.S., JIANG, H. & APPS, M.J. (2002). Variability in regional scale estimates of carbon stocks in boreal forest ecosystems: results from West-Central Alberta. *Forest Ecology and Management* **169**, 15–27.
- BANKS, S.C., BLYTON, M.D.J., BLAIR, D., MCBURNEY, L. & LINDENMAYER, D.B. (2012). Adaptive responses and disruptive effects: how major wildfire influences kinship-based social interactions in a forest marsupial. *Molecular Ecology* **21**, 673–684.
- BANKS, S.C., KNIGHT, E.J., MCBURNEY, L., BLAIR, D. & LINDENMAYER, D.B. (2011). The effects of wildfire on mortality and resources for an arboreal marsupial: resilience to fire events but susceptibility to fire regime change. *PLoS one* **6**, e22952.
- BANSAL, S., NILSSON, M.-C. & WARDLE, D.A. (2012). Response of photosynthetic carbon gain to ecosystem retrogression of vascular plants and mosses in the boreal forest. *Oecologia* **169**, 661–672.
- BARTON, A.M., SWETNAM, T.W. & BAISAN, C.H. (2001). Arizona pine (*Pinus arizonica*) stand dynamics: local and regional factors in a fire-prone madrean gallery forest of Southeast Arizona, USA. *Landscape Ecology* **16**, 351–369.
- BÄSSLER, C., MÜLLER, J., SVOBODA, M., LEPŠOVÁ, A., HAHN, C., HOLZER, H. & POUSKA, V. (2012). Diversity of wood-decaying fungi under different disturbance regimes-A case study from spruce mountain forests. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 21, 33–49.
- BEBI, P., TEICH, M., HAGEDORN, F., ZURBRIGGEN, N., BRUNNER, S.H. & GRÊT-REGAMEY, A. (2012). Changes in forest cover and ecosystem services in Davos under climate change [Veränderung von Wald und Waldleistungen in der Landschaft Davos im Zuge des Klimawandels]. Schweizerische Zeitschrift für Forstwesen 163, 493–501.
- BEKESSY, S.A., WINTLE, B.A., GORDON, A., FOX, J.C., CHISHOLM, R., BROWN, B., REGAN, T., MOONEY, N., READ, S.M. & BURGMAN, M.A. (2009). Modelling human impacts on the Tasmanian wedge-tailed eagle (*Aquila audax fleayi*). *Biological Conservation*, 142, 2438–2448.
- BENDIX, J. & COWELL, C.M. (2010). Impacts of wildfire on the composition and structure of riparian forests in Southern California. *Ecosystems* 13, 99–107.BENGTSSON, J., NILSSON,

S.G., FRANC, A. & MENOZZI, P. (2000). Biodiversity, disturbances, ecosystem function and management of European forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **132**, 39–50.

- BERGERON, Y., LEDUC, A., HARVEY, B.D. & GAUTHIER, S. (2002). Natural fire regime : a guide for sustainable management of the Canadian boreal forest. *Silva Fennica* **36**, 81–95.
- BERGLUND, H., JÖNSSON, M.T., PENTTILÄ, R. & VANHA-MAJAMAA, I. (2011). The effects of burning and dead-wood creation on the diversity of pioneer wood-inhabiting fungi in managed boreal spruce forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **261**, 1293–1305.
- BESS, E.C., PARMENTER, R.R., MCCOY, S. & MOLLES JR., M.C. (2002). Responses of a riparian forest-floor arthropod community to wildfire in the middle Rio Grande Valley, New Mexico. *Environmental Entomology* **31**, 774–784.
- BHARDWAJ, M., UNIYAL, V.P., SANYAL, A.K. & SINGH, A.P. (2012). Butterfly communities along an elevational gradient in the Tons valley, Western Himalayas: implications of rapid assessment for insect conservation. *Journal of Asia-Pacific Entomology* **15**, 207–217.
- BJUNE, A.E., OHLSON, M., BIRKS, H.J.B. & BRADSHAW, R.H.W. (2009). The development and local stand-scale dynamics of a *Picea abies* forest in southeastern Norway. *Holocene* **19**, 1073–1082.
- BLAIS, J.M., FRANCE, R.L., KIMPE, L.E. & CORNETT, R.J. (1998). Climatic changes in northwestern Ontario have had a greater effect on erosion and sediment accumulation than logging and fire: evidence from 210Pb chronology in lake sediments. *Biogeochemistry* **43**, 235–252.
- BLARQUEZ, O., BREMOND, L. & CARCAILLET, C. (2010*a*). Holocene fires and a herbdominated understorey track wetter climates in subalpine forests. *Journal of Ecology* **98**, 1358–1368.
- BLARQUEZ, O., CARCAILLET, C., BREMOND, L., MOURIER, B. & RADAKOVITCH, O. (2010b). Trees in the subalpine belt since 11 700 cal. BP: origin, expansion and alteration of the modern forest. *Holocene* 20, 139–146.
- BOGLE, T. & VAN KOOTEN, G.C. (2013). Options for maintaining forest productivity after natural disturbance: a principal-agent approach. *Forest Policy and Economics* **26**, 138–144.
- BOGLE, T. & VAN KOOTEN, G.C. (2012). Why mountain pine beetle exacerbates a principalagent relationship: exploring strategic policy responses to beetle attack in a mixed species forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **42**, 621–630.
- BOND-LAMBERTY, B., PECKHAM, S.D., AHL, D.E. & GOWER, S.T. (2007). Fire as the dominant driver of central Canadian boreal forest carbon balance. *Nature* **450**, 89–92.
- BORK, E.W., HUDSON, R.J. & BAILEY, A.W. (1997). *Populus* forest characterization in Elk Island National Park relative to herbivory, prescribed fire, and topography. *Canadian Journal of Botany* **75**, 1518–1526.
- BOUCHER, J., AZERIA, E.T., IBARZABAL, J. & HÉBERT, C. (2012). Saproxylic beetles in disturbed boreal forests: temporal dynamics, habitat associations, and community structure. *Ecoscience* **19**, 328–343.
- BOUGET, C. (2005). Short-term effect of windstorm disturbance on saproxylic beetles in broadleaved temperate forests Part I: Do environmental changes induce a gap effect? *Forest Ecology and Management* **216**, 1–14.
- BOURG, N.A., MCSHEA, W.J. & GILL, D.E. (2005). Putting a CART before the search: successful habitat prediction for a rare forest herb. *Ecology* **86**, 2793–2804.

- BRADFORD, J.B., FRAVER, S., MILO, A.M., D'AMATO, A.W., PALIK, B. & SHINNEMAN, D.J. (2012). Effects of multiple interacting disturbances and salvage logging on forest carbon stocks. *Forest Ecology and Management* **267**, 209–214.
- BRAITHWAITE, N.T. & MALLIK, A.U. (2012). Edge effects of wildfire and riparian buffers along boreal forest streams. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **49**, 192–201.
- BRAWN, J.D. (2006). Effects of restoring oak savannas on bird communities and populations. *Conservation Biology* **20**, 460–469.
- BREWER, J.S., BERTZ, C.A., CANNON, J.B., CHESSER, J.D. & MAYNARD, E.E. (2012). Do natural disturbances or the forestry practices that follow them convert forests to early-successional communities? *Ecological Applications* **22**, 442–458.
- BRIGHT, B.C., HICKE, J.A. & HUDAK, A.T. (2012). Estimating aboveground carbon stocks of a forest affected by mountain pine beetle in Idaho using lidar and multispectral imagery. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **124**, 270–281.
- BROWN, C.D. & JOHNSTONE, J.F. (2011). How does increased fire frequency affect carbon loss from fire? A case study in the northern boreal forest. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **20**, 829–837.
- BROWN, M., BLACK, T.A., NESIC, Z., FOORD, V.N., SPITTLEHOUSE, D.L., FREDEEN, A.L., GRANT, N.J., BURTON, P.J. & TROFYMOW, J.A. (2010). Impact of mountain pine beetle on the net ecosystem production of lodgepole pine stands in British Columbia. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* **150**, 254–264.
- BRUDVIG, L.A., WAGNER, S.A. & DAMSCHEN, E.I. (2012). Corridors promote fire via connectivity and edge effects. *Ecological Applications* 22, 937–946.
- BUCHALSKI, M.R., FONTAINE, J.B., HEADY III, P.A., HAYES, J.P. & FRICK, W.F. (2013).Bat response to differing fire severity in mixed-conifer forest California, USA. *PLoS one* **8**, e57884.
- BUDDLE, C.M., LANGOR, D.W., POHL, G.R. & SPENCE, J.R. (2006). Arthropod responses to harvesting and wildfire: implications for emulation of natural disturbance in forest management. *Biological Conservation* **128**, 346–357.
- BUHK, C., GÖTZENBERGER, L., WESCHE, K., GÓMEZ, P.S. & HENSEN, I. (2006). Post-fire regeneration in a Mediterranean pine forest with historically low fire frequency. *Acta Oecologica* **30**, 288–298.
- BUSCARDO, E., RODRÍGUEZ-ECHEVERRÍA, S., BARRICO, L., GARCÍA, M.Á., FREITAS, H., MARTÍN, M.P., DE ANGELIS, P. & MULLER, L.A.H. (2012). Is the potential for the formation of common mycorrhizal networks influenced by fire frequency? *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry 46, 136–144.
- BUSCARDO, E., RODRÍGUEZ-ECHEVERRÍA, S., MARTÍN, M.P., DE ANGELIS, P., PEREIRA, J.S. & FREITAS, H. (2010). Impact of wildfire return interval on the ectomycorrhizal resistant propagules communities of a Mediterranean open forest. *Fungal Biology* **114**, 628–636.
- BUSING, R.T., WHITE, R.D., HARMON, M.E. & WHITE, P.S. (2009). Hurricane disturbance in a temperate deciduous forest: patch dynamics, tree mortality, and coarse woody detritus. *Plant Ecology* **201**, 351–363.
- BYRNE, K.E. & MITCHELL, S.J. (2013). Testing of WindFIRM/ForestGALES_BC: a hybridmechanistic model for predicting windthrow in partially harvested stands. *Forestry* **86**, 185–199.
- CAMP, A.E. (1999). Age structure and species composition changes resulting from altered disturbance regimes on the eastern slopes of the cascades range, Washington. Journal of Sustainable *Forestry* **9**, 39–67.

- CAMPBELL, I.D. & CAMPBELL, C. (2000). Late holocene vegetation and fire history at the southern boreal forest margin in Alberta, Canada. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* **164**, 263–280.
- CAMPBELL, J.W., HANULA, J.L. & WALDROP, T.A. (2007). Effects of prescribed fire and fire surrogates on floral visiting insects of the blue ridge province in North Carolina. *Biological Conservation* **134**, 393–404.
- CAMPBELL, J.W., HANULA, J.L. & WALDROP, T.A. (2008). Effects of prescribed fire and fire surrogates on saproxylic Coleoptera in the southern Appalachians of North Carolina. *Journal of Entomological Science* **43**, 57–75.
- CANADELL, J.G. & RAUPACH, M.R. (2008). Managing forests for climate change mitigation. *Science* **320**, 1456–1457.
- CAPITANIO, R. & CARCAILLET, C. (2008). Post-fire Mediterranean vegetation dynamics and diversity: a discussion of succession models. *Forest Ecology and Management* 255, 431–439.CARCAILLET, C., ALI, A.A., BLARQUEZ, O., GENRIES, A., MOURIER, B. & BREMOND, L. (2009). Spatial variability of fire history in subalpine forests: from natural to cultural regimes. *Ecoscience* 16, 1–12.
- CARLSON, C.H., DOBROWSKI, S.Z. & SAFFORD, H.D. (2012). Variation in tree mortality and regeneration affect forest carbon recovery following fuel treatments and wildfire in the Lake Tahoe Basin, California, USA. *Carbon Balance and Management* **7**, 1–17.
- CARMONA, M.R., ARMESTO, J.J., ARAVENA, J.C. & PÉREZ, C.A. (2002). Coarse woody debris biomass in successional and primary temperate forests in Chiloé Island, Chile. *Forest Ecology and Management* **164**, 265–275.
- CARNUS, J., PARROTTA, J., BROCKERHOFF, E., ARBEZ, M., KREMER, A., LAMB, D., HARA, K.O. & WALTERS, B. (2006). Planted forests and biodiversity. *Journal of Forestry* **104**, 65–77.
- CATLING, P. (2009). Vascular plant diversity in burned and unburned alvar woodland: more evidence of the importance of disturbance to biodiversity and conservation. *Canadian Field-Naturalist* **123**, 240–245.
- CHAPIN, F.S., MCGUIRE, A.D., RANDERSON, J., PIELKE SR., R., BALDOCCHI, D., HOBBIE, S.E., ROULET, N., EUGSTER, W., KASISCHKE, E., RASTETTER, E.B., ZIMOV, A.S. & RUNNING, S.W. (2000). Arctic and boreal ecosystems of western North America as components of the climate system. *Global Change Biology* 6, 211–223.
- CHAPMAN, J.I. & MCEWAN, R.W. (2012). Tree regeneration ecology of an old-growth central Appalachian forest: diversity, temporal dynamics, and disturbance response. *Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society* **139**, 194–205.
- CHEN, H.Y.H. & SHRESTHA, B.M. (2012). Stand age, fire and clearcutting affect soil organic carbon and aggregation of mineral soils in boreal forests. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **50**, 149–157.
- CHEN, J.M., JU, W., CIHLAR, J., PRICE, D., LIU, J., CHEN, W., PAN, J., BLACK, A. & BARR, A. (2003). Spatial distribution of carbon sources and sinks in Canada's forests. *Tellus* **55B**, 622–641.
- CHEN, W., CHEN, J. & CIHLAR, J. (2000). An integrated terrestrial ecosystem carbon-budget model based on changes in disturbance, climate, and atmospheric chemistry. *Ecological Modelling* **135**, 55–79.
- CHERTOV, O., BHATTI, J.S., KOMAROV, A., MIKHAILOV, A. & BYKHOVETS, S. (2009). Influence of climate change, fire and harvest on the carbon dynamics of black spruce in Central Canada. *Forest Ecology and Management* **257**, 941–950.
- CHIANG, J.-M., MCEWAN, R.W., YAUSSY, D.A. & BROWN, K.J. (2008). The effects of prescribed fire and silvicultural thinning on the aboveground carbon stocks and net

primary production of overstory trees in an oak-hickory ecosystem in southern Ohio. *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 1584–1594.

- CHIPMAN, S.J. & JOHNSON, E.A. (2002). Understory vascular plant species diversity in the mixedwood boreal forest of western Canada. *Ecological Applications* **12**, 588–601.
- CISSEL, J.H., SWANSON, F.J., GRANT, G.E., OLSON, D.H., GREGORY, S.V., GARMAN, S.L., ASHKENAS, L.R., HUNTER, M.G., KERTIS, J.A., MAYO, J.H., MCSWAIN, M.D., SWETLAND, S.G., SWINDLE, K.A., WALLIN, D.O. (1998). A landscape plan based on historical fire regimes for a managed forest ecosystem: the Augusta Creek study. USDA Forest Service - General Technical Report PNW 422, 1–82.
- CLARIDGE, A.W., TRAPPE, J.M., MILLS, D.J. & CLARIDGE, D.L. (2009). Diversity and habitat relationships of hypogeous fungi. III. Factors influencing the occurrence of fire-adapted species. *Mycological Research* **113**, 792–801.
- CLARK, D.A., ANTHONY, R.G. & ANDREWS, L.S. (2013). Relationship between wildfire, salvage logging, and occupancy of nesting territories by northern spotted owls. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **77**, 672–688.
- CLARK, J.S., DANIEL ROYALL, P. & CHUMBLEY, C. (1996). The role of fire during climate change in an eastern deciduous forest at Devil's Bathtub, New York. *Ecology* 77, 2148–2166.
- CLAVERO, M., BROTONS, L. & HERRANDO, S. (2011). Bird community specialization, bird conservation and disturbance: the role of wildfires. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **80**, 128–136.
- COBB, T.P., LANGOR, D.W. & SPENCE, J.R. (2007). Biodiversity and multiple disturbances: boreal forest ground beetle (Coleoptera: Carabidae) responses to wildfire, harvesting, and herbicide. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **37**, 1310–1323.
- COBB, T.P., MORISSETTE, J.L., JACOBS, J.M., KOIVULA, M.J., SPENCE, J.R. & LANGOR, D.W. (2011). Effects of postfire salvage logging on deadwood-associated beetles [Efectos del Rescate de Madera Después de Incendios sobre Escarabajos Asociados a Madera Muerta]. Conservation Biology 25, 1310–1323.
- COLEMAN, T.W. & RIESKE, L.K. (2006). Arthropod response to prescription burning at the soil-litter interface in oak-pine forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* 233, 52–60.
- COLOMBAROLI, D., BECKMANN, M., VAN DER KNAAP, W.O., CURDY, P. & TINNER, W. (2013). Changes in biodiversity and vegetation composition in the central Swiss Alps during the transition from pristine forest to first farming. *Diversity and Distributions* **19**, 157–170.
- COLOMBAROLI, D., TINNER, W., VAN LEEUWEN, J., NOTI, R., VESCOVI, E., VANNIÈRE, B., MAGNY, M., SCHMIDT, R. & BUGMANN, H. (2009). Response of broadleaved evergreen Mediterranean forest vegetation to fire disturbance during the Holocene: insights from the peri-Adriatic region. *Journal of Biogeography* 36, 314–326.
- COLOMBO, S.J., CHEN, J., TER-MIKAELIAN, M.T., MCKECHNIE, J., ELKIE, P.C., MACLEAN, H.L. & HEATH, L.S. (2012). Forest protection and forest harvest as strategies for ecological sustainability and climate change mitigation. *Forest Ecology and Management* **281**, 140–151.
- CONARD, S.G., SUKHININ, A.I., STOCKS, B.J., CAHOON, D.R., DAVIDENKO, E.P. & IVANOVA, G.A. (2002). Determining effects of area burned and fire severity on carbon cycling and emissions in Siberia. *Climatic Change* **55**, 197–211.
- CONCILIO, A., MA, S., RYU, S.-R., NORTH, M. & CHEN, J. (2006). Soil respiration response to experimental disturbances over 3 years. *Forest Ecology and Management* **228**, 82–90.
- CONVERSE, S.J., WHITE, G.C. & BLOCK, W.M. (2006). Small mammal responses to thinning and wildfire in ponderosa pine-dominated forests of the southwestern United States. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **70**, 1711–1722.
- COOMES, D.A., HOLDAWAY, R.J., KOBE, R.K., LINES, E.R. & ALLEN, R.B. (2012). A general integrative framework for modelling woody biomass production and carbon sequestration rates in forests. *Journal of Ecology* **100**, 42–64.
- COOPS, N.C. & WULDER, M.A. (2010). Estimating the reduction in gross primary production due to mountain pine beetle infestation using satellite observations. *International Journal of Remote Sensing* **31**, 2129–2138.
- COTT, P., ZAJDLIK, B., BOURASSA, K.J., LANGE, M. & GORDON, A.M. (2010). Effects of forest fire on young-of-the-year Northern Pike, *Esox lucius*, in the Northwest Territories. *Canadian Field-Naturalist* **124**, 104–112.
- COURSOLLE, C., MARGOLIS, H.A., BARR, A.G., BLACK, T.A., AMIRO, B.D., MCCAUGHEY, J.H., FLANAGAN, L.B., LAFLEUR, P.M., ROULET, N.T., BOURQUE, C.P.-A., ARAIN, M.A., WOFSY, S.C., DUNN, A., MORGENSTERN, K., ORCHANSKY, A.L., BERNIER, P.Y., CHEN, J.M., KIDSTON, J., SAIGUSA, N. & HEDSTROM, N. (2006). Late-summer carbon fluxes from Canadian forests and peatlands along an east-west continental transect. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 36, 783–800.
- COWDEN, C.C. & PETERSON, C.J. (2013). Annual and seasonal dynamics of ectomycorrhizal fungi colonizing white pine (*Pinus strobus*) seedlings following catastrophic windthrow in northern Georgia, USA. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **43**, 215–223.
- CRAIG, M.D., HOBBS, R.J., GRIGG, A.H., GARKAKLIS, M.J., GRANT, C.D., FLEMING, P.A. & HARDY, G.E.S.J. (2010). Do thinning and burning sites revegetated after bauxite mining improve habitat for terrestrial vertebrates? *Restoration Ecology* 18, 300–310.
- CRAWFORD, J.A., WAHREN, C.-H.A., KYLE, S. & MOIR, W.H. (2001). Responses of exotic plant species to fires in *Pinus ponderosa* forests in northern Arizona. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **12**, 261–268.
- CRUISE, G.M., MACPHAIL, R.I., LINDERHOLM, J., MAGGI, R. & MARSHALL, P.D. (2009). Lago di Bargone, Liguria, N Italy: a reconstruction of Holocene environmental and land-use history. *Holocene* **19**, 987–1003.
- CUCHTA, P., MIKLISOVÁ, D. & KOVÁC, L. (2012*a*). Changes within collembolan communities in windthrown European montane spruce forests 2 years after disturbance by fire. *Annals of Forest Science* **69**, 81–92.
- CUCHTA, P., MIKLISOVÁ, D. & KOVÁC, L. (2012b). The impact of disturbance and ensuing forestry practices on Collembola in monitored stands of windthrown forest in the Tatra National Park (Slovakia). *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment* **185**, 5085–5098.
- CZIMCZIK, C.I., PRESTON, C.M., SCHMIDT, M.W.I. & SCHULZE, E.-D. (2003). How surface fire in Siberian Scots pine forests affects soil organic carbon in the forest floor: stocks, molecular structure, and conversion to black carbon (charcoal). *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **17**, 1–13.
- DALY, C., BACHELET, D., LENIHAN, J.M., NEILSON, R.P., PARTON, W. & OJIMA, D. (2000). Dynamic simulation of tree-grass interactions for global change studies. *Ecological Applications* **10**, 449–469
- D'AMATO, A.W., FRAVER, S., PALIK, B.J., BRADFORD, J.B. & PATTY, L. (2011). Singular and interactive effects of blowdown, salvage logging, and wildfire in sub-boreal pine systems. *Forest Ecology and Management* **262**, 2070–2078.

- DAVIS, M.R., ALLEN, R.B. & CLINTON, P.W. (2003). Carbon storage along a stand development sequence in a New Zealand *Nothofagus* forest. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 177, 313–321.
- DAWSON, R.D. & BORTOLOTTI, G.R. (2006). Fire in the boreal forest: proximate effects on reproduction and long-term consequences for territory occupancy of American kestrels. *Ecoscience* **13**, 75–81.
- DEATH, R.G., BAILLIE, B. & FRANSEN, P. (2003). Effect of *Pinus radiata* logging on stream invertebrate communities in Hawke's Bay, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* **37**, 507–520.
- DEGAYNER, E.J., KRAMER, M.G., DOERR, J.G. & ROBERTSEN, M.J. (2005). Windstorm disturbance effects on forest structure and black bear dens in southeast Alaska. *Ecological Applications* **15**, 1306–1316.
- DEGEN, T., DEVILLEZ, F. & JACQUEMART, A.-L. (2005). Gaps promote plant diversity in beech forests (*Luzulo-Fagetum*), North Vosges, France. *Annals of Forest Science* **62**, 429–440.
- DELONG, S.C. & KESSLER, W.B. (2000). Ecological characteristics of mature forest remnants left by wildfire. *Forest Ecology and Management* **131**, 93–106.
- DELONG, S.C. & TANNER, D. (1996). Managing the pattern of forest harvest: lessons from wildfire. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 5, 1191–1205.
- DESANTIS, R.D., HALLGREN, S.W., LYNCH, T.B., BURTON, J.A. & PALMER, M.W. (2010). Long-term directional changes in upland *Quercus* forests throughout Oklahoma, USA. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **21**, 606–618.
- DEVICTOR, V. & ROBERT, A. (2009). Measuring community responses to large-scale disturbance in conservation biogeography. *Diversity and Distributions* **15**, 122–130.
- DIADEMA, K., MÉDAIL, F. & BRETAGNOLLE, F. (2007). Fire as a control agent of demographic structure and plant performance of a rare Mediterranean endemic geophyte. *Comptes Rendus Biologies* **330**, 691–700.
- DICKSON, B.G., NOON, B.R., FLATHER, C.H., JENTSCH, S. & BLOCK, W.M. (2009). Quantifying the multi-scale response of avifauna to prescribed fire experiments in the southwest United States. *Ecological Applications* **19**, 608–621.
- DODGE, R.S., FULÉ, P.Z. & HULL SIEG, C. (2008). Dalmatian toadflax (*Linaria dalmatica*) response to wildfire in a southwestern USA forest. *Ecoscience* **15**, 213–222.
- DODSON, E.K. & PETERSON, D.W. (2009). Seeding and fertilization effects on plant cover and community recovery following wildfire in the Eastern Cascade Mountains, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **258**, 1586–1593.
- DODSON, E.K., PETERSON, D.W. & HARROD, R.J. (2008). Understory vegetation response to thinning and burning restoration treatments in dry conifer forests of the eastern Cascades, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 3130–3140.
- DODSON, E.K., METLEN, K.L. & FIEDLER, C.E. (2007). Common and uncommon understory species differentially respond to restoration treatments in ponderosa pine/Douglas-fir forests, Montana. *Restoration Ecology* **15**, 696–708.
- DON, A., BÄRWOLFF, M., KALBITZ, K., ANDRUSCHKEWITSCH, R., JUNGKUNST, H.F. & SCHULZE, E.-D. (2012). No rapid soil carbon loss after a windthrow event in the High Tatra. *Forest Ecology and Management* **276**, 239–246.
- DONATO, D.C., FONTAINE, J.B., CAMPBELL, J.L., ROBINSON, W.D., KAUFFMAN, J.B. & LAW, B.E. (2006). Post-wildfire logging hinders regeneration and increases fire risk. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **311**, 352.

- DONATO, D.C., FONTAINE, J.B., ROBINSON, W.D., KAUFFMAN, J.B. & LAW, B.E. (2009). Vegetation response to a short interval between high-severity wildfires in a mixed-evergreen forest. *Journal of Ecology* **97**, 142–154.
- DONNER, D.M., PROBST, J.R. & RIBIC, C.A. (2008). Influence of habitat amount, arrangement, and use on population trend estimates of male Kirtland's warblers. *Landscape Ecology* **23**, 467–480.
- DORE, S., KOLB, T.E., MONTES-HELU, M., ECKERT, S.E., SULLIVAN, B.W., HUNGATE, B.A., KAYE, J.P., HART, S.C., KOCH, G.W. & FINKRAL, A. (2010). Carbon and water fluxes from ponderosa pine forests disturbed by wildfire and thinning. *Ecological Applications* 20, 663–683.
- DORE, S., KOLB, T.E., MONTES-HELU, M., SULLIVAN, B.W., WINSLOW, W.D., HART, S.C., KAYE, J.P., KOCH, G.W. & HUNGATE, B.A. (2008). Long-term impact of a standreplacing fire on ecosystem CO2 exchange of a ponderosa pine forest. *Global Change Biology* 14, 1801–1820.
- DORE, S., MONTES-HELU, M., HART, S.C., HUNGATE, B.A., KOCH, G.W., MOON, J.B., FINKRAL, A.J. & KOLB, T.E. (2012). Recovery of ponderosa pine ecosystem carbon and water fluxes from thinning and stand-replacing fire. *Global Change Biology* **18**, 3171–3185.
- DRISCOLL, D.A., KIRKPATRICK, J.B., MCQUILLAN, P.B. & BONHAM, K.J. (2010). Classic metapopulations are rare among common beetle species from a naturally fragmented landscape. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **79**, 294–303.
- DUN, S., WU, J.Q., ELLIOT, W.J., ROBICHAUD, P.R., FLANAGAN, D.C., FRANKENBERGER, J.R., BROWN, R.E. & XU, A.C. (2009). Adapting the Water Erosion Prediction Project (WEPP) model for forest applications. *Journal of Hydrology* **366**, 46–54.
- DUNFORD, J.S., MCLOUGHLIN, P.D., DALERUM, F. & BOUTIN, S. (2006). Lichen abundance in the peatlands of northern Alberta: implications for boreal caribou. *Ecoscience* **13**, 469–474.
- ELLIOTT, K.J., HITCHCOCK, S.L. & KRUEGER, L. (2002). Vegetation response to large scale disturbance in a southern Appalachian forest: hurricane Opal and salvage logging. *Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society* **129**, 48–59.
- ELLIOTT, K.J. & VOSE, J.M. (2005). Effects of understory prescribed burning on shortleaf pine (*Pinus echinata* Mill.)/mixed-hardwood forests. *Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society* 132, 236–251.
- EMELKO, M.B., SILINS, U., BLADON, K.D. & STONE, M. (2011). Implications of land disturbance on drinking water treatability in a changing climate: demonstrating the need for "source water supply and protection" strategies. *Water Research* **45**, 461–472.
- EUSKIRCHEN, E.S., MCGUIRE, A.D., RUPP, T.S., CHAPIN III, F.S. & WALSH, J.E. (2009). Projected changes in atmospheric heating due to changes in fire disturbance and the snow season in the western Arctic, 2003–2100. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **114**, G04022.
- EVERETT, R., SCHELLHAAS, D., SPURBECK, D., OHLSON, P., KEENUM, D. & ANDERSON, T. (1997). Structure of northern spotted owl nest stands and their historical conditions on the eastern slope of the Pacific Northwest Cascades, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **94**, 1–14.
- FAO (2010). Forest health and vitality. In *Global Forest Resources Assessment 2010*. pp. 65-84. Rome.

- FARR, J.D., WILLS, A.J., VAN HEURCK, P.F., MELLICAN, A.E. & WILLIAMS, M.R. (2011). Forestcheck: the response of macro-invertebrates to silviculture in jarrah (*Eucalyptus marginata*) forest. *Australian Forestry* 74, 315–327.
- FENTON, N.J. & BERGERON, Y. (2008). Does time or habitat make old-growth forests species rich? Bryophyte richness in boreal *Picea mariana* forests. *Biological Conservation* **141**, 1389–1399.
- FFOLLIOTT, P.F., STROPKI, C.L., CHEN, H. & NEARY, D.G. (2011). The 2002 Rodeo-Chediski wildfire's impacts on southwestern ponderosa pine ecosystems, hydrology, and fuels. USDA Forest Service - Research Paper RMRS-RP 85 RP, 1–36.
- FLINT, C., QIN, H. & GANNING, J.P. (2012). Linking local perceptions to the biophysical and amenity contexts of forest disturbance in Colorado. *Environmental Management* **49**, 553–569.
- FONTAINE, J.B., DONATO, D.C., ROBINSON, W.D., LAW, B.E. & KAUFFMAN, J.B. (2009). Bird communities following high-severity fire: response to single and repeat fires in a mixedevergreen forest, Oregon, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* 257, 1496–1504.
- FONTÚRBEL, M.T., BARREIRO, A., VEGA, J.A., MARTÍN, A., JIMÉNEZ, E., CARBALLAS, T., FERNÁNDEZ, C. & DÍAZ-RAVIÑA, M. (2012). Effects of an experimental fire and post-fire stabilization treatments on soil microbial communities. *Geoderma* **191**, 51–60.
- FRANKLIN, J.F., SPIES, T. A, PELT, R. VAN, CAREY, A.B., THORNBURGH, D. A, BERG, D.R., LINDENMAYER, D.B., HARMON, M.E., KEETON, W.S., SHAW, D.C., BIBLE, K. & CHEN, J. (2002). Disturbances and structural development of natural forest ecosystems with silvicultural implications, using Douglas-fir forests as an example. *Forest Ecology and Management* 155, 399–423.
- FRANKLIN, S.B., ROBERTSON, P.A. & FRALISH, J.S. (2003). Prescribed burning effects on upland *Quercus* forest structure and function. *Forest Ecology and Management* 184, 315–335.
- FUKUI, D., HIRAO, T., MURAKAMI, M. & HIRAKAWA, H. (2011). Effects of treefall gaps created by windthrow on bat assemblages in a temperate forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **261**, 1546–1552.
- FULÉ, P.Z., COVINGTON, W.W., SMITH, H.B., SPRINGER, J.D., HEINLEIN, T.A., HUISINGA, K.D., MOORE, M.M. (2002). Comparing ecological restoration alternatives: Grand Canyon, Arizona. Forest Ecology and Management 170, 19–41.
- GABOURY, S., BOUCHER, J.-F., VILLENEUVE, C., LORD, D. & GAGNON, R. (2009). Estimating the net carbon balance of boreal open woodland afforestation: a case-study in Québec's closed-crown boreal forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **257**, 483–494.
- GAGNON, P.R., PASSMORE, H.A. & PLATT, W.J. (2013). Multi-year salutary effects of windstorm and fire on river cane. *Fire Ecology* **9**, 55–65.
- GAINES, W.L., HARROD, R.J., DICKINSON, J., LYONS, A.L., HALUPKA, K. (2010). Integration of Northern spotted owl habitat and fuels treatments in the eastern Cascades, Washington, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **260**, 2045–2052.
- GANDHI, K.J.K., GILMORE, D.W., HAACK, R.A., KATOVICH, S.A., KRAUTH, S.J., MATTSON, W.J., ZASADA, J.C. & SEYBOLD, S.J. (2010). Application of semiochemicals to assess the biodiversity of subcortical insects following an ecosystem disturbance in a sub-boreal forest. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 35, 1384–1410.
- GANDHI, K.J.K., GILMORE, D.W., KATOVICH, S.A., MATTSON, W.J., ZASADA, J.C. & SEYBOLD, S.J. (2008). Catastrophic windstorm and fuel-reduction treatments alter ground beetle (Coleoptera: Carabidae) assemblages in a North American sub-boreal forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 256, 1104–1123.

- GARBALINSKA, P. & SKLODOWSKI, J. (2008). Body size differentiation in selected carabid species inhabiting puszcza piska forest stands disturbed by the hurricane. *Baltic Journal of Coleopterology* **8**, 101–114.
- GARDINER, B., BLENNOW, K., CARNUS, J.-M., FLEISCHER, P., INGEMARSON, F., LANDMANN, G., LINDNER, M., MARZANO, M., NICOLL, B., ORAZIO, C., PEYRON, J.-L., REVIRON, M.-P., SCHELHAAS, M.-J., SCHUCK, A., SPIELMANN, M. & USBECK, T. (2010). Destructive storms in European forests: past and forthcoming impacts, p. 138.
- GAULTON, R., HILKER, T., WULDER, M.A., COOPS, N.C. & STENHOUSE, G. (2011). Characterizing stand-replacing disturbance in western Alberta grizzly bear habitat, using a satellite-derived high temporal and spatial resolution change sequence. *Forest Ecology and Management* **261**, 865–877.
- GEORGE, C., ROWLAND, C., GERARD, F. & BALZTER, H. (2006). Retrospective mapping of burnt areas in Central Siberia using a modification of the normalised difference water index. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **104**, 346–359.
- GERALD, G.W., BAILEY, M.A. & HOLMES, J.N. (2006). Habitat utilization of *Pituophis melanoleucus melanoleucus* (Northern Pinesnakes) on Arnold Air Force Base in Middle Tennessee. *Southeastern Naturalist* **5**, 253–264.
- GLASGOW, L.S. & MATLACK, G.R. (2007). Prescribed burning and understory composition in a temperate deciduous forest, Ohio, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **238**, 54–64.
- GLAUBITZ, J.C., WU, H.X. & MORAN, G.F. (2003). Impacts of silviculture on genetic diversity in the native forest species *Eucalyptus sieberi*. *Conservation Genetics* **4**, 275–287.
- GONZÁLEZ-TAGLE, M.A., SCHWENDENMANN, L., PÉREZ, J.J. & SCHULZ, R. (2008). Forest structure and woody plant species composition along a fire chronosequence in mixed pine-oak forest in the Sierra Madre Oriental, Northeast Mexico. *Forest Ecology and Management* **256**, 161–167.
- GRANT, R.F., BLACK, T.A., GAUMONT-GUAY, D., KLUJN, N., BARR, A.G., MORGENSTERN, K. & NESIC, Z. (2006). Net ecosystem productivity of boreal aspen forests under drought and climate change: mathematical modelling with Ecosys. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 140, 152–170.
- GREENBERG, C.H. (2001). Response of reptile and amphibian communities to canopy gaps created by wind disturbance in the southern Appalachians. *Forest Ecology and Management* **148**, 135–144.
- GREENBERG, C.H. (2002). Response of white-footed mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*) to coarse woody debris and microsite use in southern Appalachian treefall gaps. *Forest Ecology* and Management **164**, 57–66.
- GREENBERG, C.H. & LANHAM, J.D. (2001). Breeding bird assemblages of hurricane-created gaps and adjacent closed canopy forest in the southern Appalachians. *Forest Ecology and Management* **154**, 251–260.
- GREENBERG, C.H. & MILLER, S. (2004). Soricid response to canopy gaps created by wind disturbance in the southern Appalachians. *Southeastern Naturalist* **3**, 715–732.
- GRIFFIS, K.L., CRAWFORD, J.A., WAGNER, M.R. & MOIR, W.H. (2001). Understory response to management treatments in northern Arizona ponderosa pine forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **146**, 239–245.
- GUSTAFSON, E.J., SHVIDENKO, A.Z., STURTEVANT, B.R. & SCHELLER, R.M. (2010). Predicting global change effects on forest biomass and composition in south-central Siberia. *Ecological Applications* **20**, 700–715.

- HAEUSSLER, S., BERGERON, Y., BRAIS, S. & HARVEY, B.D. (2007). Natural dynamics-based silviculture for maintaining plant biodiversity in *Populus tremuloides*-dominated boreal forests of eastern Canada. *Canadian Journal of Botany* **85**, 1158–1170.
- HAGEMANN, U., MORONI, M.T., SHAW, C.H., KURZ, W.A. & MAKESCHIN, F. (2010). Comparing measured and modelled forest carbon stocks in high-boreal forests of harvest and natural-disturbance origin in Labrador, Canada. *Ecological Modelling* 221, 825–839.
- HAIMI, J., FRITZE, H. & MOILANEN, P. (2000). Responses of soil decomposer animals to wood-ash fertilisation and burning in a coniferous forest stand. *Forest Ecology and Management* **129**, 53–61.
- HALMSCHLAGER, E. & KIRISITS, T. (2008). First report of the ash dieback pathogen *Chalara* fraxinea on *Fraxinus excelsior* in Austria. *Plant Pathology* **57**, 1177–1177.
- HAMLIN, B.T., KITTREDGE, W.T., LUBIN, D.P. & WRIGHT, E.B. (2012). Changes in the vascular flora of the middlesex fells reservation, Middlesex County, Massachusetts, from 1895 to 2011. *Rhodora* **114**, 229–308.
- HANCOCK, M.H., AMPHLETT, A., PROCTOR, R., DUGAN, D., WILLI, J., HARVEY, P. & SUMMERS, R.W. (2011). Burning and mowing as habitat management for capercaillie *Tetrao urogallus*: an experimental test. *Forest Ecology and Management* **262**, 509–521.
- HANSEN, M.C., STEHMAN, S. V & POTAPOV, P. V (2010). Quantification of global gross forest cover loss. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 8650–8655.
- HART, S.A. & CHEN, H.Y.H. (2008). Fire, logging, and overstory affect understory abundance, diversity, and composition in boreal forest. *Ecological Monographs* **78**, 123–140.
- HARVEY, B.J. & HOLZMAN, B.A. (2013). Divergent successional pathways of stand development following fire in a California closed-cone pine forest. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **1**, 99–99.
- HAYES, D.J., MCGUIRE, A.D., KICKLIGHTER, D.W., GURNEY, K.R., BURNSIDE, T.J. & MELILLO, J.M. (2011). Is the northern high-latitude land-based CO 2 sink weakening? *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* **25**, GB3018.
- HENDERSON, M.K. & KEITH, D.A. (2002). Correlation of burning and grazing indicators with composition of woody understorey flora of dells in a temperate eucalypt forest. *Austral Ecology* **27**, 121–131.
- HERNÁNDEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, M., ORIA-DE-RUEDA, J.A. & MARTÍN-PINTO, P. (2013). Post-fire fungal succession in a Mediterranean ecosystem dominated by *Cistus ladanifer* L. *Forest Ecology and Management* **289**, 48–57.
- HERRANDO, S. & BROTONS, L. (2002). Forest bird diversity in Mediterranean areas affected by wildfires: a multi-scale approach. *Ecography* **25**, 161–172.
- HICKE, J.A., ASNER, G.P., KASISCHKE, E.S., FRENCH, N.H.F., RANDERSON, J.T., COLLATZ, G.J., STOCKS, B.J., TUCKER, C.J., LOS, S.O. & FIELD, C.B. (2003). Postfire response of North American boreal forest net primary productivity analyzed with satellite observations. *Global Change Biology* 9, 1145–1157.
- HICKE, J.A. & JENKINS, J.C. (2008). Mapping lodgepole pine stand structure susceptibility to mountain pine beetle attack across the western United States. *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 1536–1547.
- HINDRUM, L., HOVENDEN, M.J., NEYLAND, M.G. & BAKER, S.C. (2012). The effects of mechanical disturbance and burn intensity on the floristic composition of two-year old aggregated retention coupes in Tasmanian wet eucalypt forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* 279, 55–65.

- HINGSTON, A.B. & GROVE, S. (2010). From clearfell coupe to old-growth forest: succession of bird assemblages in Tasmanian lowland wet eucalypt forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **259**, 459–468.
- HIRAO, T., MURAKAMI, M., IWAMOTO, J., TAKAFUMI, H. & OGUMA, H. (2008). Scaledependent effects of windthrow disturbance on forest arthropod communities. *Ecological Research* 23, 189–196.
- HOCKADAY, W.C., MASIELLO, C.A., RANDERSON, J.T., SMERNIK, R.J., BALDOCK, J.A., CHADWICK, O.A. & HARDEN, J.W. (2009). Measurement of soil carbon oxidation state and oxidative ratio by 13C nuclear magnetic resonance. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **114**, G02014.
- HOEKSTRA, J.M., BOUCHER, T.M., RICKETTS, T.H. & ROBERTS, C. (2005). Confronting a biome crisis: global disparities of habitat loss and protection. *Ecology Letters* **8**, 23–29.
- HOLDEN, S.R., GUTIERREZ, A. & TRESEDER, K.K. (2013). Changes in soil fungal communities, extracellular enzyme activities, and litter decomposition across a fire chronosequence in Alaskan boreal forests. *Ecosystems* **16**, 34–46.
- HOLDRIDGE, L.R. (1947). Determination of world plant formations from simple climatic data. *Science* **105**, 367–368.
- HOTHORN, T., HORNIK, K., VAN DE WIEL, M.A. & ZEILEIS, A. (2008). Implementing a class of permutation tests : the coin Package. *Journal of Statistical Software* 28, 1–23.
- HOTHORN, T., HORNIK, K., VAN DE WIEL, M.A. & ZEILEIS, A. (2013). coin: conditional inference procedures in a permutation test framework.
- HOLZMUELLER, E.J., JOSE, S. & JENKINS, M.A. (2009). The response of understory species composition, diversity, and seedling regeneration to repeated burning in southern Appalachian oak-hickory forests. *Natural Areas Journal* **29**, 255–262.
- HOPTON, M.E., CAMERON, G.N., CRAMER, M.J., POLAK, M. & UETZ, G.W. (2009). Live animal radiography to measure developmental instability in populations of small mammals after a natural disaster. *Ecological Indicators* **9**, 883–891.
- HORROCKS, M., NICHOL, S.L., GREGORY, M.R., CREESE, R., AUGUSTINUS, P.C. (2001). A holocene pollen and sediment record of Whangape Harbour, far Northern New Zealand. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand* **31**, 411–424.
- HOSSACK, B.R., EBY, L.A., GUSCIO, C.G. & CORN, P.S. (2009). Thermal characteristics of amphibian microhabitats in a fire-disturbed landscape. *Forest Ecology and Management* **258**, 1414–1421.
- HOSSACK, B.R., LOWE, W.H., HONEYCUTT, R.K., PARKS, S.A. & CORN, P.S. (2013*a*). Interactive effects of wildfire, forest management, and isolation on amphibian and parasite abundance. *Ecological Applications* 23, 479–492.
- HOSSACK, B.R., LOWE, W.H., WARE, J.L. & CORN, P.S. (2013b). Disease in a dynamic landscape: host behavior and wildfire reduce amphibian chytrid infection. *Biological Conservation* **157**, 293–299.
- HOUSEMAN, G.R. & ANDERSON, R.C. (2002). Effects of jack pine plantation management on barrens flora and potential Kirtland's warbler nest habitat. *Restoration Ecology* **10**, 27–36.
- HUANG, S., LIU, H., DAHAL, D., JIN, S., WELP, L.R., LIU, J. & LIU, S. (2013). Modeling spatially explicit fire impact on gross primary production in interior Alaska using satellite images coupled with eddy covariance. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **135**, 178–188.
- HUBER, C. (2005). Long lasting nitrate leaching after bark beetle attack in the highlands of the Bavarian Forest National Park. *Journal of Environmental Quality* **34**, 1772–1779.

- HUBER, C., AHERNE, J., WEIS, W., FARRELL, E.P., GÖTTLEIN, A. & CUMMINS, T. (2010). Ion concentrations and fluxes of seepage water before and after clear cutting of Norway spruce stands at Ballyhooly, Ireland, and Höglwald, Germany. *Biogeochemistry* **101**, 7–26.
- HUDIBURG, T., LAW, B., TURNER, D.P., CAMPBELL, J., DONATO, D. & DUANE, M. (2009). Carbon dynamics of Oregon and Northern California forests and potential land-based carbon storage. *Ecological Applications* **19**, 163–180.
- HUEBNER, K., LINDO, Z. & LECHOWICZ, M.J. (2012). Post-fire succession of collembolan communities in a northern hardwood forest. *European Journal of Soil Biology* **48**, 59–65.
- HUISINGA, K.D., LAUGHLIN, D.C., FULÉ, P.Z., SPRINGER, J.D. & MCGLONE, C.M. (2005). Effects of an intense prescribed fire on understory vegetation in a mixed conifer forest. *Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society* **132**, 590–601.
- HUNT, L.M. & HAIDER, W. (2004). Aesthetic impacts of disturbances on selected boreal forested shorelines. *Forest Science* **50**, 729–738.
- HURTEAU, M. & NORTH, M. (2008). Mixed-conifer understory response to climate change, nitrogen, and fire. *Global Change Biology* **14**, 1543–1552.
- HURTEAU, M. & NORTH, M. (2009). Fuel treatment effects on tree-based forest carbon storage and emissions under modeled wildfire scenarios. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 7, 409–414.
- HURTEAU, M.D., HUNGATE, B.A. & KOCH, G.W. (2009). Accounting for risk in valuing forest carbon offsets. *Carbon Balance and Management* **4**, I.
- HURTEAU, M.D., STODDARD, M.T. & FULÉ, P.Z. (2011). The carbon costs of mitigating highseverity wildfire in southwestern ponderosa pine. *Global Change Biology* **17**, 1516– 1521.
- HUSTON, M. A. & MARLAND, G. (2003). Carbon management and biodiversity. *Journal of Environmental Management* **67**, 77–86.
- HYLANDER, K. & JOHNSON, S. (2010). In situ survival of forest bryophytes in small-scale refugia after an intense forest fire. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **21**, 1099–1109.
- IGLAY, R.B., MILLER, D.A., LEOPOLD, B.D. & WANG, G. (2012). Carabid beetle response to prescribed fire and herbicide in intensively managed, mid-rotation pine stands in Mississippi. *Forest Ecology and Management* **281**, 41–47.
- IMBEAU, L., SAVARD, J.-P.L. & GAGNON, R. (1999). Comparing bird assemblages in successional black spruce stands originating from fire and logging. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 77, 1850–1860.
- JACTEL, H., NICOLL, B.C., BRANCO, M., GONZALEZ-OLABARRIA, J.R., GRODZKI, W., LÅNGSTRÖM, B., MOREIRA, F., NETHERER, S., ORAZIO, C., PIOU, D., SANTOS, H., SCHELHAAS, M.J., TOJIC, K. & VODDE, F. (2009). The influences of forest stand management on biotic and abiotic risks of damage. *Annals of Forest Science* 66, 701– 701.
- JAMES, P.M.A., FORTIN, M.-J., FALL, A., KNEESHAW, D. & MESSIER, C. (2007). The effects of spatial legacies following shifting management practices and fire on boreal forest age structure. *Ecosystems* **10**, 1261–1277.
- JIN, Y., RANDERSON, J.T., GOULDEN, M.L. & GOETZ, S.J. (2012). Post-fire changes in net shortwave radiation along a latitudinal gradient in boreal North America. *Geophysical Research Letters* **39**, L13403.
- JONES, M.C., BOOTH, R.K., YU, Z. & FERRY, P. (2013). A 2200-year record of permafrost dynamics and carbon cycling in a collapse-scar bog, interior Alaska. *Ecosystems* **16**, 1–19.

- JÖNSSON, M.T., FRAVER, S. & JONSSON, B.G. (2011). Spatio-temporal variation of coarse woody debris input in woodland key habitats in Central Sweden. *Silva Fennica* **45**, 957–967.
- KAJALA, L. & WATSON, A. (1997). Wilderness-different cultures, different research needs. *International Journal of Wilderness* **3**, 33–36.
- KANG, S., KIMBALL, J.S. & RUNNING, S.W. (2006). Simulating effects of fire disturbance and climate change on boreal forest productivity and evapotranspiration. *Science of the Total Environment* **362**, 85–102.
- KASHIAN, D.M., ROMME, W.H., TINKER, D.B., TURNER, M.G. & RYAN, M.G. (2013). Postfire changes in forest carbon storage over a 300-year chronosequence of *Pinus contorta*dominated forests. *Ecological Monographs* 83, 49–66.
- KASHIAN, D.M., TURNER, M.G. & ROMME, W.H. (2005). Variability in leaf area and stemwood increment along a 300-year lodgepole pine chronosequence. *Ecosystems* **8**, 48-61.
- KAVGACI, A., CARNI, A., BASARAN, S., BASARAN, M.A., KOŠIR, P., MARINŠEK, A. & ŠILC, U. (2010). Long-term post-fire succession of *Pinus brutia* forest in the east Mediterranean. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **19**, 599–605.
- KAYNAS, B.Y. & GÜRKAN, B. (2005). Changes in Buprestidae (Coleoptera) community with successional age after fire in a *Pinus brutia* forest. *Journal of Pest Science* **78**, 53–55.
- KEELEY, J.E., LUBIN, D. & FOTHERINGHAM, C.J. (2003). Fire and grazing impacts on plant diversity and alien plant invasions in the southern Sierra Nevada. *Ecological Applications* **13**, 1355–1374.
- KENNEDY, N. & EGGER, K.N. (2010). Impact of wildfire intensity and logging on fungal and nitrogen-cycling bacterial communities in British Columbia forest soils. *Forest Ecology and Management* **260**, 787–794.
- KENNEDY, R.S.H. & WIMBERLY, M.C. (2009). Historical fire and vegetation dynamics in dry forests of the interior Pacific Northwest, USA, and relationships to Northern Spotted Owl (*Strix occidentalis caurina*) habitat conservation. *Forest Ecology and Management* 258, 554–566.
- KERN, C.C., MONTGOMERY, R.A., REICH, P.B. & STRONG, T.F. (2014). Harvest-created canopy gaps increase species and functional trait diversity of the forest ground-layer community. *Forest Science* **60**, 335–344.
- KIRK, D.A. & HOBSON, K.A. (2001). Bird Habitat relationships in jack pine boreal forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **147**, 217–243.
- KIRKPATRICK, C. & CONWAY, C.J. (2010). Importance of montane riparian forest and influence of wildfire on nest-site selection of ground-nesting birds. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **74**, 729–738.
- KLAUS, N.A., RUSH, S.A., KEYES, T.S., PETRICK, J., COOPER, R.J., KLAUS, N.A., RUSH, S.A., KEYES, T.I.M.S., PETRICK, J. & COOPER, R.J. (2010). Short-term effects of fire on breeding birds in southern Appalachian upland forests. *The Wilson Journal of Ornithology* 122, 518–531.
- KLENNER, W. & ARSENAULT, A. (2009). Ponderosa pine mortality during a severe bark beetle (Coleoptera: Curculionidae, Scolytinae) outbreak in southern British Columbia and implications for wildlife habitat management. *Forest Ecology and Management* 258, S5– S14.
- KLENNER, W. & WALTON, R. (2009). Landscape-level habitat supply modelling to develop and evaluate management practices that maintain diverse forest values in a dry forest

ecosystem in southern British Columbia. *Forest Ecology and Management* **258**, S146–S157.

- KNOHL, A., KOLLE, O., MINAYEVA, T.Y., MILYUKOVA, I.M., VYGODSKAYA, N.N., FOKEN, T. & SCHULZE, E.-D. (2002). Carbon dioxide exchange of a Russian boreal forest after disturbance by wind throw. *Global Change Biology* 8, 231–246.
- KNOX, K.J.E. & CLARKE, P.J. (2012). Fire severity, feedback effects and resilience to alternative community states in forest assemblages. *Forest Ecology and Management* **265**, 47–54.
- KOEHLER, G.M., MALETZKE, B.T., VON KIENAST, J.A., AUBRY, K.B., WIELGUS, R.B. & NANEY, R.H. (2008). Habitat fragmentation and the persistence of lynx populations in Washington State. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 72, 1518–1524.
- KOMPA, T. & SCHMIDT, W. (2005). Plant succession in windthrown beech (*Fagus sylvatica*) forests on gypsum karst and dolomitic limestone in the Harz Mountain foothills of southern Lower Saxony, Germany [Buchenwald-Sukzession nach Windwurf auf Zechstein-Standorten des südwestlichen Harzvorlandes]. *Hercynia* 38, 233–261.
- KOOCH, Y. & HOSSEINI, S.M. (2010). Response of earthworms biomass and diversity to windthrow events and soil properties in Hyrcanian forests of Iran. *Folia Oecologica* **37**, 181–190.
- KOOCH, Y., HOSSEINI, S.M. & AKBARINIA, M. (2008). The ecological effects of pit and mounds created by a windthrow on understory of Hyrcanian forests. *Silva Balcanica* **9**, 13–28.
- KOOCH, Y., HOSSEINI, S.M., MOHAMMADI, J. & HOJJATI, S.M. (2012). Effects of uprooting tree on herbaceous species diversity, woody species regeneration status and soil physical characteristics in a temperate mixed forest of Iran. *Journal of Forestry Research* 23, 81– 86.
- KOTLIAR, N.B., KENNEDY, P.L. & FERREE, K. (2007). Avifaunal responses to fire in southwestern montane forests along a burn severity gradient. *Ecological Applications* **17**, 491–507.
- KUCEROVÁ, A., REKTORIS, L., ŠTECHOVÁ, T. & BASTL, M. (2008). Disturbances on a wooded raised bog How windthrow, bark beetle and fire affect vegetation and soil water quality? *Folia Geobotanica* **43**, 49–67.
- KURZ, W.A. & APPS, M.J. (1999). A 70-year retrospective analysis of carbon fluxes in the Canadian Forest Sector. *Ecological Applications* 9, 526–547.
- KURZ, W.A., DYMOND, C.C., WHITE, T.M., STINSON, G., SHAW, C.H., RAMPLEY, G.J., SMYTH, C., SIMPSON, B.N., NEILSON, E.T., TROFYMOW, J.A., METSARANTA, J. & APPS, M.J. (2009). CBM-CFS3: a model of carbon-dynamics in forestry and land-use change implementing IPCC standards. *Ecological Modelling* 220, 480–504.
- KURZ, W.A., STINSON, G. & RAMPLEY, G. (2008). Could increased boreal forest ecosystem productivity offset carbon losses from increased disturbances? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B* 363, 2261–2269.
- KUULUVAINEN, T. & AAKALA, T. (2011). Natural forest dynamics in boreal Fennoscandia: a review and classification. *Silva Fennica* **45**, 823–841.
- KUULUVAINEN, T. & KALMARI, R. (2003). Regeneration microsites of *Picea abies* seedlings in a windthrow area of a boreal old-growth forest in southern Finland. *Annales Botanici Fennici* **40**, 401–413.
- LAFLEUR, B., PARSONS, W.F.J., BRADLEY, R.L. & FRANCOEUR, A. (2006). Ground-nesting ant assemblages and their relationships to habitat factors along a chronosequence of postfire-regenerated lichen-spruce woodland. *Environmental Entomology* **35**, 1515–1524.

- LAFON, C.W., WALDRON, J.D., CAIRNS, D.M., TCHAKERIAN, M.D., COULSON, R.N. & KLEPZIG, K.D. (2007). Modeling the effects of fire on the long-term dynamics and restoration of Yellow pine and oak forests in the southern Appalachian Mountains. *Restoration Ecology* **15**, 400–411.
- LAIN, E.J., HANEY, A., BURRIS, J.M. & BURTON, J. (2008). Response of vegetation and birds to severe wind disturbance and salvage logging in a southern boreal forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **256**, 863–871.
- LANE, P.N.J., FEIKEMA, P.M., SHERWIN, C.B., PEEL, M.C. & FREEBAIRN, A.C. (2010). Modelling the long term water yield impact of wildfire and other forest disturbance in Eucalypt forests. *Environmental Modelling and Software* **25**, 467–478.
- LARRIVÉE, M., FAHRIG, L. & DRAPEAU, P. (2005). Effects of a recent wildfire and clearcuts on ground-dwelling boreal forest spider assemblages. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 35, 2575–2588.
- LARSEN, K.W., ADAMS, I.T. & HAUGHLAND, D.L. (2007). Small mammal communities in a pyrogenic habitat mosaic. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **16**, 728–740.
- LAUGHLIN, D.C., BAKKER, J.D., STODDARD, M.T., DANIELS, M.L., SPRINGER, J.D., GILDAR, C.N., GREEN, A.M. & COVINGTON, W.W. (2004). Toward reference conditions: wildfire effects on flora in an old-growth ponderosa pine forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 199, 137–152.
- LAUGHLIN, D.C. & GRACE, J.B. (2006). A multivariate model of plant species richness in forested systems: old-growth montane forests with a long history of fire. *Oikos* **114**, 60–70.
- LAW, B.E., THORNTON, P.E., IRVINE, J., ANTHONI, P.M. & VAN TUYL, S. (2001). Carbon storage and fluxes in ponderosa pine forests at different developmental stages. *Global Change Biology* **7**, 755–777.
- LAW, B.E., TURNER, D., CAMPBELL, J., SUN, O.J., VAN TUYL, S., RITTS, W.D. & COHEN, W.B. (2004). Disturbance and climate effects on carbon stocks and fluxes across Western Oregon USA. *Global Change Biology* **10**, 1429–1444.
- LAZARUK, L.W., KERNAGHAN, G., MACDONALD, S.E. & KHASA, D. (2005). Effects of partial cutting on the ectomycorrhizae of *Picea glauca* forests in northwestern Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **35**, 1442–1454.
- LE PAGE, Y., HURTT, G., THOMSON, A.M., BOND-LAMBERTY, B., PATEL, P., WISE, M., CALVIN, K., KYLE, P., CLARKE, L., EDMONDS, J. & JANETOS, A. (2013). Sensitivity of climate mitigation strategies to natural disturbances. *Environmental Research Letters* **8**, 015018.
- LECOMTE, N., SIMARD, M. & BERGERON, Y. (2006*a*). Effects of fire severity and initial tree composition on stand structural development in the coniferous boreal forest of northwestern Québec, Canada. *Ecoscience* **13**, 152–163.
- LECOMTE, N., SIMARD, M., FENTON, N. & BERGERON, Y. (2006*b*). Fire severity and long-term ecosystem biomass dynamics in coniferous boreal forests of eastern Canada. *Ecosystems* **9**, 1215–1230.
- LEHMKUHL, J.F., KIE, J.G., BENDER, L.C., SERVHEEN, G. & NYBERG, H. (2001). Evaluating the effects of ecosystem management alternatives on elk, mule deer, and white-tailed deer in the interior Columbia River basin, USA. *Forest Ecology and Management* **153**, 89–104.
- LEHNERT, L.W., BÄSSLER, C., BRANDL, R., BURTON, P.J. & MÜLLER, J. (2013). Conservation value of forests attacked by bark beetles: highest number of indicator species is found in early successional stages. *Journal for Nature Conservation* **21**, 97–104.

- LEITNER, L.A., DUNN, C.P., GUNTENSPERGEN, G.R., STEARNS, F. & SHARPE, D.M. (1991). Effects of site, landscape features, and fire regime on vegetation patterns in presettlement southern Wisconsin. *Landscape Ecology* **5**, 203–217.
- LEROUX, S.J., SCHMIEGELOW, F.K.A., CUMMING, S.G., LESSARD, R.B. & NAGY, J. (2007). Accounting for system dynamics in reserve design. *Ecological Applications* **17**, 1954–1966.
- LEWIS, D. (2009). Stand and landscape-level simulations of mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) and salvage logging effects on live tree and deadwood habitats in south-central British Columbia, Canada. *Forest Ecology and Management* **258**, S24–S35.
- LI, C., FLANNIGAN, M.D. & CORNS, I.G.W. (2000). Influence of potential climate change on forest landscape dynamics of west-central Alberta. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 30, 1905–1912.
- LI, X., HE, H.S., WU, Z., LIANG, Y. & SCHNEIDERMAN, J.E. (2013). Comparing effects of climate warming, fire, and timber harvesting on a boreal forest landscape in northeastern China. *PloS one* **8**, e59747.
- LIECHTY, H.O., JURGENSEN, M.F., MROZ, G.D. & GALE, M.R. (1997). Pit and mound topography and its influence on storage of carbon, nitrogen, and organic matter within an old-growth forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 27, 1992–1997.
- LILJA-ROTHSTEN, S., DE CHANTAL, M., PETERSON, C., KUULUVAINEN, T., VANHA-MAJAMAA, I. & PUTTONEN, P. (2008). Microsites before and after restoration in managed *Picea abies* stands in southern Finland: effects of fire and partial cutting with dead wood creation. *Silva Fennica* **42**, 165–176.
- LINDENMAYER, D. & MCCARTHY, M.A. (2002). Congruence between natural and human forest disturbance: a case study from Australian montane ash forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **155**, 319–335.
- LINDENMAYER, D.B., MACKEY, B.G., MULLEN, I.C., MCCARTHY, M.A., GILL, A.M., CUNNINGHAM, R.B. & DONNELLY, C.F. (1999). Factors affecting stand structure in forests Are there climatic and topographic determinants? *Forest Ecology and Management* **123**, 55–63.
- LINDENMAYER, D.B., BURTON, P.J. & FRANKLIN, J.F. (2008*a*). Salvage logging and its ecological consequences, p. 2481. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- LINDENMAYER, D.B., WOOD, J.T., CUNNINGHAM, R.B., MACGREGOR, C., CRANE, M., MICHAEL, D., MONTAGUE-DRAKE, R., BROWN, D., MUNTZ, R. & GILL, A.M. (2008b). Testing hypotheses associated with bird responses to wildfire. *Ecological Applications* **18**, 1967–1983.
- LINDER, P., ELFVING, B. & ZACKRISSON, O. (1997). Stand structure and successional trends in virgin boreal forest reserves in Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management* **98**, 17–33.
- LINDNER, M., MAROSCHEK, M., NETHERER, S., KREMER, A., BARBATI, A., GARCIA-GONZALO, J., SEIDL, R., DELZON, S., CORONA, P., KOLSTRÖM, M., LEXER, M.J. & MARCHETTI, M. (2010). Climate change impacts, adaptive capacity, and vulnerability of European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* 259, 698–709.
- LINDROTH, A., LAGERGREN, F., GRELLE, A., KLEMEDTSSON, L., LANGVALL, O., WESLIEN, P. & TUULIK, J. (2009). Storms can cause Europe-wide reduction in forest carbon sink. *Global Change Biology* **15**, 346–355.
- LITTELL, J.S., MCKENZIE, D., PETERSON, D.L. & WESTERLING, A.L. (2009). Climate and wildfire area burned in western U.S. ecoprovince, 1916-2003. *Ecological Applications* **19**, 1003–1021.

- LITTELL, J.S., ONEIL, E.E., MCKENZIE, D., HICKE, J.A., LUTZ, J.A., NORHEIM, R.A. & ELSNER, M.M. (2010). Forest ecosystems, disturbance, and climatic change in Washington State, USA. *Climatic Change* **102**, 129–158.
- LITTON, C.M., RYAN, M.G. & KNIGHT, D.H. (2004). Effects of tree density and stand age on carbon allocation patterns in postfire lodgepole pine. *Ecological Applications* **14**, 460–475.
- LIU, H., RANDERSON, J.T., LINDFORS, J. & CHAPIN III, F.S. (2005). Changes in the surface energy budget after fire in boreal ecosystems of interior Alaska: an annual perspective. *Journal of Geophysical Research* **110**, D13101.
- LIU, J., PENG, C., APPS, M., DANG, Q., BANFIELD, E. & KURZ, W. (2002). Historic carbon budgets of Ontario's forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* **169**, 103–114.
- LIU, J., VOGELMANN, J.E., ZHU, Z., KEY, C.H., SLEETER, B.M., PRICE, D.T., CHEN, J.M., COCHRANE, M.A., EIDENSHINK, J.C., HOWARD, S.M., BLISS, N.B. & JIANG, H. (2011). Estimating California ecosystem carbon change using process model and land cover disturbance data: 1951–2000. *Ecological Modelling* 222, 2333–2341.LOISEL, P. (2014). Impact of storm risk on Faustmann rotation. *Forest Policy and Economics* 38, 191–198.
- LÓŠKOVÁ, J., ĽUPTÁČIK, P., MIKLISOVÁ, D. & KOVÁČ, Ľ. (2013). The effect of clear-cutting and wildfire on soil Oribatida (Acari) in windthrown stands of the High Tatra Mountains (Slovakia). *European Journal of Soil Biology* **55**, 131–138.
- LYGIS, V., VASILIAUSKAITE, I., STENLID, J. & VASAITIS, R. (2010). Impact of forest fire on occurrence of *Heterobasidion annosum* s.s. root rot and other wood-inhabiting fungi in roots of *Pinus mugo*. *Forestry* **83**, 83–92.
- MABRY, C.M., BRUDVIG, L.A. & ATWELL, R.C (2010). The confluence of landscape context and site-level management in determining Midwestern savanna and woodland breeding bird communities. *Forest Ecology and Management* **260**, 42–51.
- MANESS, H., KUSHNER, P.J. & FUNG, I. (2013). Summertime climate response to mountain pine beetle disturbance in British Columbia. *Nature Geoscience* **6**, 65–70.
- MANN, D., RUPP, T., OLSON, M. & DUFFY, P. (2012). Is Alaska's boreal forest now crossing a major ecological threshold? *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research* 44, 319–331.
- MAROZAS, V., RACINSKAS, J. & BARTKEVICIUS, E. (2007). Dynamics of ground vegetation after surface fires in hemiboreal *Pinus sylvestris* forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **250**, 47–55.
- MARTIKAINEN, P., KOUKI, J. & HEIKKALA, O. (2006). The effects of green tree retention and subsequent prescribed burning on ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) in boreal pine-dominated forests. *Ecography* **29**, 659–670.
- MARTIN, P.A., NEWTON, A.C. & BULLOCK, J.M. (2013). Carbon pools recover more quickly than plant biodiversity in tropical secondary forests. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **281**, 1–11.
- MARZANO, R., LINGUA, E. & GARBARINO, M. (2012). Post-fire effects and short-term regeneration dynamics following highseverity crown fires in a Mediterranean forest. *IForest* 5, 93–100.
- MATEOS, E., SANTOS, X. & PUJADE-VILLAR, J. (2011). Taxonomic and functional responses to fire and post-fire management of a Mediterranean Hymenoptera community. *Environmental Management* **48**, 1000–1012.
- MATSUOKA, S.M. & HANDEL, C.M. (2007). Nesting ecology of boreal forest birds following a massive outbreak of spruce beetles. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **71**, 51–63.
- MCCARTHY, M.A. & LINDENMAYER, D.B. (1999). Incorporating metapopulation dynamics of greater gliders into reserve design in disturbed landscapes. *Ecology* **80**, 651–667.

- MCCARTHY, M.A. & LINDENMAYER, D.B. (1998). Multi-aged mountain ash forest, wildlife conservation and timber harvesting. *Forest Ecology and Management* **104**, 43–56.
- MCFARLANE, B.L. & WITSON, D.O.T. (2008). Perceptions of ecological risk associated with mountain pine beetle (*Dendroctonus ponderosae*) infestations in Banff and Kootenay National Parks of Canada. *Risk Analysis* **28**, 203–212.
- MCGLINN, D.J., CHURCHWELL, R. & PALMER, M.W. (2010). Effects of a tornado on birds in a cross timbers community. *Southwestern Naturalist* **55**, 460–466.
- MCLEOD, R.F. & GATES, J.E. (1998). Response of herpetofaunal communities to forest cutting and burning at Chesapeake Farms, Maryland. *American Midland Naturalist* **139**, 164– 177.
- MCWETHY, D.B., WHITLOCK, C., WILMSHURST, J.M., MCGLONE, M.S., FROMONT, M., LI, X., DIEFFENBACHER-KRALL, A., HOBBS, W.O., FRITZ, S.C. & COOK, E.R. (2010). Rapid landscape transformation in South Island, New Zealand, following initial Polynesian settlement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **107**, 21343–21348.
- MCWETHY, D.B., WHITLOCK, C., WILMSHURST, J.M., MCGLONE, M.S. & LI, X. (2009). Rapid deforestation of South Island, New Zealand, by early Polynesian fires. *Holocene* **19**, 883–897.
- MEA (2005). -Ecosystems and human well-being: current state and trends, volume 1. In *Millennium Ecosystem Assessment* (eds. R. HASSAN, R. SCHOLES and N. ASH), p. 917. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- MEDDENS, A.J.H., HICKE, J.A. & FERGUSON, C.A. (2012). Spatiotemporal patterns of observed bark beetle-caused tree mortality in British Columbia and the western United States. *Ecological Applications* **22**, 1876–1891.
- MEHR, M., BRANDL, R., KNEIB, T. & MÜLLER, J. (2012). The effect of bark beetle infestation and salvage logging on bat activity in a national park. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **21**, 2775–2786.
- MEIGS, G.W., DONATO, D.C., CAMPBELL, J.L., MARTIN, J.G. & LAW, B.E. (2009). Forest fire impacts on carbon uptake, storage, and emission: the role of burn severity in the eastern Cascades, Oregon. *Ecosystems* **12**, 1246–1267.
- MESSIER, M.S., SHATFORD, J.P.A. & HIBBS, D.E. (2012). Fire exclusion effects on riparian forest dynamics in southwestern Oregon. *Forest Ecology and Management* **264**, 60–71.
- MILLER, A.D., ROXBURGH, S.H. & SHEA, K. (2011). How frequency and intensity shape diversity-disturbance relationships. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**, 5643–5648.
- MILLER, M.T. & DOUGLAS, G.W. (1999). Status of Lyall's Mariposa Lily, *Calochortus lyallii* (Liliaceae), in Canada. *Canadian Field-Naturalist* **113**, 652–658.
- MINCHINTON, T.E. (2001). Canopy and substratum heterogeneity influence recruitment of the mangrove *Avicennia marina*. *Journal of Ecology* **89**, 888–902.
- MINSHALL, G.W., ROBINSON, C.T., LAWRENCE, D.E., ANDREWS, D.A. & BROCK, J.T. (2001). Benthic macroinvertebrate assemblages in five central Idaho (USA) streams over a 10– year period following disturbance by wildfire. *International Journal of Wildland Fire* **10**, 201–213.
- MØLLER, A.P. & JENNIONS, M.D. (2001). Testing and adjusting for publication bias. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **16**, 580–586.
- MONSERUD, R.A., LOWELL, E.C., BECKER, D.R., HUMMEL, S.S., DONOGHUE, E.M., BARBOUR, R.J., KILBORN, K.A., NICHOLLS, D.L., ROOS, J. & CANTRELL, R.A. (2004). Contemporary

wood utilization research needs in the Western United States. USDA Forest Service - General Technical Report PNW 616, 1–49.

- MOORE, D.J.P., TRAHAN, N.A., WILKES, P., QUAIFE, T., STEPHENS, B.B., ELDER, K., DESAI, A.R., NEGRON, J. & MONSON, R.K. (2013). Persistent reduced ecosystem respiration after insect disturbance in high elevation forests. *Ecology Letters* **16**, 731–737.
- MORETTI, M., CONEDERA, M., DUELLI, P. & EDWARDS, P.J. (2002). The effects of wildfire on ground-active spiders in deciduous forests on the Swiss southern slope of the Alps. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **39**, 321–336.
- MORETTI, M., DE BELLO, F., ROBERTS, S.P.M. & POTTS, S.G. (2009). Taxonomical vs. functional responses of bee communities to fire in two contrasting climatic regions. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **78**, 98–108.
- MORETTI, M., DE CÁCERES, M., PRADELLA, C., OBRIST, M.K., WERMELINGER, B., LEGENDRE, P. & DUELLI, P. (2010). Fire-induced taxonomic and functional changes in saproxylic beetle communities in fire sensitive regions. *Ecography* 33, 760–771.
- MORETTI, M., DUELLI, P. & OBRIST, M.K. (2006). Biodiversity and resilience of arthropod communities after fire disturbance in temperate forests. *Oecologia* **149**, 312–327.
- MORETTI, M. & LEGG, C. (2009). Combining plant and animal traits to assess community functional responses to disturbance. *Ecography* **32**, 299–309.
- MORETTI, M., OBRIST, M.K. & DUELLI, P. (2004). Arthropod biodiversity after forest fires: winners and losers in the winter fire regime of the southern Alps. *Ecography* 27, 173–186.
- MORI, A.S. & LERTZMAN, K.P. (2011). Historic variability in fire-generated landscape heterogeneity of subalpine forests in the Canadian Rockies. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 22, 45–58.
- MORONI, M.T., SHAW, C.H. & OTAHAL, P. (2010). Forest carbon stocks in Newfoundland boreal forests of harvest and natural disturbance origin I: field study. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **40**, 2135–2145.
- MOSS, M. & HERMANUTZ, L. (2010). Monitoring the small and slimy Protected areas should be monitoring native and non-native slugs (Mollusca: Gastropoda). *Natural Areas Journal* **30**, 322–327.
- MÜLLER, J., BUBLER, H., GOBNER, M., RETTELBACH, T. & DUELLI, P. (2008). The European spruce bark beetle *Ips typographus* in a national park: from pest to keystone species. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **17**, 2979–3001.
- MÜLLER, M. & JOB, H. (2009). Managing natural disturbance in protected areas: tourists' attitude towards the bark beetle in a German national park. *Biological Conservation* **142**, 375–383.
- MYERS-SMITH, I.H., HARDEN, J.W., WILMKING, M., FULLER, C.C., MCGUIRE, A.D. & CHAPIN III, F.S. (2008). Wetland succession in a permafrost collapse: interactions between fire and thermokarst. *Biogeosciences* **5**, 1273–1286.
- MYRONIDIS, D.I., EMMANOULOUDIS, D.A., MITSOPOULOS, I.A. & RIGGOS, E.E. (2010). Soil erosion potential after fire and rehabilitation treatments in Greece. *Environmental Modeling and Assessment* **15**, 239–250.
- NACHTERGALE, L., GHEKIERE, K., SCHRIJVER, A. DE, MUYS, B., LUYSSAERT, S. & LUST, N. (2002). Earthworm biomass and species diversity in windthrow sites of a temperate lowland forest. *Pedobiologia* **46**, 440–451.
- NALDER, I.A. & WEIN, R.W. (1999). Long-term forest floor carbon dynamics after fire in upland boreal forests of Western Canada. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, **13**, 951–968.

- NEALIS, V.G., NOSEWORTHY, M.K., TURNQUIST, R. & WARING, V.R. (2009). Balancing risks of disturbance from mountain pine beetle and western spruce budworm. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **39**, 839–848.
- NEILL, C., PATTERSON III, W.A. & CRARY JR., D.W. (2007). Responses of soil carbon, nitrogen and cations to the frequency and seasonality of prescribed burning in a Cape Cod oak-pine forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **250**, 234–243.
- NELSON, C.R., HALPERN, C.B. & AGEE, J.K. (2008*a*). Thinning and burning result in low-level invasion by nonnative plants but neutral effects on natives. *Ecological Applications* **18**, 762–770.
- NELSON, J.L., GRONINGER, J.W., BATTAGLIA, L.L. & RUFFNER, C.M. (2008b). Bottomland hardwood forest recovery following tornado disturbance and salvage logging. *Forest Ecology and Management* **256**, 388–395.
- NEWMASTER, S.G., BELLAND, R.J., ARSENAULT, A., VITT, D.H. & STEPHENS, T.R. (2005). The ones we left behind: comparing plot sampling and floristic habitat sampling for estimating bryophyte diversity. *Diversity and Distributions* **11**, 57–72.
- NEWTON, A.C., ECHEVERRÍA, C., CANTARELLO, E. & BOLADOS, G. (2011). Projecting impacts of human disturbances to inform conservation planning and management in a dryland forest landscape. *Biological Conservation* **144**, 1949–1960.
- NIEMUTH, N.D. & BOYCE, M.S. (2004). Influence of landscape composition on sharp-tailed grouse lek location and attendance in Wisconsin pine barrens. *Ecoscience* **11**, 209–217.
- NIKLASSON, M. & DRAKENBERG, B. (2001). A 600-year tree-ring fire history from Norra Kvills National Park, southern Sweden: implications for conservation strategies in the hemiboreal zone. *Biological Conservation* 101, 63–71.
- NOORMETS, A., CHEN, J. & CROW, T.R. (2007). Age-dependent changes in ecosystem carbon fluxes in managed forests in northern Wisconsin, USA. *Ecosystems* **10**, 187–203.
- NORTH, M.P. & HURTEAU, M.D. (2011). High-severity wildfire effects on carbon stocks and emissions in fuels treated and untreated forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **261**, 1115–1120.
- NOWAK, S., KERSHAW, G.P. & KERSHAW, L.J. (2002). Plant diversity and cover after wildfire on anthropogenically disturbed and undisturbed sites in Subarctic upland *Picea mariana* forest. *Arctic*, **55**, 269–280.
- NUTTLE, T., ROYO, A.A., ADAMS, M.B. & CARSON, W.P. (2013). Historic disturbance regimes promote tree diversity only under low browsing regimes in eastern deciduous forest. *Ecological Monographs* **83**, 3–17.
- ODION, D.C. & HANSON, C.T. (2006). Fire severity in conifer forests of the Sierra Nevada, California. *Ecosystems* 9, 1177–1189.
- O'DONNELL, J.A., HARDEN, J.W., MCGUIRE, A.D. & ROMANOVSKY, V.E. (2011). Exploring the sensitivity of soil carbon dynamics to climate change, fire disturbance and permafrost thaw in a black spruce ecosystem. *Biogeosciences* **8**, 1367–1382.
- OGRIS, N., HAUPTMAN, T. & JURC, D. (2009). *Chalara fraxinea* causing common ash dieback newly reported in Slovenia. *Plant Pathology* **58**, 1173–1173.
- OHLSON, D.W. & SERVEISS, V.B. (2007). The integration of ecological risk assessment and structured decision making into watershed management. *Integrated environmental assessment and management* **3**, 118–128.
- OHLSON, M., SÖDERSTRÖM, L., HÖRNBERG, G., ZACKRISSON, O. & HERMANSSON, J. (1997). Habitat qualities versus long-term continuity as determinants of biodiversity in boreal old-growth swamp forests. *Biological Conservation* **81**, 221–231.

- OLSSON, J. & JONSSON, B.G. (2010) Restoration fire and wood-inhabiting fungi in a Swedish *Pinus sylvestris* forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **259**, 1971–1980.
- OVERBECK, M. & SCHMIDT, M. (2012). Modelling infestation risk of Norway spruce by *Ips typographus* (L.) in the Lower Saxon Harz Mountains (Germany). *Forest Ecology and Management* **266**, 115–125.
- PALIK, B.J., MITCHELL, R.J. & HIERS, J.K. (2002). Modeling silviculture after natural disturbance to sustain biodiversity in the longleaf pine (*Pinus palustris*) ecosystem: balancing complexity and implementation. *Forest Ecology and Management* **155**, 347–356.
- PALMER, M.W., MCALISTER, S.D., ARÉVALO, J.R. & DECOSTER, J.K. (2000). Changes in the understory during 14 years following catastrophic windthrow in two Minnesota forests. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **11**, 841–854.
- PARRO, K., KÖSTER, K., JOGISTE, K. & VODDE, F. (2009). Vegetation Dynamics in a fire damaged forest area: the response of major ground vegetation species. *Baltic Forestry* 15, 206–215.
- PASCH, B. & KOPROWSKI, J.L. (2011). Impacts of fire suppression on space use by Mexican fox squirrels. *Journal of Mammalogy* **92**, 227–234.
- PATERSON, A.M., GUMMING, B.F., SMOL, J.P., BLAIS, J.M. & FRANCE, R.L. (1998). Assessment of the effects of logging, forest fires and drought on lakes in northwestern Ontario: a 30-year paleolimnological perspective. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 28, 1546–1556.
- PATOINE, A., PINEL-ALLOUL, B. & PREPAS, E.E. (2002). Effects of catchment perturbations by logging and wildfires on zooplankton species richness and composition in Boreal Shield lakes. *Freshwater Biology* **47**, 1996–2014.
- PATRIQUIN, M.N., LANTZ, V.A., STEDMAN, R.C. & WHITE, W.A. (2008). Working together: a reciprocal wood flow arrangement to mitigate the economic impacts of natural disturbance. *Forestry* **81**, 227–242.
- PATRIQUIN, M.N., WELLSTEAD, A.M. & WHITE, W.A. (2007). Beetles, trees, and people: regional economic impact sensitivity and policy considerations related to the mountain pine beetle infestation in British Columbia, Canada. *Forest Policy and Economics* **9**, 938–946.
- PAYETTE, S. & DELWAIDE, A. (2004). Dynamics of subarctic wetland forests over the past 1500 years. *Ecological Monographs* **74**, 373–391.
- PEARSON, D., SHINE, R. & WILLIAMS, A. (2005). Spatial ecology of a threatened python (*Morelia spilota imbricata*) and the effects of anthropogenic habitat change. *Austral Ecology* **30**, 261–274.
- PEAY, K.G., GARBELOTTO, M. & BRUNS, T.D. (2009). Spore heat resistance plays an important role in disturbance-mediated assemblage shift of ectomycorrhizal fungi colonizing *Pinus muricata* seedlings. *Journal of Ecology* **97**, 537–547.
- PEKIN, B.K., BOER, M.M., MACFARLANE, C. & GRIERSON, P.F. (2009). Impacts of increased fire frequency and aridity on eucalypt forest structure, biomass and composition in southwest Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management* **258**, 2136–2142.
- PEKIN, B.K., WITTKUHN, R.S., BOER, M.M., MACFARLANE, C. & GRIERSON, P.F. (2012). Response of plant species and life form diversity to variable fire histories and biomass in the jarrah forest of south-west Australia. *Austral Ecology* **37**, 330–338.
- PELLERIN, S. & LAVOIE, C. (2003). Reconstructing the recent dynamics of mires using a multitechnique approach. *Journal of Ecology* **91**, 1008–1021.

- PELTZER, D.A., BAST, M.L., WILSON, S.D. & GERRY, A.K. (2000). Plant diversity and tree responses following contrasting disturbances in boreal forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **127**, 191–203.
- PENG, C., LIU, J., DANG, Q., ZHOU, X. & APPS, M. (2001). Developing carbon-based ecological indicators to monitor sustainability of Ontario's forests. *Ecological Indicators* 1, 235–246.
- PENMAN, T.D., BINNS, D.L., SHIELS, R.J., ALLEN, R.M. & KAVANAGH, R.P. (2008). Changes in understorey plant species richness following logging and prescribed burning in shrubby dry sclerophyll forests of south-eastern Australia. *Austral Ecology* **33**, 197–210.
- PERRY, D.A., HESSBURG, P.F., SKINNER, C.N., SPIES, T. A., STEPHENS, S.L., TAYLOR, A.H., FRANKLIN, J.F., MCCOMB, B. & RIEGEL, G. (2011). The ecology of mixed severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and Northern California. *Forest Ecology and Management* 262, 703–717.
- PETER, B. & NELSON, J. (2005). Estimating harvest schedules and profitability under the risk of fire disturbance. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **35**, 1378–1388.
- PETERS, E.B., WYTHERS, K.R., BRADFORD, J.B. & REICH, P.B. (2013). Influence of disturbance on temperate forest productivity. *Ecosystems* 16, 95–110.
- PETERSON, D.W. & REICH, P.B. (2008). Fire frequency and tree canopy structure influence plant species diversity in a forest-grassland ecotone. *Plant Ecology* **194**, 5–16.
- PFEIFER, E.M., HICKE, J.A. & MEDDENS, A.J.H. (2011). Observations and modeling of aboveground tree carbon stocks and fluxes following a bark beetle outbreak in the western United States. *Global Change Biology* **17**, 339–350.
- PHARO, E.J. & BEATTIE, A.J. (2002). The association between substrate variability and bryophyte and lichen diversity in eastern Australian forests. *Bryologist* **105**, 11–26.
- PILZ, D., WEBER, N.S., CAROL CARTER, M., PARKS, C.G. & MOLINA, R. (2004). Productivity and diversity of morel mushrooms in healthy, burned, and insect-damaged forests of northeastern Oregon. *Forest Ecology and Management* **198**, 367–386.
- PINZON, J., SPENCE, J.R. & LANGOR, D.W. (2013). Effects of prescribed burning and harvesting on ground-dwelling spiders in the Canadian boreal mixedwood forest. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 22, 1513–1536.
- POLLOCK, S.L. & PAYETTE, S. (2010). Stability in the patterns of long-term development and growth of the Canadian spruce-moss forest. *Journal of Biogeography* **37**, 1684–1697.
- PORTO, M., CORREIA, O. & BEJA, P. (2011). Long-term consequences of mechanical fuel management for the conservation of Mediterranean forest herb communities. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **20**, 2669–2691.
- POTTER, C., GROSS, P., KLOOSTER, S., FLADELAND, M. & GENOVESE, V. (2008). Storage of carbon in U.S. forests predicted from satellite data, ecosystem modeling, and inventory summaries. *Climatic Change* **90**, 269–282.
- POTTER, C., KLOOSTER, S., CRABTREE, R., HUANG, S., GROSS, P. & GENOVESE, V. (2011). Carbon fluxes in ecosystems of Yellowstone National Park predicted from remote sensing data and simulation modeling. *Carbon Balance and Management* **6**, 1–16.
- POTTS, S.G., PETANIDOU, T., ROBERTS, S., O'TOOLE, C., HULBERT, A. & WILLMER, P. (2006). Plant-pollinator biodiversity and pollination services in a complex Mediterranean landscape. *Biological Conservation* **129**, 519–529.
- POWELL, K. (2012). Publishing: foreign tongues. Nature 487, 129–131.
- PREMOLI, A.C. & KITZBERGER, T. (2005). Regeneration mode affects spatial genetic structure of *Nothofagus dombeyi* forests. *Molecular Ecology* **14**, 2319–2329.

- PREMOLI, A.C. & STEINKE, L. (2008). Genetics of sprouting: effects of long-term persistence in fire-prone ecosystems. *Molecular Ecology* **17**, 3827–3835.
- PRIEWASSER, K., BRANG, P., BACHOFEN, H., BUGMANN, H. & WOHLGEMUTH, T. (2013). Impacts of salvage-logging on the status of deadwood after windthrow in Swiss forests. *European Journal of Forest Research* **132**, 231–240.
- PROENÇA, V., PEREIRA, H.M. & VICENTE, L. (2010). Resistance to wildfire and early regeneration in natural broadleaved forest and pine plantation. *Acta Oecologica* **36**, 626–633.
- RADELOFF, V.C., MLADENOFF, D.J. & BOYCE, M.S. (2000). Effects of interacting disturbances on landscape patterns: budworm defoliation and salvage logging. *Ecological Applications* **10**, 233–247.
- RADELOFF, V.C., MLADENOFF, D.J., HE, H.S. & BOYCE, M.S. (1999). Forest landscape change in the northwestern Wisconsin Pine Barrens from pre-European settlement to the present. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **29**, 1649–1659.
- RAJORA, O.P., MANN, I.K. & SHI, Y.-Z. (2005). Genetic diversity and population structure of boreal white spruce (*Picea glauca*) in pristine conifer-dominated and mixedwood forest stands. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 83, 1096–1105.
- RAMMIG, A., FAHSE, L., BEBI, P. & BUGMANN, H. (2007). Wind disturbance in mountain forests: simulating the impact of management strategies, seed supply, and ungulate browsing on forest succession. *Forest Ecology and Management* **242**, 142–154.
- RAMMIG, A., FAHSE, L., BUGMANN, H. & BEBI, P. (2006). Forest regeneration after disturbance: a modelling study for the Swiss Alps. *Forest Ecology and Management* 222, 123–136.
- RANDALL, L.A., BARCLAY, R.M.R., REID, M.L. & JUNG, T.S. (2011). Recent infestation of forest stands by spruce beetles does not predict habitat use by little brown bats (*Myotis lucifugus*) in southwestern Yukon, Canada. *Forest Ecology and Management* 261, 1950– 1956.
- RATCHFORD, J.S., WITTMAN, S.E., JULES, E.S., ELLISON, A.M., GOTELLI, N.J. & SANDERS, N.J. (2005). The effects of fire, local environment and time on ant assemblages in fens and forests. *Diversity and Distributions* 11, 487–497.
- RAYBUCK, A.L., MOORMAN, C.E., GREENBERG, C.H., DEPERNO, C.S., GROSS, K., SIMON, D.M. & WARBURTON, G.S. (2012). Short-term response of small mammals following oak regeneration silviculture treatments. *Forest Ecology and Management* **274**, 10–16.
- R DEVELOPMENT CORE TEAM (2014). A language and environment for statistical computing. *R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria*. http://www.r-project.org/ [accessed 2 April 2014].
- REES, D.C. & JUDAY, G.P. (2002). Plant species diversity on logged versus burned sites in central Alaska. *Forest Ecology and Management* **155**, 291–302.
- REICHSTEIN, M., BAHN, M., CIAIS, P., FRANK, D., MAHECHA, M.D., SENEVIRATNE, S.I., ZSCHEISCHLER, J., BEER, C., BUCHMANN, N., FRANK, D.C., PAPALE, D., RAMMIG, A., SMITH, P., THONICKE, K., VAN DER VELDE, M., VICCA, S., WALZ, A. & WATTENBACH, M. (2013). Climate extremes and the carbon cycle. *Nature* 500, 287–295.
- REILLY, M.J., WIMBERLY, M.C. & NEWELL, C.L. (2006*a*). Wildfire effects on β-diversity and species turnover in a forested landscape. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **17**, 447–454.
- REILLY, M.J., WIMBERLY, M.C. & NEWELL, C.L. (2006b). Wildfire effects on plant species richness at multiple spatial scales in forest communities of the southern Appalachians. *Journal of Ecology* **94**, 118–130.

- REINHARDT, E. & HOLSINGER, L. (2010). Effects of fuel treatments on carbon-disturbance relationships in forests of the northern Rocky Mountains. *Forest Ecology and Management* **259**, 1427–1435.
- REYES, G.P. & KNEESHAW, D. (2008). Moderate-severity disturbance dynamics in *Abies* balsamea-Betula spp. forests: the relative importance of disturbance type and local stand and site characteristics on woody vegetation response. *Ecoscience* **15**, 241–249.
- RICHARDSON, E., STIRLING, I. & KOCHTUBAJDA, B. (2007). The effects of forest fires on polar bear maternity denning habitat in western Hudson Bay. *Polar Biology* **30**, 369–378.
- ROBICHAUD, P.R., WAGENBRENNER, J.W. & BROWN, R.E. (2010). Rill erosion in natural and disturbed forests: 1. Measurements. *Water Resources Research* **46**, W10506.
- ROBINSON, R.M., MELLICAN, A.E. & SMITH, R.H. (2008). Epigeous macrofungal succession in the first five years following a wildfire in karri (*Eucalyptus diversicolor*) regrowth forest in Western Australia. *Austral Ecology* **33**, 807–820.
- ROSS, C.S., KAYE, J.P., KAYE, M.W., KURTH, V.J., BRIMMER, R., HART, S.C. & FULÉ, P.Z. (2012). Ecosystem carbon remains low for three decades following fire and constrains soil CO 2 responses to precipitation in southwestern ponderosa pine forests. *Ecosystems* 15, 725–740.
- Ross, K.A., Fox, B.J. & Fox, M.D. (2002). Changes to plant species richness in forest fragments: fragment age, disturbance and fire history may be as important as area. *Journal of Biogeography* **29**, 749–765.
- ROSS, K.A., TAYLOR, J.E., FOX, M.D. & FOX, B.J. (2004). Interaction of multiple disturbances: importance of disturbance interval in the effects of fire on rehabilitating mined areas. *Austral Ecology* **29**, 508–529.
- ROYO, A.A., COLLINS, R., ADAMS, M.B., KIRSCHBAUM, C. & CARSON, W.P. (2010). Pervasive interactions between ungulate browsers and disturbance regimes promote temperate forest herbaceous diversity. *Ecology* **91**, 93–105.
- RUIZ-BENITO, P., GÓMEZ-APARICIO, L. & ZAVALA, M.A. (2012). Large-scale assessment of regeneration and diversity in Mediterranean planted pine forests along ecological gradients. *Diversity and Distributions* 18, 1092–1106.
- RUMBAITIS DEL RIO, C.M. (2006). Changes in understory composition following catastrophic windthrow and salvage logging in a subalpine forest ecosystem. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **36**, 2943–2954.
- RUOKOLAINEN, L. & SALO, K. (2009). The effect of fire intensity on vegetation succession on a sub-xeric heath during ten years after wildfire. *Annales Botanici Fennici* **46**, 30–42.
- RUSSELL, R.E., ROYLE, J.A., SAAB, V.A., LEHMKUHL, J.F., BLOCK, W.M. & SAUER, J.R. (2009). Modeling the effects of environmental disturbance on wildlife communities: avian responses to prescribed fire. *Ecological Applications* **19**, 1253–1263.
- RYU, S.-R., CHEN, J., ZHENG, D., BRESEE, M.K. & CROW, T.R. (2006). Simulating the effects of prescribed burning on fuel loading and timber production (EcoFL) in managed northern Wisconsin forests. *Ecological Modelling* **196**, 395–406.
- SACKMANN, P. & FARJI-BRENER, A. (2006). Effect of fire on ground beetles and ant assemblages along an environmental gradient in NW Patagonia: does habitat type matter? *Ecoscience* **13**, 360–371.
- SAINT-GERMAIN, M., DRAPEAU, P. & HÉBERT, C. (2004). Xylophagous insect species composition and patterns of substratum use on fire-killed black spruce in central Quebec. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **34**, 677–685.

- SAINT-GERMAIN, M., DRAPEAU, P. & HIBBERT, A. (2013). Saproxylic beetle tolerance to habitat fragmentation induced by salvage logging in a boreal mixed-cover burn. *Insect Conservation and Diversity* **6**, 381–392.
- SAINT-GERMAIN, M., LARRIVÉE, M., DRAPEAU, P., FAHRIG, L. & BUDDLE, C.M. (2005). Shortterm response of ground beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae) to fire and logging in a sprucedominated boreal landscape. *Forest Ecology and Management* 212, 118–126.
- SANO, T., HIRANO, T., LIANG, N., HIRATA, R. & FUJINUMA, Y. (2010). Carbon dioxide exchange of a larch forest after a typhoon disturbance. *Forest Ecology and Management* **260**, 2214–2223.
- SANTANA, J., PORTO, M., REINO, L. & BEJA, P. (2011). Long-term understory recovery after mechanical fuel reduction in Mediterranean cork oak forests. *Forest Ecology and Management* **261**, 447–459.
- SANTOS, X., BROS, V. & MIÑO, À. (2009). Recolonization of a burned Mediterranean area by terrestrial gastropods. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **18**, 3153–3165.
- SANTOS, X., BROS, V. & ROS, E. (2012). Contrasting responses of two xerophilous land snails to fire and natural reforestation. *Contributions to Zoology* **81**, 167–180.
- SARÀ, M., BELLIA, E. & MILAZZO, A. (2006). Fire disturbance disrupts co-occurrence patterns of terrestrial vertebrates in Mediterranean woodlands. *Journal of Biogeography* **33**, 843–852.
- SARRIQUET, P.E., DELETTRE, Y.R. & MARMONIER, P. (2006). Effects of catchment disturbance on stream invertebrates: comparison of different habitats (vegetation, benthic and interstitial) using bio-ecological groups. *Annales de Limnologie* **42**, 205–219.
- SAVAGE, M., SAWHILL, B. & ASKENAZI, M. (2000). Community dynamics: what happens when we rerun the tape? *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **205**, 515–526.
- SCHÄFER, K.V.R., CLARK, K.L., SKOWRONSKI, N. & HAMERLYNCK, E.P. (2010). Impact of insect defoliation on forest carbon balance as assessed with a canopy assimilation model. *Global Change Biology* **16**, 546–561.
- SCHAFFHAUSER, A., CURT, T., VÉLA, E. & TATONI, T. (2012). Fire recurrence effects on the abundance of plants grouped by traits in *Quercus suber* L. woodlands and maquis. *Forest Ecology and Management* **282**, 157–166.
- SCHARENBROCH, B.C. & BOCKHEIM, J.G. (2008). The effects of gap disturbance on nitrogen cycling and retention in late-successional northern hardwood-hemlock forests. *Biogeochemistry* **87**, 231–245.
- SCHELHAAS, M.J. (2008). The wind stability of different silvicultural systems for Douglas-fir in the Netherlands: a model-based approach. *Forestry* **81**, 399–414.
- SCHELHAAS, M.J., HENGEVELD, G., MORIONDO, M., REINDS, G.J., KUNDZEWICZ, Z.W., TER MAAT, H. & BINDI, M. (2010). Assessing risk and adaptation options to fires and windstorms in European forestry. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 15, 681–701.
- SCHELHAAS, M.J., NABUURS, G.-J. & SCHUCK, A. (2003). Natural disturbances in the European forests in the 19th and 20th centuries. *Global Change Biology* **9**, 1620–1633.
- SCHELLER, R.M., HUA, D., BOLSTAD, P.V., BIRDSEY, R.A. & MLADENOFF, D.J. (2011*a*). The effects of forest harvest intensity in combination with wind disturbance on carbon dynamics in Lake States Mesic Forests. *Ecological Modelling* **222**, 144–153.
- SCHELLER, R.M., SPENCER, W.D., RUSTIGIAN-ROMSOS, H., SYPHARD, A.D., WARD, B.C. & STRITTHOLT, J.R. (2011b). Using stochastic simulation to evaluate competing risks of wildfires and fuels management on an isolated forest carnivore. *Landscape Ecology* 26, 1491–1504.

- SCHELLER, R.M., VAN TUYL, S., CLARK, K.L., HOM, J. & LA PUMA, I. (2011c). Carbon sequestration in the New Jersey Pine Barrens under different scenarios of fire management. *Ecosystems* 14, 987–1004.
- SCHMALHOLZ, M., HYLANDER, K. & FREGO, K. (2011). Bryophyte species richness and composition in young forests regenerated after clear-cut logging versus after wildfire and spruce budworm outbreak. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **20**, 2575–2596.
- SCHMIDT, K.M., ROERING, J.J., STOCK, J.D., DIETRICH, W.E., MONTGOMERY, D.R. & SCHAUB, T. (2001). The variability of root cohesion as an influence on shallow landslide susceptibility in the Oregon Coast Range. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal* 38, 995– 1024.
- SCHMIDT, W. & HEINRICHS, S. (2012). 13 years after windthrow Vegetation dynamics of the strict beech forest reserve "Königsbuche" (southwestern Harz Mountain foothills, Lower Saxony) [13 Jahre nach dem Sturm – Vegetationsentwicklung im Buchen-Naturwald "Königsbuche" (südwestliches Harzvorland, Niedersachsen)]. *Hercynia* 45, 81–110.
- SCHÖNENBERGER, W., NOACK, A. & THEE, P. (2005). Effect of timber removal from windthrow slopes on the risk of snow avalanches and rockfall. *Forest Ecology and Management* **213**, 197–208.
- SCIVERSE SCOPUS (2013). Scopus Document search. *Elsevier*. http://www.scopus.com [accessed 6 June 2013].
- SCRIMGEOUR, G.J., TONN, W.M., PASZKOWSKI, C.A. & AKU, P.M.K. (2000). Evaluating the effects of forest harvesting on littoral benthic communities within a natural disturbance-based management model. *Forest Ecology and Management* **126**, 77–86.
- SEEDRE, M. & CHEN, H.Y.H. (2010) Carbon dynamics of aboveground live vegetation of boreal mixedwoods after wildfire and clear-cutting. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **40**, 1862–1869.
- SEELY, B., WELHAM, C. & KIMMINS, H. (2002). Carbon sequestration in a boreal forest ecosystem: results from the ecosystem simulation model, FORECAST. *Forest Ecology and Management* **169**, 123–135.
- SEGERSTRÖM, U. (1997). Long-term dynamics of vegetation and disturbance of a southern boreal spruce swamp forest. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **8**, 295–306.
- SEIDL, R. (2014). The shape of ecosystem management to come: anticipating risks and fostering resilience. *BioScience* 64, 1159–1169.
- SEIDL, R. & BLENNOW, K. (2012). Pervasive growth reduction in Norway spruce forests following wind disturbance. *PLoS one* **7**, E33301.
- SEIDL, R., FERNANDES, P.M., FONSECA, T.F., GILLET, F., JÖNSSON, A.M., MERGANIČOVÁ, K., NETHERER, S., ARPACI, A., BONTEMPS, J.-D., BUGMANN, H., GONZÁLEZ-OLABARRIA, J.R., LASCH, P., MEREDIEU, C., MOREIRA, F., SCHELHAAS, M.-J. & MOHREN, F. (2011a). Modelling natural disturbances in forest ecosystems: a review. *Ecological Modelling* 222, 903–924.
- SEIDL, R., RAMMER, W., JÄGER, D. & LEXER, M.J. (2008). Impact of bark beetle (*Ips typographus* L.) disturbance on timber production and carbon sequestration in different management strategies under climate change. *Forest Ecology and Management* **256**, 209–220.
- SEIDL, R., SCHELHAAS, M.-J. & LEXER, M.J. (2011*b*). Unraveling the drivers of intensifying forest disturbance regimes in Europe. *Global Change Biology* **17**, 2842–2852.
- SEIDL, R., SCHELHAAS, M.-J., RAMMER, W. & VERKERK, P.J. (2014). Increasing forest disturbances in Europe and their impact on carbon storage. *Nature Climate Change*, 1–5.

- SEITZ, D. (2010). Influence of different structures of windthrows on bird habitats investigations in the National Park 'Kellerwald-Edersee' [Nutzung von Windwurfflächen durch Vögel - Strukturelle Untersuchungen im Nationalpark Kellerwald-Edersee]. *Naturschutz und Landschaftsplanung* 42, 267–274.
- SEYMOUR, R.S., WHITE, A.S. & DEMAYNADIER, P.G. (2002). Natural disturbance regimes in northeastern North America—evaluating silvicultural systems using natural scales and frequencies. *Forest Ecology and Management* **155**, 357–367.
- SHRESTHA, B.M. & CHEN, H.Y.H. (2010). Effects of stand age, wildfire and clearcut harvesting on forest floor in boreal mixedwood forests. *Plant and Soil* **336**, 267–277.
- SIGNELL, S.A. & ABRAMS, M.D. (2006). Influence of rocky landscape features and fire regime on vegetation dynamics in Appalachian *Quercus* forests. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 17, 675–684.
- SIMARD, D.G., FYLES, J.W., PARÉ, D. & NGUYEN, T. (2001). Impacts of clearcut harvesting and wildfire on soil nutrient status in the Quebec boreal forest. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* **81**, 229–237.
- SIMON, A., GRATZER, G. & SIEGHARDT, M. (2011). The influence of windthrow microsites on tree regeneration and establishment in an old growth mountain forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **262**, 1289–1297.
- SIMON, N.P.P., SCHWAB, F.E. & OTTO, R.D. (2002). Songbird abundance in clear-cut and burned stands: a comparison of natural disturbance and forest management. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 32, 1343–1350.
- SIRY, J.P., CUBBAGE, F.W. & AHMED, M.R. (2005). Sustainable forest management: global trends and opportunities. *Forest Policy and Economics* 7, 551–561.
- SKLODOWSKI, J. & GARBALINSKA, P. (2011). Ground beetle (Coleoptera, Carabidae) assemblages inhabiting Scots pine stands of Puszcza Piska Forest: six-year responses to a tornado impact. *ZooKeys* 100, 371–392.
- SKLODOWSKI, J. & GARBALINSKA, P. (2007). Ground beetle assemblages (Coleoptera, Carabidae) in the third year of regeneration after a hurricane in the Puszcza Piska pine forests. *Baltic Journal of Coleopterology* **7**, 17–36.
- SMIRNOVA, E., BERGERON, Y. & BRAIS, S. (2008). Influence of fire intensity on structure and composition of jack pine stands in the boreal forest of Quebec: live trees, understory vegetation and dead wood dynamics. *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 2916–2927.
- SMITH, D.M., KELLY, J.F. & FINCH, D.M. (2007). Avian nest box selection and nest success in burned and unburned southwestern riparian forest. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 71, 411–421.
- SMITH, J.E., MCKAY, D., BRENNER, G., MCIVER, J. & SPATAFORA, J.W. (2005). Early impacts of forest restoration treatments on the ectomycorrhizal fungal community and fine root biomass in a mixed conifer forest. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **42**, 526–535.
- SMITH, M.A., TURNER, M.G. & RUSCH, D.H. (2002). The effect of military training activity on eastern lupine and the Karner blue butterfly at Fort McCoy, Wisconsin, USA. *Environmental Management* **29**, 102–115.
- SMITHWICK, E.A.H., HARMON, M.E. & DOMINGO, J.B. (2007). Changing temporal patterns of forest carbon stores and net ecosystem carbon balance: the stand to landscape transformation. *Landscape Ecology* **22**, 77–94.
- SMITHWICK, E.A.H., RYAN, M.G., KASHIAN, D.M., ROMME, W.H., TINKER, D.B. & TURNER, M.G. (2009). Modeling the effects of fire and climate change on carbon and nitrogen storage in lodgepole pine (*Pinus contorta*) stands. *Global Change Biology* 15, 535–548.

- SORENSEN, T., MCLOUGHLIN, P.D., HERVIEUX, D., DZUS, E., NOLAN, J., WYNES, B. & BOUTIN, S. (2008). Determining sustainable levels of cumulative effects for boreal caribou. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 72, 900–905.
- SPAULDING, S.E. & ROTHSTEIN, D.E. (2009). How well does Kirtland's warbler management emulate the effects of natural disturbance on stand structure in Michigan jack pine forests? *Forest Ecology and Management* **258**, 2609–2618.
- SPRING, D.A., KENNEDY, J., LINDENMAYER, D.B., MCCARTHY, M.A. & MAC NALLY, R. (2008). Optimal management of a flammable multi-stand forest for timber production and maintenance of nesting sites for wildlife. *Forest Ecology and Management* **255**, 3857–3865.
- SPRUGEL, D.G. & BORMANN, F.H. (1981). Natural disturbance and the steady state in highaltitude balsam fir forests. *Science* **211**, 390–393.
- STARK, K.E., ARSENAULT, A. & BRADFIELD, G.E. (2006). Soil seed banks and plant community assembly following disturbance by fire and logging in interior Douglas-fir forests of south-central British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 84, 1548–1560.
- STARK, K.E., ARSENAULT, A. & BRADFIELD, G.E. (2008). Variation in soil seed bank species composition of a dry coniferous forest: spatial scale and sampling considerations. Plant Ecology 197, 173–181.
- STEPHENS, S.S. & WAGNER, M.R. (2006). Using ground foraging ant (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) functional groups as bioindicators of forest health in northern Arizona ponderosa pine forests. *Environmental Entomology* **35**, 937–949.
- STEVENTON, J.D. & DAUST, D.K. (2009). Management strategies for a large-scale mountain pine beetle outbreak: modelling impacts on American martens. *Forest Ecology and Management* **257**, 1976–1985.
- STEWART-OATEN, A., MURDOCH, W.W. & PARKER, K.R. (1986). Environmental impact assessment: "pseudoreplication" in time? *Ecology* 67, 929–940.
- STINSON, G., KURZ, W.A., SMYTH, C.E., NEILSON, E.T., DYMOND, C.C., METSARANTA, J.M., BOISVENUE, C., RAMPLEY, G.J., LI, Q., WHITE, T.M. & BLAIN, D. (2011). An inventorybased analysis of Canada's managed forest carbon dynamics, 1990 to 2008. *Global Change Biology* 17, 2227–2244.
- STORMS, D., SAID, S., FRITZ, H., HAMANN, J.-L., SAINT-ANDRIEUX, C. & KLEIN, F. (2006). Influence of hurricane Lothar on red and roe deer winter diets in the Northern Vosges, France. *Forest Ecology and Management* 237, 164–169.
- STRAND, E.K., BUNTING, S.C. & VIERLING, L.A. (2012). Landscape composition in aspen woodlands under various modeled fire regimes. USDA Forest Service - General Technical Report PNW-GTR 869, 197–214.
- STREBY, H.M. & MILES, D.B. (2010). Assessing ecosystem restoration alternatives in eastern deciduous hardwood forests using avian nest survival. *Open Environmental Sciences* **4**, 31–40.
- STROMBERG, J.C., RYCHENER, T.J. & DIXON, M.D. (2009). Return of fire to a free-flowing desert river: effects on vegetation. *Restoration Ecology* **17**, 327–338.
- STUART, S.N., CHANSON, J.S., COX, N.A, YOUNG, B.E., RODRIGUES, A.S.L., FISCHMAN, D.L. & WALLER, R.W. (2004). Status and trends of amphibian declines and extinctions worldwide. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* **306**, 1783–1786.
- SUÁREZ-SEOANE, S. & GARCÍA-ROVÉS, P. (2004). Do disturbances in surrounding areas affect a core population of Cantabrian capercaillie *Tetrao urogallus cantabricus*? The case of the The Natural Reserve of Muniellos (Asturias, NW Spain). *Ardeola* **51**, 395–409.

- SULLIVAN, T.P., LAUTENSCHLAGER, R.A. & WAGNER, R.G. (1999). Clearcutting and burning of northern spruce-fir forests: implications for small mammal communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **36**, 327–344.
- SURRETTE, S.B. & BREWER, J.S. (2008). Inferring relationships between native plant diversity and *Lonicera japonica* in upland forests in north Mississippi, USA. *Applied Vegetation Science* **11**, 205–214.
- SVOBODA, M., FRAVER, S., JANDA, P., BACE, R. & ZENÁHLÍKOVÁ, J. (2010). Natural development and regeneration of a Central European montane spruce forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* **260**, 707–714.
- TAKAKAI, F., DESYATKIN, A.R., LOPEZ, C.M.L., FEDOROV, A.N., DESYATKIN, R.V. & HATANO, R. (2008). Influence of forest disturbance on CO2, CH4 and N2O fluxes from larch forest soil in the permafrost taiga region of eastern Siberia. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 54, 938–949.
- TEMPERLI, C., BUGMANN, H. & ELKIN, C. (2013). Cross-scale interactions among bark beetles, climate change and wind disturbances: a landscape modeling approach. *Ecological Monographs* **83**, 383–402.
- THOM, D., SEIDL, R., STEYRER, G., KREHAN, H. & FORMAYER, H. (2013). Slow and fast drivers of the natural disturbance regime in Central European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management* **307**, 293–302.
- THOMAS, C.D., CAMERON, A., GREEN, R.E., BAKKENES, M., BEAUMONT, L.J., COLLINGHAM, Y.C., ERASMUS, B.F.N., FERREIRA DE SIQUEIRA, M., GRAINGER, A., HANNAH, L., HUGHES, L., HUNTLEY, B., VAN JAARSVELD, A.S., MIDGLEY, G.F., MILES, L., ORTEGA-HUERTA, M.A., PETERSON, A.T., PHILLIPS, O.L. & WILLIAMS, S.E. (2004). Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature* 427, 145–148.
- THOMAS, S.C. & MACLELLAN, J. (2002). Boreal and temperate forests. In *Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems*. EOLSS Publishers Co., UNESCO, Paris.
- THOMPSON, C.M., ZIELINSKI, W.J. & PURCELL, K.L. (2011). Evaluating management risks using landscape trajectory analysis: a case study of California fisher. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **75**, 1164–1176.
- THORN, S., BÄSSLER, C., GOTTSCHALK, T., HOTHORN, T., BUSSLER, H., RAFFA, K. & MÜLLER, J. (2014). New insights into the consequences of post-windthrow salvage logging revealed by functional structure of saproxylic beetles assemblages. *PloS one* **9**, e101757.
- THORNTON, P.E., LAW, B.E., GHOLZ, H.L., CLARK, K.L., FALGE, E., ELLSWORTH, D.S., GOLDSTEIN, A.H, MONSON, R.K., HOLLINGER, D., FALK, M., CHEN, J. & SPARKS, J.P. (2002). Modeling and measuring the effects of disturbance history and climate on carbon and water budgets in evergreen needleleaf forests. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 113, 185–222.
- THÜRIG, E., PALOSUO, T., BUCHER, J. & KAUFMANN, E. (2005). The impact of windthrow on carbon sequestration in Switzerland: a model-based assessment. *Forest Ecology and Management* **210**, 337–350.
- TOIVANEN, T. & KOTIAHO, J.S. (2007). Mimicking natural disturbances of boreal forests: the effects of controlled burning and creating dead wood on beetle diversity. *Biodiversity* and Conservation 16, 3193–3211.
- TOIVANEN, T. & KOTIAHO, J.S. (2010). The preferences of saproxylic beetle species for different dead wood types created in forest restoration treatments. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **40**, 445–464.
- TONN, W.M., PASZKOWSKI, C.A., SCRIMGEOUR, G.J., AKU, P.K.M., LANGE, M., PREPAS, E.E. & WESTCOTT, K. (2003). Effects of forest harvesting and fire on fish assemblages in

Boreal Plains lakes: a reference condition approach. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* **132**, 514–523.

- TROFYMOW, J.A., STINSON, G. & KURZ, W.A. (2008). Derivation of a spatially explicit 86– year retrospective carbon budget for a landscape undergoing conversion from old-growth to managed forests on Vancouver Island, BC. *Forest Ecology and Management* **256**, 1677–1691.
- TURNER, D.P., RITTS, W.D., LAW, B.E., COHEN, W.B., YANG, Z., HUDIBURG, T., CAMPBELL, J.L. & DUANE, M. (2007). Scaling net ecosystem production and net biome production over a heterogeneous region in the western United States. *Biogeosciences* 4, 597–612.
- TURNER, M.G. (2010). Disturbance and landscape dynamics in a changing world. *Ecology* **91**, 2833–2849.
- TURNER, M.G., ROMME, W.H., GARDNERL, R.H., NEILL, R.V.O. & KRATZ, T.K. (1993). A revised concept of landscape equilibrium: disturbance and stability on scaled landscapes. *Landscape Ecology* **8**, 213–227.
- TURNER, P.A.M., BALMER, J. & KIRKPATRICK, J.B. (2009). Stand-replacing wildfires? The incidence of multi-cohort and single-cohort *Eucalyptus regnans* and *E. obliqua* forests in southern Tasmania. *Forest Ecology and Management* **258**, 366–375.
- TWIEG, B.D., DURALL, D.M. & SIMARD, S.W. (2007). Ectomycorrhizal fungal succession in mixed temperate forests. *New Phytologist* **176**, 437–447.
- UCHIYAMA, K., GOTO, S., TSUDA, Y., TAKAHASHI, Y. & IDE, Y. (2006). Genetic diversity and genetic structure of adult and buried seed populations of *Betula maximowicziana* in mixed and post-fire stands. *Forest Ecology and Management* **237**, 119–126.
- URIARTE, M. & PAPAIK, M. (2007). Hurricane impacts on dynamics, structure and carbon sequestration potential of forest ecosystems in Southern New England, USA. *Tellus* **59A**, 519–528.
- UYS, C., HAMER, M. & SLOTOW, R. (2009). Turnover in flightless invertebrate species composition over different spatial scales in Afrotemperate forest in the Drakensberg, South Africa. *African Journal of Ecology* **47**, 341–351.
- VALLECILLO, S., BROTONS, L. & HERRANDO, S. (2008). Assessing the response of openhabitat bird species to landscape changes in Mediterranean mosaics. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **17**, 103–119.
- VANDERMAST, D.B. & VAN LEAR, D.H. (2002). Riparian vegetation in the southern Appalachian mountains (USA) following chestnut blight. *Forest Ecology and Management* **155**, 97–106.
- VAYREDA, J., GRACIA, M., CANADELL, J.G. & RETANA, J. (2012). Spatial patterns and predictors of forest carbon stocks in Western Mediterranean. Ecosystems 15, 1258–1270.
- VEDROVA, E.F., SHUGALEI, L.S. & STAKANOV, V.D. (2002). The carbon balance in natural and disturbed forests of the southern taiga in central Siberia. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **13**, 341–350.
- VIDAL, O.J. & REIF, A. (2011). Effect of a tourist-ignited wildfire on Nothofagus pumilio forests at Torres del Paine biosphere reserve, Chile (Southern Patagonia). Bosque 32, 64– 76.
- VIEDMA, O., TORRES, I., PÉREZ, B. & MORENO, J.M. (2012). Modeling plant species richness using reflectance and texture data derived from QuickBird in a recently burned area of Central Spain. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **119**, 208–221.
- VILLA-CASTILLO, J. & WAGNER, M.R. (2002). Ground beetle (Coleoptera: Carabidae) species assemblage as an indicator of forest condition in northern Arizona ponderosa pine forests. *Environmental Entomology* **31**, 242–252.

- VON OHEIMB, G., FRIEDEL, A., BERTSCH, A. & HÄRDTLE, W. (2007). The effects of windthrow on plant species richness in a Central European beech forest. *Plant Ecology* **191**, 47–65.
- WALES, B.C., SURING, L.H. & HEMSTROM, M.A. (2007). Modeling potential outcomes of fire and fuel management scenarios on the structure of forested habitats in northeast Oregon, USA. *Landscape and Urban Planning* 80, 223–236.
- WANG, C., GOWER, S.T., WANG, Y., ZHAO, H., YAN, P. & BOND-LAMBERTY, B.P. (2001). The influence of fire on carbon distribution and net primary production of boreal *Larix gmelinii* forests in north-eastern China. *Global Change Biology* **7**, 719–730.
- WARD, B., ROBINSON, R.M., CRANFIELD, R.J. & WILLIAMS, M.R. (2011). Forestcheck: the response of vascular flora to silviculture in jarrah (*Eucalyptus marginata*) forest. *Australian Forestry* **74**, 276–287.
- WARDELL-JOHNSON, G. & WILLIAMS, M. (2000). Edges and gaps in mature karri forest, southwestern Australia: logging effects on bird species abundance and diversity. *Forest Ecology and Management* **131**, 1–21.
- WARDELL-JOHNSON, G.W., WILLIAMS, M.R., MELLICAN, A.E. & ANNELLS, A. (2007). Floristic patterns and disturbance history in karri (*Eucalyptus diversicolor*: Myrtaceae) forest, south-western Australia: 2. Origin, growth form and fire response. *Acta Oecologica* **31**, 137–150.
- WARDELL-JOHNSON, G.W., WILLIAMS, M.R., MELLICAN, A.E. & ANNELLS, A. (2004). Floristic patterns and disturbance history in karri forest, south-western Australia: 1. Environment and species richness. *Forest Ecology and Management* **199**, 449–460.
- WARDLE, D.A., JONSSON, M., BANSAL, S., BARDGETT, R.D., GUNDALE, M.J. & METCALFE, D.B. (2012). Linking vegetation change, carbon sequestration and biodiversity: insights from island ecosystems in a long-term natural experiment. *Journal of Ecology* **100** 16–30.
- WAYMAN, R.B. & NORTH, M. (2007). Initial response of a mixed-conifer understory plant community to burning and thinning restoration treatments. *Forest Ecology and Management* **239**, 32–44.
- WAYNE, A.F., COWLING, A., LINDENMAYER, D.B., WARD, C.G., VELLIOS, C.V., DONNELLY, C.F. & CALVER, M.C. (2006). The abundance of a threatened arboreal marsupial in relation to anthropogenic disturbances at local and landscape scales in Mediterranean-type forests in south-western Australia. *Biological Conservation* **127**, 463–476.
- WEBB, S.L. & SCANGA, S.E. (2001). Windstorm disturbance without patch dynamics: twelve years of change in a Minnesota forest. *Ecology* **82**, 893–897.
- WEBER, M.G. & FLANNIGAN, M.D. (1997). Canadian boreal forest ecosystem structure and function in a changing climate : impact on fire regimes. *Environmental Reviews* 5, 145–166.
- WEI, X., KIMMINS, J.P. & ZHOU, G. (2003). Disturbances and the sustainability of long-term site productivity in lodgepole pine forests in the central interior of British Columbia–an ecosystem modeling approach. *Ecological Modelling* **164**, 239–256.
- WELCH, N.T., WALDROP, T.A. & BUCKNER, E.R. (2000). Response of southern Appalachian table mountain pine (*Pinus pungens*) and pitch pine (*P. rigida*) stands to prescribed burning. *Forest Ecology and Management* 136, 185–197.
- WERMELINGER, B., DUELLI, P. & OBRIST, M.K. (2002). Dynamics of saproxylic beetles (Coleoptera) in windthrow areas in alpine spruce forests. *Forest Snow and Landscape Research* **77**, 133–148.
- WERNER, R.A. (2002). Effect of ecosystem disturbance on diversity of bark and wood-boring beetles (Coleoptera: Scolytidae, Buprestidae, Cerambycidae) in white spruce (*Picea*

glauca (Moench) Voss) ecosystems of Alaska. USDA Forest Service - Research Papers RMRS 546, 13–15.

- WESTERLING, A.L., HIDALGO, H.G., CAYAN, D.R. & SWETNAM, T.W. (2006). Warming and earlier spring increase western U.S. forest wildfire activity. *Science* **313**, 940–943.
- WHICKER, J.J., PINDER III, J.E. & BRESHEARS, D.D. (2008). Thinning semiarid forests amplifies wind erosion comparably to wildfire: implications for restoration and soil stability. *Journal of Arid Environments* **72**, 494–508.
- WHICKER, J.J., PINDER III, J.E., BRESHEARS, D.D. & EBERHART, C.F. (2006). From dust to dose: effects of forest disturbance on increased inhalation exposure. *Science of the Total Environment* **368**, 519–530.
- WIENK, C.L., SIEG, C.H. & MCPHERSON, G.R. (2004). Evaluating the role of cutting treatments, fire and soil seed banks in an experimental framework in ponderosa pine forests of the Black Hills, South Dakota. *Forest Ecology and Management* **192**, 375– 393.
- WHITE, P.S. & JENTSCH, A. (2001). The search for generality in studies of disturbance and ecosystem dynamics. *Progress in Botany* **62**, 399–449.
- WHITTAKER, R.J. (2010). Meta-analyses and mega-mistakes: calling time on meta-analysis of the species richness-productivity relationship. *Ecology* **91**, 2522–2533.
- WILMSHURST, J.M., MCGLONE, M.S. & PARTRIDGE, T.R. (1997). A late holocene history of natural disturbance in lowland podocarp/hardwood forest, Hawke's Bay, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Botany* **35**, 79–96.
- WILSON, C.J. (1999). Effects of logging and fire on runoff and erosion on highly erodible granitic soils in Tasmania. *Water Resources Research* **35**, 3531–3546.
- WIMBERLY, M.C. & REILLY, M.J. (2007). Assessment of fire severity and species diversity in the southern Appalachians using Landsat TM and ETM+ imagery. *Remote Sensing of Environment* **108**, 189–197.
- WINFORD, E.M. & GAITHER, J.C. (2012). Carbon outcomes from fuels treatment and bioenergy production in a Sierra Nevada forest. *Forest Ecology and Management* 282, 1–9.
- WITTKUHN, R.S., MCCAW, L., WILLS, A.J., ROBINSON, R., ANDERSEN, A.N., VAN HEURCK, P., FARR, J., LIDDELOW, G. & CRANFIELD, R. (2011). Variation in fire interval sequences has minimal effects on species richness and composition in fire-prone landscapes of southwest Western Australia. *Forest Ecology and Management* 261, 965–978.
- WOLFF, J.M., BATTAGLIA, L., CARTER, T.C., RODMAN, L.B., BRITZKE, E.R. & FELDHAMER, G.A. (2009). Effects of tornado disturbance on bat communities in Southern Illinois. *Northeastern Naturalist* 16, 553–562.
- XIAO, J., ZHUANG, Q., LAW, B.E., BALDOCCHI, D.D., CHEN, J., RICHARDSON, A.D., MELILLO, J.M., DAVIS, K.J., HOLLINGER, D.Y., WHARTON, S., OREN, R., NOORMETS, A., FISCHER, M.L., VERMA, S.B., COOK, D.R., SUN, G., MCNULTY, S., WOFSY, S.C., BOLSTAD, P.V., BURNS, S.P., CURTIS, P.S., DRAKE, B.G., FALK, M., FOSTER, D.R., GU, L., HADLEY, J.L., KATUL, G.G., LITVAK, M., MA, S., MARTIN, T.A., MATAMALA, R., MEYERS, T.P., MONSON, R.K., MUNGER, J.W., OECHEL, W.C., PAW, U.K.T., SCHMID, H.P., SCOTT, R.L., STARR, G., SUYKER, A.E. & TORN, M.S. (2011). Assessing net ecosystem carbon exchange of U.S. terrestrial ecosystems by integrating eddy covariance flux measurements and satellite observations. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 151, 60–69.

- YOUNGMAN, J.A. & GAYK, Z.G. (2011). High density nesting of black-backed woodpeckers (*Picoides arcticus*) in a post-fire great lakes jack pine forest. *Wilson Journal of Ornithology* **123**, 381–386.
- YU, Z., APPS, M.J. & BHATTI, J.S. (2002). Implications of floristic and environmental variation for carbon cycle dynamics in boreal forest ecosystems of central Canada. *Journal of Vegetation Science* **13**, 327–340.
- ZAMORA, R., MOLINA-MARTÍNEZ, J.R., HERRERA, M.A. & RODRÍGUEZ Y SILVA, F. (2010). A model for wildfire prevention planning in game resources. *Ecological Modelling* **221**, 19–26.
- ZHAO, D., ALLEN, B. & SHARITZ, R.R. (2006). Twelve year response of old-growth southeastern bottomland hardwood forests to disturbance from Hurricane Hugo. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* **36**, 3136–3147.
- ZHOU, L., DAI, L., WANG, S., HUANG, X., WANG, X., QI, L., WANG, Q., LI, G., WEI, Y. & SHAO, G. (2011). Changes in carbon density for three old-growth forests on Changbai Mountain, Northeast China: 1981–2010. Annals of Forest Science 68, 953–958.
- ZINCK, R.D., JOHST, K. & GRIMM, V. (2010). Wildfire, landscape diversity and the Drossel-Schwabl model. *Ecological Modelling* **221**, 98–105.
- ZMIHORSKI, M. (2010). The effect of windthrow and its management on breeding bird communities in a managed forest. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **19**, 1871–1882.
- ZMIHORSKI, M. (2012). The effects of anthropogenic and natural disturbances on breeding birds of managed Scots pine forests in northern Poland. *Ornis Fennica* **89**, 63–73.
- ZOZAYA, E.L., BROTONS, L. & VALLECILLO, S. (2011). Bird community responses to vegetation heterogeneity following non-direct regeneration of Mediterranean forests after fire. *Ardea* **99**, 73–84.
- ZWOLAK, R. & FORESMAN, K.R. (2007). Effects of a stand-replacing fire on small-mammal communities in montane forest. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* **85**, 815–822.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

Appendix S1. Indicators of biodiversity and ecosystem services and their respective

synonyms used in the literature search.

Appendix S2. Database of disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity

derived from the literature.

Appendix S3. Reported disturbance effects on biodiversity and ecosystem service categories

(following the definition of the Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005).

Appendix S1. Indicators of biodiversity and ecosystem services and their respective synonyms used in the literature search. The search text combined the indicators and synonyms indicated here with each of the focal disturbance agents (i.e. fire, wind and bark beetles).

Criterion	Indicator	Synonyms
Biodiversity Biodiversity	Species richness Habitat Diversity indices	Living space; biotope; structural diversity; species abundance Species diversity; biodiversity; genetic diversity
Supporting services Primary production Oxygen production	Primary production Air quality	Primary productivity; NPP; GPP Oxygen
<u>Provisioning services</u> Timber Fresh water Food (plants) Food (game)	Timber Fresh water Vegetables Meat	Biomass production; biomass productivity; timber production; timber productivity; fuelwood Drinking water; water supply; water provisioning; water purification Berries; mushrooms; nuts; herbs Animal food; carnal food; fleshy food; hunting; game; venison; deer; elk
Regulating services Protection against gravitational natural hazards Climate regulation	Protection against gravitational natural hazards Carbon storage Albedo Latent heat flux	Rockfall protection; rockslide; avalanche protection; flooding protection; floodwater; flood; mudflow protection; mudslide; landslide; protection against soil erosion; soil loss; erosion Carbon sequestration; net ecosystem productivity; net ecosystem exchange; net ecosystem carbon balance; NEP; NEE; NECB
<u>Cultural services</u> Recreation Inspiration Intellectual development	Recreation Inspiration Intellectual development	Tourism; mountainbiking; hiking; camping; scenic beauty; scenic value Art; folklore; writing; essay; painting; drawing; sculpture Science; education; cognitive development



Appendix S3: Disturbance effects on biodiversity and ecosystem service categories (following the definition of the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005): (a) biodiversity, (b) supporting services, (c) provisioning services, (d) regulation services and (e) cultural services. *N* indicates the number of observations.

9.2 Paper II: Disturbances catalyze the adaptation of forest ecosystems to changing climate conditions

Thom, D., Rammer, W., Seidl, R., 2016. Disturbances catalyze the adaptation of forest ecosystems to changing climate conditions. Glob. Chang. Biol. (accepted with minor revision)

Disturbances catalyze the adaptation of forest ecosystems to changing climate conditions

Running head: "Disturbances catalyze forest adaptation"

Dominik Thom^{1*}, Werner Rammer¹, Rupert Seidl¹

¹Institute of Silviculture, Department of Forest- and Soil Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU) Vienna, Peter-Jordan Straße 82, 1190 Vienna, Austria

*Corresponding author: Dominik Thom

E-mail: dominik.thom@boku.ac.at Tel: +43/1/47654/4088 Fax: +43/1/47654/4092

Keywords: climate change adaptation, forest ecosystem management, forest dynamics, Kalkalpen National Park, natural disturbance, novel ecosystems, species turnover, succession

Original research article

Abstract

The rates of anthropogenic climate change substantially exceed those at which forest ecosystems - dominated by immobile, long-lived organisms - are able to adapt. The resulting maladaptation of forests has potentially detrimental effects on ecosystem functioning. Furthermore, as many forest-dwelling species are highly dependent on the prevailing tree species, a delayed response of the latter to a changing climate can contribute to an extinction debt, and mask climate-induced biodiversity loss. However, climate change will likely also intensify forest disturbances. Here, we tested the hypothesis that disturbances foster the reorganization of ecosystems and catalyze the adaptation of forest composition to climate change. Our specific objectives were (i) to quantify the rate of autonomous forest adaptation to climate change, (ii) examine the role of disturbance in the adaptation process, and (iii) investigate spatial differences in climate-induced species turnover in an unmanaged mountain forest landscape (Kalkalpen National Park, Austria). Simulations with a process-based forest landscape model were performed for 36 unique combinations of climate and disturbance scenarios over 1,000 years. We found that climate change strongly favored European beech and oak species (currently prevailing in mid- to low elevation areas), with novel species associations emerging on the landscape. Yet, it took between 357 and 706 years before the landscape attained a dynamic equilibrium with the climate system. Disturbances generally catalyzed adaptation and decreased the time needed to attain equilibrium by up to 211 years. However, while increasing disturbance frequency and severity accelerated adaptation, increasing disturbance size had the opposite effect. Spatial analyses suggest that particularly the lowest and highest elevation areas will be hotspots of future species change. We conclude that the growing maladaptation of forests to climate and the long lead times of autonomous adaptation need to be considered more explicitly in the ongoing efforts to safeguard biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning.

Introduction

For long-lived organisms such as trees, the rapid progress of anthropogenic climate change (Collins et al., 2013) means that they will experience a distinctly different environment towards the end of their life compared to the conditions under which they have established, resulting in disequilibrium between the vegetation composition and the environment. Such a growing maladaptation of the prevailing vegetation to climate is likely to negatively affect the provisioning of a wide range of ecosystem services to society (Temperli et al., 2012; Lavorel et al., 2015). Furthermore, the occurrence of forest-dwelling species is strongly linked to the prevalence of specific tree species (Bergman et al., 2012; Thom et al., 2016). Increasingly maladapted forests may thus commit ecosystems to an extinction debt (i.e., a delayed extinction of species due to a protracted response of the ecosystem) (Kitzes & Harte, 2015), and mask the rate and severity of the ongoing biodiversity loss (Thuiller et al., 2005) due to a delayed response of tree species to a changing climate. Consequently, rapid climate change induces high uncertainty into the management of forest ecosystems for the provisioning of ecosystem service and the conservation of biodiversity (Millar et al., 2007; Seidl & Lexer, 2013), as experiences made under relatively constant climatic conditions (with climate and vegetation in equilibrium) are increasingly rendered inapplicable.

Theory suggests that disturbance catalyzes change in ecosystems (Gunderson & Holling, 2001), and can thus reduce the disequilibrium between the prevailing species composition and changing environmental conditions. This notion applies to both natural disturbances in unmanaged systems and silvicultural interventions in managed systems, given that management allows adaptation processes such as natural regeneration to ensue after a disturbance. We here refer to a reduction of the disequilibrium between vegetation composition and climate through natural processes as "autonomous adaptation" (in short referred to as adaptation in the remainder of the text). Processes through which disturbance fosters adaptation include the modification of competition among species, increased resource availability, and a reset of system-level connectedness after disturbance (i.e., a shift from primarily system-internal control mechanisms such as the competition for light to mainly external controls from, for instance, climate and the availability of seeds) (see e.g., Pickett *et al.*, 1989; Pulsford *et al.*, 2016). As a result of these processes, disturbances can initiate ecosystem reorganization by providing opportunities for new species to invade a site, or giving already present but suppressed species the chance to attain dominance.
Studies that have investigated disturbance-climate relationships generally suggest an intensification of natural disturbance activity in the future as a result of climate change (Dale *et al.*, 2001; Seidl *et al.*, 2014a). Hitherto, these disturbance changes have been mainly discussed as a potential threat to ecological resilience (Johnstone *et al.*, 2016, Seidl *et al.*, 2016). However, based on theoretical understanding of ecosystem dynamics (Gunderson & Holling, 2001) such changes can also be hypothesized to facilitate the adaptation of forests to climatic changes, as more disturbance results in a larger share of landscapes being in the state of reorganization that follows after disturbance (see also Serra-Diaz *et al.*, 2015). The increasing level of natural disturbance observed in many ecosystems around the globe currently could thus also be interpreted as a mechanism through which ecosystems reduce a growing maladaptation to a rapidly changing climate. The role of disturbance in shaping future ecosystem composition and reducing the climate-vegetation disequilibrium has as of yet been widely overlooked in the discussion of changing disturbance regimes under climate change.

Yet, changes in key ecosystem processes such as disturbances can also lead to profoundly altered ecosystem dynamics in both natural and managed forests. This has the potential to result in ecological novelty (i.e., dissimilarity of a system relative to a reference baseline (Radeloff *et al.*, 2015)) and the emergence of no-analog combinations of species (i.e., species communities that did not exist under past climatic conditions (Williams & Jackson, 2007)). Whether such novel trajectories of ecosystems are compatible with goals of conservation and ecosystem services provisioning remains unclear to date.

Understanding the potential trajectories of forest ecosystems under climate change is thus of paramount importance for ecosystem management. A general proposition frequently found in the ecosystem management literature is that species will shift to higher latitudes and elevations due to global warming (Lenoir *et al.*, 2008; Chen *et al.*, 2011). Such trajectories are confirmed by many studies using empirically calibrated species distribution models (e.g., Hanewinkel *et al.*, 2013; Zimmermann *et al.*, 2013). Species distribution models are powerful tools representing the fundamental niche of a species, and allowing the potential future distribution of a species' niche to be mapped in relation to projected climatic changes. However, they do assume climate-vegetation equilibrium of the current vegetation, and do not consider relevant processes such as migration and competition among species (Elith & Leathwick, 2009). As a result, important aspects of adaptation such as time lags in the turnover of the current species composition to a changing future climate are disregarded (see

e.g., Bertrand *et al.*, 2011; Meier *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, since the effects of changes in species interactions in response to a changing climate are not considered, shifts in the realized niche of species and the potential rise of novel species communities remain scarcely investigated (but see e.g., Thuiller *et al.*, 2015).

Here, we studied the interactions between vegetation, disturbance and climate in a complex, unmanaged mountain forest landscape. Our objectives were to (i) assess the time lags in the response of tree species composition and association to changing climatic conditions, (ii) examine the role of disturbance as possible facilitator of this adaptation process, and (iii) study how species turnover in response to different climate and disturbance regimes differs in space. We hypothesized long time lags in the autonomous adaption of the tree species composition (i.e., a trajectory towards the species that are most competitive under the given environmental conditions, without a consideration of management interventions) to climate change (Aitken et al., 2008; Meier et al., 2012). Furthermore, we expected the adaptation processes to be catalyzed by intensifying disturbance activity (e.g., through opening niches for the establishment of locally novel species, eventually resulting in a change in the tree species competition), consequently reducing vegetation-climate disequilibrium. Specifically we hypothesized a stronger influence of disturbance frequency and size (i.e., creating more and bigger opportunities for reorganization) than disturbance severity (see also Gunderson & Holling, 2001; Turner, 2010). Finally, we hypothesized that changing climate and disturbance regimes create local novelty in forest ecosystems, i.e., future tree species compositions and associations that are currently not present at a site, as both processes alter local environmental conditions, the availability of resources, and the competitive relations between species (see also Seastedt et al., 2008). In particular, we expected novelty to be most distinctive at low elevations where no-analog environmental conditions will emerge under climate change (see also Williams & Jackson, 2007).

Materials and Methods

Study area

We investigated Kalkalpen National Park (KANP), a forest landscape located at N47.47°, E14.22° in the northern front range of the Austrian Alps. We chose the landscape scale as the focal scale for our analyses, as it allows both large scale processes such as species migration and fine scale processes such as competition between individual trees to be addressed in an integrative manner. In addition to climate and natural disturbance – the processes of interest in this study – forest management is a prominent driver of tree species change (Naudts *et al.*, 2016). We here controlled for the influence of forest management by focusing our analysis on a national park landscape. KANP is the largest forest wilderness in Austria (total area of 20,856 ha), and covers an elevation range from 385 m to 1,963 m asl. Under current climatic conditions, the landscape encompasses three of the most important forest types of Central Europe, i.e., European beech (*Fagus sylvatica* [L.]) forests, Norway spruce (*Picea abies* [L.] Karst.) forests, and mixed forests of Norway spruce, silver fir (*Abies alba* [Mill.]) and European beech (Fig. 1). Since its establishment in 1997 active forest management has ceased in the core zone of KANP.



Figure 1: Simulated potential natural vegetation under historical climate at Kalkalpen National Park, showing the three most important forest types. Contour lines indicate elevation above sea level in meters.

Simulation model

We used the individual-based forest landscape and disturbance model iLand to simulate trajectories of tree species change under a range of different climate and disturbance scenarios at KANP. iLand is a high-resolution, process-based model operating on the grain of individual trees, simulating spatially explicit forest landscape dynamics (Seidl et al., 2012a). Processes in iLand are embedded in a hierarchical framework, accounting for interactions between tree (e.g., growth, mortality, competition for resources), stand (availability of water, nutrients), and landscape levels (disturbance, seed dispersal). The resource availability of each individual tree is derived based on a light use efficiency approach combined with ecological field theory. Resource utilization explicitly considers the effects of temperature, radiation, soil water and nutrient availability as well as vapor pressure deficit at daily time steps, and atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentration on an annual basis (Seidl et al., 2012a). Individual tree mortality is determined by carbon starvation. Regeneration depends on the local availability of seeds (determined by species-specific seed dispersal kernels around mature trees) as well as on favorable environmental conditions (e.g., light availability, temperature) (Seidl et al., 2012a, 2012b). iLand simulates ecosystem carbon stocks and fluxes and incorporates an agent-based forest management module (Rammer & Seidl, 2015). A wide range of disturbance regimes can be simulated by employing process-based disturbance modules. Currently, iLand includes modules for wildfire (Seidl et al., 2014b), wind (Seidl et al., 2014c) and bark beetle disturbance (Seidl & Rammer, 2016). To study disturbance impacts in detail users can also specify alternative disturbance regimes by specifying distributions for disturbance frequency, size, and severity. The model was successfully parameterized, tested, and applied in ecosystems in Central (Seidl et al., 2012a; Silva Pedro et al., 2015; Silva Pedro et al., 2016; Thom et al., 2016) and Northern Europe (Seidl et al., 2014c) as well as in the northwestern US (Seidl et al., 2012a, 2012b; Seidl et al., 2014b). For the current study system, simulated productivity, climate sensitivity and potential natural vegetation composition were previously evaluated successfully against independent data (Thom et al., 2016).

Initialization and drivers of landscape development

We compiled data for climate, soil and current vegetation at KANP to initialize and simulate future trajectories of landscape development. Simulations under baseline climate were conducted via resampling years from the period 1950 - 2010. We used three different

combinations of global and regional circulation models under A1B forcing as our main projections of transiently changing climatic conditions until the end of the 21th century: CNRM-RM4.5 (Radu *et al.*, 2008) driven by the global climate models (GCM) ARPEGE, and MPI-REMO (Jacob, 2001) as well as ICTP-RegCM3 (Pal *et al.*, 2007) driven by the GCM ECHAM5. To evaluate the sensitivities of our findings to climatic change scenarios we furthermore studied the least and most severe representative concentration pathway (RCP) scenarios (RCP2.6 and RCP8.5, respectively) and tested whether they significantly altered our main findings regarding the time required to reach dynamic equilibrium (see Fig. S1 and Table S4 in the Supporting Information for details).

From 2100 onwards, we assumed a stabilization of the climate at the level of 2080 - 2099, with years being resampled randomly with replacement. This arbitrary cessation of climate change was assumed here to gauge the time required for the ecosystem to catch up with climate, and marks a clear starting point for assessing time lags of vegetation response to a changed climate (see also Solomon *et al.*, 2009). The average climate assumed for the years beyond 2100 in the three A1B projections represents a temperature change of between +3.1°C and +3.3°C, and a precipitation change of between -89 mm and +141 mm relative to the baseline period. All climate data were bias-corrected by means of quantile mapping (Déqué 2007) against gridded weather station data at 1 × 1 km resolution (Haiden *et al.*, 2011), and statistically downscaled to a 100 m × 100 m grid using daily weather gradients within the study area.

We employed the same 100 m \times 100 m grid to initialize soil conditions in the simulations. Based on measurements of soil depth and soil type on a regular inventory grid across the KANP (N=710), Kobler (2004) developed statistical models of soil properties using environmental drivers as predictors. We utilized these models to derive wall-to-wall estimates of soil conditions across the landscape. Additional soil information required for simulation (i.e., soil texture and plant-available nitrogen) was imputed based on a stratified sampling from data derived from the Austrian National Forest Inventory (N=557) (Seidl *et al.*, 2009).

Information on current tree vegetation was derived from a combination of different data sources. We used aerial photo analysis and terrestrial inventory plot data (N=1,122) to derive tree species composition, diameter at breast height (dbh) distributions, and stem density at the level of stand polygons (median stand size: 1.4 ha). Stand age was determined from forest inventory and planning data, and airborne LiDAR (Light Detection And Ranging) was used to estimate canopy height as well as the stockable area within a stand. LiDAR data were further

utilized to determine the initial tree locations in iLand. Altogether, we initialized more than 2 10^6 trees of 17 different species in stand polygons representing 15,540 ha, characterizing the state of tree vegetation in the year 1999. To accommodate recent disturbance events at KANP, we subsequently simulated tree growth from 1999 to 2013, and imposed the recent disturbance history as recorded in the disturbance monitoring system of KANP (see also Thom *et al.*, 2016 for further details on landscape initialization). The year 2013 was subsequently used as the initial year for all scenario analyses. We assumed a small background probability of seeds from tree species in neighboring forests to enter the KANP landscape (see Table S2 for full list of tree species). The relative abundance of seeds from different tree species was determined from neighboring forest type, and dispersal into the study landscape was tree species specific following the same dispersal kernels as used in the dynamic simulation.

Simulation design

In order to capture the potentially extensive lead times of tree species adaptation, we simulated forest development at KANP over a period of 1,000 years. For each of the four main climate projections described in the previous section we investigated nine different disturbance scenarios, with one representing a no-disturbance control and the remaining eight imposing combinations of two levels of disturbance frequency, severity, and size (Table 1). Instead of dynamically simulating specific disturbance agents and their interaction with climate change (cf. Seidl & Rammer, 2016) we chose to employ generic disturbance scenarios and implement an orthogonal design in which disturbance frequency, severity, and size are independent of each other, and of the imposed climate projections. Studying all factorial combinations of independently varying frequencies, severities, and sizes under all different climate projections allowed us to robustly address our third hypothesis, namely that disturbance frequency and size affect adaptation more strongly than disturbance severity.

Our low-intensity disturbance variant (disturbance scenario 2, Table 1) assumed a disturbance rotation period of 250 years (see Thom *et al.*, 2013), a mean disturbance size of 5.3 ha (corresponding to the current mean disturbance size as determined from the disturbance inventory at KANP), and a disturbance severity of 50% (i.e., 50% of trees with dbh > 10 cm are killed within the disturbed perimeter; cf. Janda *et al.* (2016), who report average severities ranging from 29.0% to 74.9% of canopy removed in Central European mountain forests). This disturbance scenario thus roughly corresponds to the current disturbance regime at KANP,

which is mainly dominated by wind and bark beetles (cf. Seidl & Rammer, 2016). In the disturbance scenario with the highest intensity (disturbance scenario 9) disturbance rotation period was halved to 125 years, severity doubled to 100%, and disturbance size increased 10fold to a mean size of 53.4 ha. This extreme scenario thus represents the possibility of drastically changed disturbance regimes under future climate conditions (see Seidl & Rammer (2016) for an analysis of the climate sensitivity of wind and bark beetle disturbances at KANP). The location of disturbances was implemented stochastically in each simulation run, with disturbance size determined by drawing from a negative exponential distribution with the respective mean size. Whether one or more disturbance events occurred in a simulated year was determined by a probability function based on disturbance rotation period and disturbance size. To account for stochasticity in our analyses, we conducted 10 replicated simulations per scenario. To scrutinize the robustness of our results in the face of stochasticity we investigated the between-replicate coefficient of variation at the level of individual tree species (see Table S1 for details). In summary, our simulation design consisted of 4 climate projections \times 9 disturbance scenarios \times 10 replicates = 360 simulations of the 15,540 ha landscape over 1,000 years (i.e., 5.59 billion hectare-years simulated). The factorial design allowed us to separate the effects of different climate forcings from the different constituents of the disturbance regime (rotation period, severity, size) with regard to their influence on forest composition.

Table 1: Factorial design of disturbance scenarios, representing all possible combinations of two levels of disturbance frequency (here expressed as disturbance rotation period), severity, and mean disturbance size. Severity is characterized as trees with dbh >10 cm killed within the disturbed perimeter.

Disturbance scenario		Rotation period	Severity (%)	Mean size (ha)	
	R/S/M	(years)			
1	$\infty/0/0$	-	-	-	
2	250/50/5.3	250	50	5.3	
3	125/50/5.3	125	50	5.3	
4	250/100/5.3	250	100	5.3	
5	125/100/5.3	125	100	5.3	
6	250/50/53.4	250	50	53.4	
7	125/50/53.4	125	50	53.4	
8	250/100/53.4	250	100	53.4	
9	125/100/53.4	125	100	53.4	

Analyses

We tested for differences in the share of individual tree species among climate and disturbance scenarios at the end of the simulation period at a spatial grain of 100 m cells, using Wilcoxon rank sum test. As an indicator for the speed of adaptation to changing climatic conditions we used the elapsed time until the simulated landscape reached a dynamic equilibrium in species composition, i.e., the point in time after which fluctuations in tree species composition were negligible (White & Jentsch, 2001). We expected all simulations to eventually reach a dynamic equilibrium, as our landscape was large relative to disturbance frequency and size (on average none of the disturbance scenarios affected more than 1% of landscape area per year) (Turner et al., 1993), and we assumed a stabilization of climate change beyond year 2100. We considered a simulation as being in dynamic equilibrium when the temporal variation in basal area of all species present on the landscape was within a range of $\pm 2 \text{ m}^2$ ha⁻¹ of their respective simulation endpoint (defined as the average basal area per tree species in the last 200 years of the simulation). To assess the influence of this a priori set equilibrium definition on our findings we conducted a sensitivity analysis, investigating the effect of different threshold values ($\pm 1.5 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$ and $\pm 2.5 \text{ m}^2 \text{ ha}^{-1}$, respectively) on the estimated time until a dynamic equilibrium was reached.

Furthermore, we estimated migration speed in elevation as the mean annual change rate of a species' leading edge, defined as the 90th percentile of the elevation distribution of a species on the landscape. To test changes in the elevation distribution of species we derived species shares for each 100 m cell, and approximated the altitudinal distribution of each species using either a Gaussian (if a clear optimum was present) or a 2nd order polynomial function. Moreover, we asked whether species do change individually or in associations, using Spearman's rank correlation analysis to quantify the strength of association between species (and changes therein) at the same 100 m spatial grain.

To obtain a more mechanistic insight into the effect of disturbance on tree species adaptation, we utilized our set of orthogonal disturbance scenarios to test for differences between disturbance extent (i.e., percent area disturbed) and disturbance impact (i.e., percent basal area disturbed) on the emergence of a dynamic landscape equilibrium.

Finally, we analyzed the emerging tree species compositions under different climate and disturbance regimes with regard to their local novelty compared to baseline conditions. Specifically, we quantified species turnover triggered by climate change, i.e., the deviation of tree species shares under climate change from baseline values at the end of the simulation

period, and its distribution across the landscape. To that end we summed the differences in tree species shares between scenarios across all species, and divided by two to account for the fact that a 10% increase in one species *ipso facto* has to lead to a 10% decrease in another species. The theoretical maximum species turnover was thus 100% for each cell, where 100% indicated that the tree species composition under climate change contains no species of the composition simulated under baseline conditions (see also Radeloff *et al.*, 2015).

Results

Adaptation of forests to changing environmental conditions

Temporal trajectories of forest succession

Forest management activities prior to 1997 and recent severe disturbances (most notably the storm Kyrill in 2007) have significantly affected KANP. Consequently, all scenarios resulted in a considerable increase in mean basal area during the first 50 - 100 years relative to the current forest conditions (Fig. 2). Although the most drastic tree species changes occurred during the first centuries of the simulation, we found that particularly European beech and oak species (Q. petraea [Matt.] and Q. robur [L.]) were slow to stabilize on the landscape. Our simulations indicated a distinct impact of climate change on forest succession (Fig. 2, Table S2). While the average time to reach dynamic equilibrium under baseline climate conditions was 558 years (Fig. 2a), a changing climate prolonged the time needed for the landscape to be in dynamic equilibrium with its environment by 148 years on average if disturbance was neglected (Fig. 2b). At the landscape scale, European beech benefited most strongly from changing climate conditions (p<0.001), and increased its tree species share by +28.5 and +32.2 percentage points compared to baseline climate for scenarios with and without disturbances, respectively. Although negligible under baseline climate, the abundance of oaks strongly increased with warming (+20.0 and +22.9 percentage points for Q. petraea and Q.robur combined; p<0.001). Norway spruce, one of the main tree species at KANP under baseline climate, strongly decreased within the first 300 – 400 years under climate change, and only held a minor share of the tree species composition at the end of the simulation period (-19.4 and -16.7 percentage points, respectively, p<0.001). Conversely, silver fir was suppressed by past forest management, and recovered during the first centuries of the simulation under baseline climate. However, similarly to Norway spruce, it declined substantially under climate change conditions (-13.5 and -8.1 percentage points, respectively, p<0.001).



Figure 2: Trajectories of forest succession at KANP, summarized for four scenarios: (a) baseline climate without disturbance, (b) climate change without disturbance, (c) baseline climate with disturbance, and (d) climate change with disturbance. Values are averages over all scenarios and replicates in the respective categories. Tree species with \geq 5% basal area in at least one of the four scenarios are shown explicitly (see Table S2 for more information). The red dashed line indicates the point in time when a dynamic equilibrium was reached on average.

The role of disturbance in forest adaptation to changing environmental conditions

In addition to climate, also disturbance strongly influenced the trajectories of forest succession at the landscape scale. Overall, disturbance strongly favored early seral species (most notably silver birch (*Betula pendula* [Roth]), European larch (*Larix decidua* [Mill.]), sycamore maple (*Acer pseudoplatanus* [L.]) and aspen (*Populus tremula* [L.])) at the expense of late successional species (Fig. 2c, 2d, Table S2). While European beech was most positively affected by climate change among all tree species, it was also the species affected most severely by disturbances under both baseline and climate change conditions (a reduction of -13.4 and -17.1 percentage points under baseline and climate change conditions, respectively, p<0.001). Also silver fir declined substantially by -5.8% under baseline climate conditions as a result of disturbance (p<0.001). Disturbances reduced the time to reach dynamic equilibrium by on average 119 years (21.3 %) under baseline climate conditions (Fig. 2c) and by 72 years (10.2 %) under changed climatic conditions (Fig. 2d).

A subsequent in depth analysis at the level of the individual constituents of the disturbance regime revealed that both disturbance extent and impact had an important influence on the adaptation of tree species to changing environmental conditions (Fig. 3). For instance, the adaptation speed was accelerated by more than 100 years compared to undisturbed conditions when disturbance affected 0.8% of basal area and 0.8% of landscape extent per year. Specifically, we found synergistic effects between disturbance extent and impact – if the disturbance impact on basal area was low, the spatial extent of disturbance had only a weak influence on the speed of adaptation. With increasing disturbance impact, however, also the effect of an increasing spatial extent of disturbance impact on the adaptation speed of the effect of disturbance impact on the adaptation speed of the system.

While an increasing area affected by disturbance promoted forest succession, mean disturbance size was found to be negatively related to the speed of adaptation in most scenarios (Table 2). Overall, scenarios with a 10-fold increase in mean disturbance size (to 53.4 ha) prolonged the time it took for the landscape to reach dynamic equilibrium by +24.8 years compared to scenarios that assumed the historically observed mean disturbance size of 5.3 ha. In contrast, both increased severity (-64.3 years compared to current severity) and increased frequency (-54.5 years compared to current frequency) generally accelerated forest adaptation. Tree species composition at KANP adapted most quickly to the new climatic conditions in disturbance scenario 5 (disturbance rotation period 125 years, severity 100% and

mean size 5.3 ha). In this scenario, species adaptation was 201 years (baseline) and 211 years (climate change) faster than in scenarios excluding disturbances.

A sensitivity analysis of the equilibrium definition used here showed that our results were generally robust to different threshold levels for defining stabilization in the species composition, but also revealed considerable sensitivity of the time needed for adaptation (Tables S3.1, S3.2). Furthermore, assuming more extreme climatic change (scenario RCP8.5) prolonged the times needed to adaptation by 68 years, while more moderate future climate conditions accelerated it by 19 years on average across all disturbance scenarios (Table S4). These more extreme scenarios did, however, not differ significantly from the ensemble of climate change projections studied here in 17 out of the 18 scenarios, and did not alter the overall results regarding the disturbance effect on tree species adaptation.



Fig. 3: Simulated time until the tree species composition at KANP is fully adapted to climate, as influenced by disturbance impact (in % of basal area removed per year) and disturbance extent (in % of the total area of KANP disturbed per year). Isolines indicate the time needed (in years) to reach a dynamic equilibrium in the tree species composition, and were derived via a loess regression. For the current analysis climate was assumed to change until the end of the 21^{st} century and kept stable afterwards, allowing vegetation to catch up.

Table 2: The time the tree species composition needs to adapt to changing environmental conditions. Shown are the average years as well as standard deviations (SD) per disturbance scenario that are required until a dynamic equilibrium in the vegetation composition was reached on the landscape. Climate was assumed to change until the end of the 21st century and kept stable afterwards, allowing vegetation to catch up.

Dis	sturbance scenario	Baseline cl	imate	Climate cl	nange
	R/S/Ms	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
1	$\infty/0/0$	558	0	706	111
2	250/50/5.3	497	15	659	50
3	125/50/5.3	450	10	655	51
4	250/100/5.3	434	8	647	43
5	125/100/5.3	357	12	495	166
6	250/50/53.4	495	20	670	78
7	125/50/53.4	465	22	659	78
8	250/100/53.4	434	33	675	90
9	125/100/53.4	384	27	610	110

Species shifts and novel species compositions

Not all tree species shifted upwards in elevation in response to warming temperatures. While, most species, such as European beech (+0.26 m asl yr⁻¹), oak species (+0.24 m and +0.27 m asl yr⁻¹ for *Q. petraea* and *Q. robur*, respectively), and silver fir (+0.37 m asl yr⁻¹), migrated upwards with climate change, the leading edges of the distribution of Norway spruce (-0.02 m asl yr⁻¹) and European larch (+0.00 m asl yr⁻¹) remained virtually constant compared to baseline climate. To further elucidate changes in species over elevation we examined their distributions over elevation at the end of the simulation (Fig. 4). This analysis showed that oak species (mainly *Q. petraea*) invaded the elevation band that was formerly beech dominated (cf. also Fig. S2.4 with Fig. S2.8 and Fig. S2.9). Norway spruce and European larch, on the other hand, which were prominent tree species at higher elevations under baseline climate, became scarce under changed climatic conditions even at their past elevation optima (Fig. S2.5, S2.6).

Our analyses also indicated that climate change modified species associations as a result of changing competitive relationships among species (Tables 3 and 4). For instance, we found a substantial change in the association between European beech and oak species: While they were clearly positively related under baseline climate conditions (indicating co-occurrence in the warmer, low-elevation areas of the landscape), they were moderately negatively associated under changed climatic conditions (indicating growing niche separation, with oaks outcompeting beech in the exceedingly warm low-elevation parts of the landscape, and beech moving into higher elevation portions of the landscape). The relation between European beech and Norway spruce, on the other hand, became less negative under climate change, and the association of silver fir with European beech and Norway spruce remained positive. Correlations among early successional species such as silver birch, European larch and European aspen were positive under both baseline climate and climate change scenarios.

These changes in individual species ranges and species associations resulted in the emergence of local novelty in tree species composition. Comparing baseline climate under the current disturbance regime (scenario 2, Table 1) with climate change under intensified disturbance (scenario 9) revealed a species turnover of 51.8% (CI \pm 16.5%), indicating that more than half of the basal area of every stand will on average be replaced by novel tree species under changing climate and disturbance regimes (Fig. 5). In all scenarios, species turnover "hotspots" showed a distinct bimodal distribution over elevation, with most pronounced changes being simulated at the lowest and highest elevations. However, disturbances

dampened this spatial pattern of novel tree species compositions on the landscape and resulted in species turnover being more evenly distributed across the landscape cf. (Fig. S3).



Fig. 4: Distribution of the nine most common tree species over elevation at Kalkalpen National Park at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a species proportion of 1 indicates a basal area share of 100%). Lines represent fitted distributions over simulated species occurrence. Shaded areas indicate the 5th to 95th percentile range across all replicates and disturbance scenarios.

1	Table 3: Association between tree species under baseline climate conditions. Shown is Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, derived from all
2	scenario combinations simulated.

Species	A. alba	A. pseudo- platanus	B. pendula	F. sylvatica	L. decidua	P. abies	P. tremula	Q. petraea	Q. robur
A. alba	1								
A. pseudoplatanus	0.17	1							
B. pendula	-0.385	-0.495	1						
F. sylvatica	0.446	0.477	-0.865	1					
L. decidua	-0.417	-0.658	0.754	-0.781	1				
P. abies	0.112	-0.578	0.449	-0.634	0.623	1			
P. tremula	-0.355	0.212	0.637	-0.468	0.269	-0.121	1		
Q. petraea	-0.063	0.44	-0.524	0.656	-0.456	-0.687	-0.097	1	
Q. robur	-0.063	0.448	-0.519	0.663	-0.467	-0.7	-0.082	0.925	1

Species	A. alba	A. pseudo- platanus	B. pendula	F. sylvatica	L. decidua	P. abies	P. tremula	Q. petraea	Q. robur
A. alba	1								
A. pseudoplatanus	-0.313	1							
B. pendula	0.809	-0.175	1						
F. sylvatica	0.454	-0.305	0.154	1					
L. decidua	0.055	0.086	0.402	-0.625	1				
P. abies	0.182	0.107	0.324	-0.348	0.69	1			
P. tremula	0.772	-0.045	0.969	0.134	0.378	0.287	1		
Q. petraea	-0.856	0.178	-0.876	-0.358	-0.2	-0.219	-0.854	1	
Q. robur	-0.843	0.297	-0.78	-0.508	-0.013	-0.097	-0.746	0.952	1

Table 4: Association between tree species under changed climatic conditions. Shown is Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, derived from all
scenario combinations simulated.



Fig. 5: Species turnover as a result of changing climate and disturbance regimes. The map shows local species change $(100 \times 100 \text{ m grid})$ as a result of climate change and intensified disturbances (disturbance scenario 9) compared to baseline climate under historic disturbance (disturbance scenario 2). A value of 1 indicates a replacement of 100% of the trees relative to baseline climate.

Discussion

Drivers of forest adaptation

Climate change will strongly modify environmental conditions within the lifetime of a single generation of trees, and thus results in high uncertainty with regard to the spatio-temporal trajectories of forest ecosystems. Here we showed that the adaptation of forests to these changing conditions can lag several centuries behind climatic trajectories, but also that disturbances significantly decrease the temporal mismatch between the vegetation composition and the climate system. To our knowledge, we here presented the first comprehensive analysis on how changes in disturbance frequency, severity, and size could influence the growing disequilibrium between forest vegetation and the climate system. Our study highlights the importance of landscape-scale processes such as seed dispersal and disturbance to understand how forest ecosystems will change with progressing climate change. The process-based modeling approach employed here did not only track the fundamental niche of species, but also simulated species movement and establishment, as well as changing relative resource use efficiency between species. Consequently, we were able to not only account for direct (e.g., temperature), but also indirect (e.g., changing competition) impacts of climate change.

As expected, we found the current vegetation composition at NPKA to differ considerably from the potential natural vegetation derived under current climate conditions. As in many parts of Central Europe (e.g., Emmer *et al.*, 1998; Knoke *et al.*, 2005), historic management has strongly favored Norway spruce at the expense of European beech in our study area. Although active management has ceased at NPKA almost 20 years ago, the current tree species composition is still to a large degree the legacy of past land-use. Hence forests at KANP are currently in disequilibrium with the prevailing climate conditions. Our simulations suggest that it takes several centuries before the vegetation composition is in a dynamic equilibrium with climate conditions at NPKA even in the absence of a changing climate. This comparably slow return to a natural tree species composition suggests that compositional changes in recently installed protected areas that have previously been altered by humans are currently more strongly driven by recovery from past land use than by climate change. It also underlines that in some areas targeted ecosystem restoration measures could be of value to

accelerate the trajectory towards natural system states after intensive human alteration (e.g., Covington *et al.*, 1997; Zerbe, 2002).

The expected climate change will have a strong impact on the natural vegetation composition in Central European forest landscapes, and prolongs the time it takes for the current vegetation to adapt to its environment. Under past climate lower elevations were dominated by European beech, higher elevations by Norway spruce, and mid elevation areas by a mixture of European beech, Norway spruce and silver fir. This spatial pattern changed under climate change in our simulations, with European beech dominating large parts of the landscape and oak invading the lower reaches of KANP once a dynamic equilibrium between climate and vegetation was reached. These findings are in line with broad-scale studies using species distribution models (SDMs) (e.g., Hanewinkel et al., 2013; Zimmermann et al., 2013), but only emerged after century-long time lags in our spatio-temporally explicit analysis, confirming the hypothesis of a highly protracted tree species adaptation to changing climatic conditions. In this regard it is interesting to note that recent paleoecological work even suggested that forest ecosystems may remain in disequilibrium with climate for several millennia (Herzschuh et al., 2016). Our analysis revealed mean annual change rates in elevation of the most common tree species from -0.02 m asl yr⁻¹ to +0.37 m asl yr⁻¹ under climate change. These change rates are below the majority of woody species' change rates reported by Lenoir et al. (2008), who investigated elevational optimum shifts of plants in France from 1905 - 2005, but in contrast to our study, they also included ecosystems that have been continuously managed, while we excluded direct human interventions in our analysis. Differences in methodology for determining elevational change rates might also account for some of the divergence, while overall our estimates still fall within the large variation reported empirically (Lenoir et al. 2008). Furthermore, for the interpretation of our findings it is important to note that elevational shifts in our analysis were also to some degree limited by the specific topographic conditions of our study landscape. Norway spruce and European larch, for instance, were already occupying the highest elevation areas of the landscape under baseline climate, and were thus no more able to expand their territory upwards.

Our results generally support the expectation of a facilitating effect of disturbance on species adaptation. Because climate change is predicted to intensify future disturbance activity (Seidl et al., 2014a; Millar & Stephenson, 2015), it is likely that disturbances will reduce the climate - vegetation disequilibrium in forest ecosystems. In this regard we here were able to disentangle the effects of changes in disturbance rotation period, severity and size using a factorial simulation experiment. We found that increases in the different characteristics of the disturbance regime affected the compositional maladaptation to climate conditions in distinctly different ways: While increases in disturbance frequency and severity reduced the lag times of autonomous adaptation, increasing disturbance size prolonged the time it took for the landscape to reach a dynamic equilibrium. An increasing disturbance frequency implies an accelerated progression through the adaptive cycle of ecosystem dynamics, and a larger proportion of the landscape in the stages of reorganization and renewal (Gunderson & Holling, 2001). Larger disturbances, on the other hand, result in increased dispersal distances for species, which slows recovery and favors early-seral species over the slowly invading cohort of new late-seral species (Seidl et al., 2014b). This finding on the differential effects of changes in attributes of the disturbance regime suggests that the potential positive effect of intensifying disturbance activity on species adaptation will be contingent on the nature of disturbance change affecting the landscape. While an increase in disturbance frequency, as projected for many areas (Mouillot et al., 2002; Bentz et al., 2010), might aid adaptation, the emergence of "mega-disturbances" (Stephens et al., 2014; Millar & Stephenson, 2015) could further aggravate the maladaptation of vegetation to the emerging climate conditions.

A limitation of our study in this regard was the assumption of equal disturbance sensitivities between species. Wind and bark beetles are the most prominent disturbance agents in Central Europe, and a high share of Norway spruce also implicates a high predisposition of forests to those agents (Thom *et al.*, 2013). This suggests that the abundance of particularly disturbance-sensitive species on the landscape might be overestimated in our analysis. Future work should address this issue by investigating the effects of prominent disturbance agents on landscape trajectories explicitly and account for dynamic feedbacks between vegetation change and the disturbance regime (see e.g. Temperli *et al.*, 2013; Seidl & Rammer, 2016).

Future forests and ecological novelty

In line with previous research, we found early-seral species to benefit from higher levels of disturbance, as they are better able to recolonize disturbed parts of the landscape (Swanson *et al.*, 2011). This suggests that under the changed disturbance regimes expected for the future, early-seral species might play a more prominent role in forest dynamics than in the past. For the landscape investigated here our results suggests a homogenization of the tree species composition as a result of climate change, with European beech-dominated forest types strongly increasing their prevalence over other forest types. This effect is, however, partly offset by disturbances, which foster tree species diversity on the landscape (Silva Pedro *et al.*, 2016). These trends are of particular relevance in the context of biodiversity conservation, as tree species diversity is an important predictor for the diversity of a wide variety of other species groups (see e.g., Díaz *et al.*, 2005; Thom *et al.*, 2016).

In this context another important finding of our analysis is the rise of local novelty as a result of climate change. We found a high turnover of species for the large majority of locations within our study landscape (93.2% of the landscape had a species turnover of >40% (Fig. 5)). While on average species turnover rates were similar in disturbed and undisturbed simulations, we found that neglecting disturbance leads to an overestimation of novelty in high and low elevation areas of KANP (Fig. S3). Furthermore, we found that previous associations of species changed considerably, as tree species responded individually to the emerging climate conditions (see also Hanson & Weltzin, 2000). An aspect we did not account for in the analysis of emerging novel ecosystem composition, however, was the potential for an invasion of alien tree species (see e.g., Radeloff et al., 2015). However, as we here focus on a national park where anthropogenic disturbances are minimized and no exotic tree species will be introduced through management, this omission might be of minor importance for our study system. Nonetheless, specifically the role of disturbances on invasion of alien species requires further attention. While anthropogenic disturbances are generally regarded as catalysts of the invasion of nonnative species (Chytrý et al., 2008; Pysek et al., 2010), only a limited number of studies have assessed the impact of natural disturbances in this regard (see e.g., Davies et al., 2009).

Forest management implications

The uncertainty in future trajectories of forest ecosystems resulting from the rapidly changing environmental conditions poses a key challenge for forest management and conservation (Millar et al., 2007). Our study suggests that disturbance is an important facilitator of the autonomous adaptation of forest ecosystems to changing environmental conditions. We thus suggest that disturbances should be seen as opportunity for forest adaptation in the context of management (see also Seidl et al., 2016). As the slow migration of trees does not allow them to track rapid climatic changes (see also McLachlan et al., 2005), active management should be considered to shorten the extensive lead times, in order to sustain biodiversity and the provisioning of ecosystem services in the future (Seidl et al., 2011). In this regard our results suggest that particularly forests in low and high elevation zones are highly vulnerable to climate change-induced species change, and should thus be in the focus of monitoring and management. However, our findings also showed that changes might be considerably slower than suggested by species distribution models (e.g. Hanewinkel et al., 2013). In fact, our study indicated the absence of strong climate-induced changes in the tree species composition over the next 100 years compared to baseline climate. However, this slow response of forests must not be mistaken for an insensitivity of forests to a changing climate, but rather indicates a growing disequilibrium between forests and climate, and commits forests to strong future alterations in species composition. The effects of this growing maladaptation on biodiversity and ecosystem services provisioning are currently not sufficiently understood, yet will likely be a major factor to consider in the ecosystem management of the coming decades.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Austrian Science Fund FWF (grant P 25503-B16). R. Seidl acknowledges further support through a Marie Curie Career Integration Grant of the European Community (PCIG12-GA-2012 334104). The simulation results presented here have been generated at the Vienna Scientific Cluster (VSC). We thank three anonymous Reviewers for their helpful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript.

References

- Aitken SN, Yeaman S, Holliday JA, Wang T, Curtis-McLane S (2008) Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations. *Evolutionary Applications*, 1, 95–111.
- Bentz BJ, Régnière J, Fettig CJ et al. (2010) Climate change and bark beetles of the western United States and Canada: direct and indirect effects. *BioScience*, **60**, 602–613.
- Bergman K-O, Jansson N, Claesson K, Palmer MW, Milberg P (2012) How much and at what scale? Multiscale analyses as decision support for conservation of saproxylic oak beetles. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 265, 133–141.
- Bertrand R, Lenoir J, Piedallu C et al. (2011) Changes in plant community composition lag behind climate warming in lowland forests. *Nature*, **479**, 517–520.
- Chen I, Hill JK, Ohlemuller R, Roy DB, Thomas CD (2011) Rapid range shifts of species associated with high levels of climate warming. *Science*, **333**, 1024–1026.
- Chytrý M, Jarošík V, Pyšek P, Hájek O, Knollová I, Tichý L, Danihelka J (2008) Seperating habitat invasibility by alien plants from the actual level of invasion. *Ecology*, **89**, 1541–1553.
- Collins M, Knutti R, Arblaster J et al. (2013) Long-term climate change: projections, commitments and irreversibility. In: Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, TF, Qin D, Plattner G-K et al. (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.
- Covington W, Fule P, Moore M. et al. (1997) Restoring ecosystem health in ponderosa pine forests of the southwest. *Journal of Forestry*, **95**, 23–29.
- Dale VH, Joyce LA, Mcnulty S et al. (2001) Climate Change and Forest Disturbances. *BioScience*, **51**, 723.
- Davies KW, Svejcar TJ, Bates JD (2009) Interaction of historical and nonhistorical disturbances maintains native plant communities. *Ecological Applications*, **19**, 1536–1545.
- Déqué M (2007) Frequency of precipitation and temeprature extremes over France in an anthropogenic scenario: Model results and statistical correction according to observed values. *Global and Planetary Change*, **57**, 16–26.
- Díaz I, Armesto J, Reid S, Sieving K, Willson M (2005) Linking forest structure and composition: avian diversity in successional forests of Chiloé Island, Chile. *Biological Conservation*, **123**, 91–101.
- Elith J, Leathwick JR (2009) Species distribution models: Ecological explanation and prediction across space and time. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40, 677–697.
- Emmer IM, Fanta J, Kobus AT, Kooijman A, Sevink J (1998) Reversing borealization as a

means to restore biodiversity in Central-European mountain forests - an example from the Krkonoše Mountains, Czech Republic. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **7**, 229–247.

- Gunderson LH, Holling CS (2001) Panarchy: Understanding transformations in human and natural systems. Island Press, Washington, Covelo, London, 448 pp.
- Haiden T, Kann A, Wittmann C, Pistotnik G, Bica B, Gruber C (2011) The integrated nowcasting through comprehensive analysis (INCA) system and its validation over the Eastern Alpine region. Weather and Forecasting, 26, 166–183.
- Hanewinkel M, Cullmann DA, Schelhaas M-J, Nabuurs G-J, Zimmermann NE (2013) Climate change may cause severe loss in the economic value of European forest land. *Nature Climate Change*, **3**, 203–207.
- Hanson PJ, Weltzin JF (2000) Drought disturbance from climate change: repsonse of United States forests. *Science of the Total Envronment*, **262**, 205–220.
- Herzschuh U, Birks HJB, Laepple T, Andreev A, Melles M, Birgham-Grette J (2016) Glacial legacies on interglacial vegetation at the Pliocene-Pleistocene transition in NE Asia. Nature Communications, **7**, 11967.
- Jacob D (2001) A note to the simulation of the annual and inter-annual variability of the water budget over the Baltic Sea drainage basin. *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics*, 77, 61–73.
- Johnstone JF, Allen CD, Franklin JF et al. (2016) Changing disturbance regimes, ecological memory, and forest resilience. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, in press.
- Janda P, Trotsiuk V, Mikolas M et al. (2016) The historical disturbance regime of mountain Norway spruce forests in the Western Carpathians and its influence on current forest structure and composition. *Forest Ecology and Management*, in revision.
- Kitzes J, Harte J (2015) Predicting extinction debt from community patterns. *Ecology*, **96**, 2127–2136.
- Knoke T, Stimm B, Ammer C, Moog M (2005) Mixed forests reconsidered: a forest economics contribution on an ecological concept. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 213, 102–116.
- Kobler J (2004) Risikokarten als Planungsgrundlage für Flächenbewirtschaftung und Tourismuslenkung im Nationalpark Kalkalpen Oberösterreich. Faculty of Earth Sciences, Geography and Astronomy, University of Vienna. 1–304.
- Lavorel S, Colloff MJ, Mcintyre S et al. (2015) Ecological mechanisms underpinning climate adaptation services. *Global Change Biology*, **21**, 12–31.
- Lenoir J, Gegout JC, Marquet PA, de Ruffray P, Brisse H (2008) A significant upward shift in plant species optimum elevation during the 20th century. *Science*, **320**, 1768–1771.
- McLachlan JS, Clark JS, Manos PS (2005) Molecular indicators of tree migration capacity under rapid climate change. *Ecology*, **86**, 2088–2098.
- Meier ES, Lischke H, Schmatz DR, Zimmermann NE (2012) Climate, competition and connectivity affect future migration and ranges of European trees. *Global Ecology and*

Biogeography, **21**, 164–178.

- Millar CI, Stephenson NL (2015) Temperate forest health in an era of emerging megadisturbance. *Science*, **349**, 823–826.
- Millar CI, Stephenson NL, Stephens SL (2007) Climate change and forests of the future: managing in the face of uncertainty. *Ecological Applications*, **17**, 2145–2151.
- Mouillot F, Rambal S, Joffre R (2002) Simulating climate change impacts on fire frequency and vegetation dynamics in a Mediterranean ecosystem. *Global Change Biology*, **8**, 423– 437.
- Naudts K, Chen Y, McGrath MJ, Ryder J, Valade A, Otto J, Luyssaert S (2016) Europe's forest management did not mitigate climate warming. Science, **351**, 597–600.
- Pal JS, Giorgi F, Bi X et al. (2007) Regional climate modeling for the developing world: the ICTP RegCM3 and RegCNET. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, **88**, 1395–1409.
- Pickett STA, Kolasa J, Armesto JJ, Collins SL (1989) The ecological concept of disturbance and its expression at various hierarchical levels. *Oikos*, **54**, 129–136.
- Pulsford SA, Lindenmayer DB, Driscoll DA (2016) A succession of theories: purging redundancy from disturbance theory. *Biological Reviews*, **91**, 148–167.
- Pysek P, Jarosik V, Hulme PE et al. (2010) Disentangling the role of environmental and human pressures on biological invasions across Europe. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **107**, 12157–12162.
- Radeloff VC, Williams JW, Bateman BL et al. (2015) The rise of novelty in ecosystems. *Ecological Applications*, **25**, 2051–2068.
- Radu R, Déqué M, Somot S (2008) Spectral nudging in a spectral regional climate model. *Tellus A*, **60**, 898–910.
- Rammer W, Seidl R (2015) Coupling human and natural systems: simulating adaptive management agents in dynamically changing forest landscapes. *Global Environmental Change*, **35**, 475–485.
- Solomon S, Plattner G-K, Knutti R, Friedlingstein P (2009) Irreversible climate change to carbon dioxide emissions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **106**, 1704–1709.
- Seastedt TR, Hobbs RJ, Suding KN (2008) Management of novel ecosystems: are novel approaches required? *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **6**, 547–553.
- Seidl R, Lexer MJ (2013) Forest management under climatic and social uncertainty: Tradeoffs between reducing climate change impacts and fostering adaptive capacity. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **114**, 461–469.
- Seidl R, Rammer W (2016) Climate change amplifies the interactions between wind and bark beetle disturbance in forest landscapes. *Landscape Ecology*, DOI 10.1007/s10980-016-0396-4
- Seidl R, Rammer W, Blennow K (2014c) Simulating wind disturbance impacts on forest

landscapes: Tree-level heterogeneity matters. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, **51**, 1–11.

- Seidl R, Rammer W, Lexer MJ (2009) Schätzung von Bodenmerkmalen und Modellparametern für die Waldökosystemsimulation auf Basis einer Großrauminventur. Allgemeine Forst- und Jagdzeitung, 180, 35–44.
- Seidl R, Rammer W, Lexer MJ (2011) Adaptation options to reduce climate change vulnerability of sustainable forest management in the Austrian Alps. *Canadian Journal* of Forest Research, **41**, 694–706.
- Seidl R, Rammer W, Scheller RM, Spies TA (2012a) An individual-based process model to simulate landscape-scale forest ecosystem dynamics. *Ecological Modelling*, 231, 87– 100.
- Seidl R, Rammer W, Spies TA (2014b) Disturbance legacies increase the resilience of forest ecosystem structure, composition, and functioning. *Ecological Applications*, **24**, 2063–2077.
- Seidl R, Schelhaas M-J, Rammer W, Verkerk PJ (2014a) Increasing forest disturbances in Europe and their impact on carbon storage. *Nature Climate Change*, **4**, 806–810.
- Seidl R, Spies TA, Peterson DL, Stephens SL, Hicke JA (2016) Searching for resilience: addressing the impacts of changing disturbance regimes on forest ecosystem services. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **53**, 120–129.
- Seidl R, Spies TA, Rammer W, Steel EA, Pabst RJ, Olsen K (2012b) Multi-scale drivers of spatial variation in old-growth forest carbon density disentangled with Lidar and an individual-based landscape model. *Ecosystems*, 15, 1321–1335.
- Serra-Diaz JM, Scheller RM, Syphard AD, Franklin J (2015) Disturbance and climate microrefugia mediate tree range shifts during climate change. *Landscape Ecology*, **30**, 1039–1053.
- Silva Pedro M, Rammer W, Seidl R (2015) Tree species diversity mitigates disturbance impacts on the forest carbon cycle. *Oecologia*, **177**, 619–630.
- Silva Pedro M, Rammer W, Seidl R (2016) A disturbance-induced increase in tree species diversity facilitates forest productivity. *Landscape Ecology*, **31**, 989–1004
- Stephens SL, Burrows N, Buyantuyev A et al. (2014) Temperate and boreal forest mega-fires: Characteristics and challenges. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **12**, 115–122.
- Swanson ME, Franklin JF, Beschta RL et al. (2011) The forgotten stage of forest succession: early-successional ecosystems on forest sites. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 9, 117–125.
- Temperli C, Bugmann H, Elkin C (2012) Adaptive management for competing forest goods and services under climate change. *Ecological Applications*, **22**, 2065–2077.
- Temperli C, Bugmann H, Elkin C (2013) Cross-scale interactions among bark beetles, climate change, and wind disturbances: a landscape modeling approach. *Ecological Monographs*, 83, 383–402.

- Thom D, Seidl R, Steyrer G, Krehan H, Formayer H (2013) Slow and fast drivers of the natural disturbance regime in Central European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **307**, 293–302.
- Thom D, Rammer W, Dirnböck T et al. (2016) The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape. *Journal of Applied Ecology*. DOI: 10.1111/1365-2664.12644
- Thuiller W, Lavorel S, Araujo MB, Sykes MT, Prentice IC (2005) Climate change threats to plant diversity in Europe. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **102**, 8245–8250.
- Thuiller W, Pollock LJ, Gueguen M, Münkemüller T (2015) From species distributions to meta-communities. *Ecology Letters*, **18**, 1321–1328.
- Turner MG (2010) Disturbance and landscape dynamics in a changing world. *Ecology*, **91**, 2833–2849.
- Turner MG, Romme W, Gardner RH, O'Neill R, Kratz T (1993) A revised concept of landscape equilibrium: Disturbance and stability on scaled landscapes. *Landscape Ecology*, 8, 213–227.
- White PS, Jentsch A (2001) The search for generality in studies of disturbance and ecosystem dynamics. *Progress in Botany*, **62**, 399–450.
- Williams JW, Jackson ST (2007) Novel climates, no-analog communities, and ecological surprises. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **5**, 475–482.
- Zerbe S (2002) Restoration of natural broad-leaved woodland in Central Europe on sites with coniferous forest plantations. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **167**, 27–42.
- Zimmermann NE, Jandl R, Hanewinkel M et al. (2013) Potential future ranges of tree species in the Alps. In: *Management strategies to adapt alpine space forests to climate change risks* (eds Cerbu GA, Hanewinkel M, Gerosa G, Jandl R), 37–48 pp. InTech, New York.

Supporting information captions

Table S1: Relative coefficient of variation (in %) between individual replicates (n=10) in each scenario, displayed for the nine most common tree species at Kalkalpen National Park.

Table S2: Species share in percent of basal area at the end of the simulation period.

Table S3: Sensitivity analysis of the effect of different equilibrium definitions on the time needed to adapt to changing environmental conditions.

Table S4: Sensitivity analysis of the time to reach a dynamic equilibrium to the least and most severe representative concentration pathway of climate change.

Fig. S1: Climate change scenarios for temperature and precipitation change in Austria.

Fig. S2: Spatial distribution of the nine most common tree species under baseline climate and climate change.

Fig. S3: Species turnover as a result of climate change, under undisturbed conditions, and averaged over all scenarios including disturbances.

Supporting information

Table S1: Relative coefficient of variation (in %) between individual replicates (n=10) in each scenario, displayed for the nine most common tree species at Kalkalpen National Park. Values are given for the end of the 1000 year simulation period. B=baseline climate, A=ARPEGE climate change, I=ICTP climate change, R=REMO climate change, dist1–9=disturbance scenarios (see Table 1 for definitions).

	Tree spe	ecies							
Scenario	A. alba	A. pseudoplatanus	B. pendula	F. sylvatica	L. decidua	P. abies	P. tremula	Q. petraea	Q. robur
B, dist1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3
A, dist1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.5
I, dist1	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2
R, dist1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2
B, dist2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.5	0.4	0.4
A, dist2	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.7	0.2	0.3
I, dist2	0.8	0.5	0.8	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.9	0.2	0.2
R, dist2	0.6	0.5	0.7	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.8	0.2	0.3
B, dist3	1.1	0.4	1.1	0.9	0.5	0.5	1.7	1.0	0.4
A, dist3	0.6	1.9	2.0	0.7	1.0	0.4	2.9	0.5	0.5
I, dist3	1.4	1.2	1.9	0.6	1.0	0.7	2.1	0.5	0.5
R, dist3	0.7	1.0	1.4	0.4	1.2	0.7	2.2	0.6	0.7
B, dist4	0.7	0.3	0.5	0.9	0.3	0.4	0.8	1.1	0.8
A, dist4	0.5	0.6	1.2	0.1	0.5	0.4	1.1	0.3	0.4
I, dist4	1.6	0.7	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.9	0.5	0.3
R, dist4	1.7	0.8	1.2	0.4	0.5	0.2	1.5	0.3	0.3
B, dist5	1.1	0.9	1.0	1.0	0.8	1.1	0.9	1.4	0.6
A, dist5	1.7	2.3	3.8	1.2	1.0	0.8	4.6	0.8	0.7
I, dist5	3.0	1.9	3.0	1.1	1.4	1.0	4.6	0.7	0.6
R, dist5	1.6	1.2	1.3	0.7	1.2	1.0	2.0	0.9	0.9

B, dist6	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.2
A, dist6	0.5	0.3	0.6	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.7	0.2	0.3
I, dist6	0.8	0.3	0.7	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.9	0.3	0.3
R, dist6	0.7	0.3	0.7	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.9	0.3	0.4
B, dist7	0.9	0.5	0.7	0.8	0.4	0.5	1.0	0.7	0.6
A, dist7	0.5	0.5	1.7	0.5	0.6	0.4	1.8	0.4	0.3
I, dist7	1.5	0.9	1.6	0.5	0.9	0.8	2.2	0.8	0.6
R, dist7	1.1	0.8	2.2	0.7	0.6	0.5	2.3	0.7	0.4
B, dist8	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.6	0.8
A, dist8	1.1	0.2	1.1	0.7	0.5	0.5	1.3	0.7	0.5
I, dist8	0.9	0.4	0.8	0.6	0.6	0.5	1.4	0.6	0.4
R, dist8	1.7	0.3	0.6	0.6	0.3	0.4	0.9	0.4	0.3
B, dist9	1.8	1.0	1.3	1.6	1.4	1.5	1.9	1.1	1.2
A, dist9	1.9	1.4	2.1	1.8	1.1	1.1	3.6	1.6	1.0
I, dist9	3.2	0.9	2.0	1.5	1.0	1.1	3.0	1.5	0.9
R, dist9	3.8	1.2	1.4	1.3	1.0	0.8	2.3	0.6	0.5

Table S2: Species share in percent of basal area at the end of the simulation period of all 29 species considered in this study. Values were aggregated to the mean of the scenario combinations presented in Fig. 2.

	Baseline climate		Climate change			
	Disturbance	es simulated	Disturbances	s simulated		
Species	no	yes	no	yes		
Abies alba	14.7	8.9	1.2	0.8		
Acer campestre	< 0.1	0.1	< 0.1	0.1		
Acer platanoides	0.1	0.2	< 0.1	0.3		
Acer pseudoplatanus	4.3	8.4	0.6	2.7		
Alnus glabra	0.7	1.6	0.1	0.6		
Alnus incana	0.4	0.8	0.2	0.9		
Alnus viridis	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1		
Betula pendula	4.3	10.5	0.4	1.8		
Carpinus betulus	< 0.1	0.1	0.5	2.2		
Castanea sativa	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1		
Corylus avelana	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1		
Fagus sylvatica	38.1	24.7	70.3	53.2		
Fraxinus excelsior	1.2	3.2	0.2	1.5		
Larix decidua	6.0	7.5	1.3	3.5		
Picea abies	21.3	19.4	1.9	2.7		
Pinus cembra	0.4	0.7	< 0.1	0.1		
Pinus nigra	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.2	0.2		
Pinus sylvestris	1.9	2.7	1.1	2.8		
Populus nigra	< 0.1	0.2	< 0.1	0.1		
Populus tremula	1.8	4.8	0.2	1.0		
Quercus petraea	0.9	0.7	16.9	17.1		
Quercus pubescence	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.1		
Quercus robur	0.5	0.5	4.5	7.0		
Salix caprea	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1		
Sorbus aria	< 0.1	0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1		
Sorbus aucuparia	< 0.1	0.1	< 0.1	< 0.1		
Tilia cordata	3.2	4.2	0.3	0.7		
Tilia platyphyllos	0.1	0.2	< 0.1	< 0.1		
Ulmus glabra	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.3		

Table S3.1: Sensitivity analysis of the effect of different equilibrium definitions on time needed to adapt to changing environmental conditions. Shown are the average years and standard deviations (SD) per disturbance scenario needed to reach a dynamic equilibrium state defined as $\pm 1.5m^2$ /ha deviance in basal area (default: $\pm 2.0m^2$ /ha). R/S/M provides a summary of the disturbance processes per disturbance scenario: rotation/severity/mean size.

Disturbance scenario		Baseline climate		Climate change	
	R/S/Ms	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
1	$\infty/0/0$	588	0	786	91
2	250/50/5.3	554	9	746	89
3	125/50/5.3	476	7	703	58
4	250/100/5.3	463	11	711	70
5	125/100/5.3	395	6	646	57
6	250/50/53.4	548	24	783	115
7	125/50/53.4	501	30	755	104
8	250/100/53.4	464	39	798	122
9	125/100/53.4	415	19	772	143

Table S3.2: Sensitivity analysis of the effect of different equilibrium definitions on time needed to adapt to changing environmental conditions. Shown are the average years and standard deviations (SD) per disturbance scenario needed to reach a dynamic equilibrium state defined as $\pm 2.5 \text{m}^2/\text{ha}$ deviance in basal area (default: $\pm 2.0 \text{m}^2/\text{ha}$). R/S/M provides a summary of the disturbance processes per disturbance scenario: rotation/severity/mean size.

Disturbance scenario		Baseline climate	Baseline climate		
	R/S/M	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
1	$\infty/0/0$	488	0	548	138
2	250/50/5.3	468	6	531	159
3	125/50/5.3	420	10	535	167
4	250/100/5.3	402	11	571	126
5	125/100/5.3	253	45	373	191
6	250/50/53.4	466	14	596	107
7	125/50/53.4	427	25	600	126
8	250/100/53.4	396	60	597	128
9	125/100/53.4	357	32	540	165

Table S4: Sensitivity analysis of the time to reach a dynamic equilibrium to the least and most severe representative concentration pathway of climate change. We simulated all nine disturbance scenarios using RCP2.6 and RCP8.5, and tested if the time needed to reach dynamic equilibrium falls within the distribution derived for the main scenarios investigated here (A1B). * indicates a significant difference whereas ^{NS} indicates that the result was not significant (α =0.05). Significances in dynamic equilibria between simulated A1B and RCP scenarios were derived using the R package "extremevalues" (van der Loo, 2010).

Disturbance scenario		A1B			
	R/S/Ms	Mean	CI	RCP2.6	RCP8.5
1	$\infty/0/0$	706	218	331*	794 ^{NS}
2	250/50/5.3	659	99	628^{NS}	706 ^{NS}
3	125/50/5.3	655	100	639 ^{NS}	695 ^{NS}
4	250/100/5.3	647	84	631 ^{NS}	670 ^{NS}
5	125/100/5.3	495	325	551 ^{NS}	656 ^{NS}
6	250/50/53.4	670	152	732 ^{NS}	721 ^{NS}
7	125/50/53.4	659	153	730 ^{NS}	783 ^{NS}
8	250/100/53.4	675	177	731 ^{NS}	705^{NS}
9	125/100/53.4	610	215	632 ^{NS}	660 ^{NS}


Fig. S1: Climate change scenarios for temperature and precipitation change in Austria. Top and center panels show the temporal development of the three main scenarios studied here (SRES A1B) relative to the ensemble of CMIP5 scenarios. The bottom panel compares CMIP5 RCPs to A1B for Austria for the period 2080-2099, which was used as reference period for climate stabilization in this analysis (data are from Alder & Hostetler (2013)). Dots represent the mean values, and whiskers indicate the standard deviation of the different models for each scenario (number of models for RCP2.6: n=19, RCP4.5: n=23, RCP6.0: n=15, RCP8.5: n=26).



Fig. S2.1: Spatial distribution of *A. alba* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.2: Spatial distribution of *A. pseudoplatanus* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.3: Spatial distribution of *B. pendula* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.4: Spatial distribution of *F. sylvatica* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.5: Spatial distribution of *L. decidua* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.6: Spatial distribution of *P. abies* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.7: Spatial distribution of *P. tremula* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.8: Spatial distribution of Q. *petraea* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S2.9: Spatial distribution of Q. *robur* at the end of the 1000 year simulation period (a value of 1 indicates a species share of 100%) under (a) baseline climate and (b) climate change scenarios. Both distributions were aggregated to mean values over all disturbance scenarios.



Fig. S3: Species turnover (a value of 1 indicates a turnover of 100% relative to baseline climate) as a result of climate change, under (a) undisturbed conditions, and (b) averaged over all scenarios including disturbances.

References

- Alder JR, Hostetler SW (2013) CMIP5 Global Climate Change Viewer. US Geological Survey, http://regclim.coas.oregonstate.edu/gccv/index.html, DOI:10.5066/F72J68W0.
- van der Loo MPJ (2010) Distribution based outlier detection for univariate data. *Statistics Netherlands*, **Discussion paper 10003**, 1–14.

9.3 Paper III: The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatiotemporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape

Thom, D., Rammer, W., Dirnböck, T., Müller, J., Kobler, J., Katzensteiner, K., Helm, N., Seidl, R., 2016. The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape. J. Appl. Ecol., DOI: 10.1111/1365-2664.12644

The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatio-temporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape

Dominik Thom^{1*}, Werner Rammer¹, Thomas Dirnböck², Jörg Müller^{3,4}, Johannes Kobler², Klaus Katzensteiner⁵, Norbert Helm², Rupert Seidl¹

¹Institute of Silviculture, Department of Forest- and Soil Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU) Vienna, Peter-Jordan Straße 82, 1190 Vienna, Austria

²Department for Ecosystem Research & Environmental Information Management, Environment Agency Austria, Spittelauer Lände 5, 1090 Vienna, Austria

³Bavarian Forest National Park, Freyungerstraße 2, 94481 Grafenau, Germany

⁴Department of Ecology and Ecosystem Management, Chair of Terrestrial Ecology, Technische Universität München, Hans-Carl-von-Carlowitz-Platz 2, 85354 Freising, Germany

⁵Institute of Forest Ecology, Department of Forest- and Soil Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU) Vienna, Peter-Jordan Straße 82, 1190 Vienna, Austria

*Corresponding author: Dominik Thom

E-mail: dominik.thom@boku.ac.at

Tel: +43/1/47654/4088 Fax: +43/1/47654/4092

Running title: Climate and disturbance effects on biodiversity

Summary

1. The ongoing changes to climate challenge the conservation of forest biodiversity. Yet, in thermally limited systems, such as temperate forests, not all species groups might be affected negatively. Furthermore, simultaneous changes in the disturbance regime have the potential to mitigate climate-related impacts on forest species. Here we (i) investigated the potential long-term effect of climate change on biodiversity in a mountain forest landscape, (ii) assessed the effects of different disturbance frequencies, severities and sizes, and (iii) identified biodiversity hotspots at the landscape scale to facilitate conservation management.

2. We used the model iLand to dynamically simulate the tree vegetation on 13 865 ha of the Kalkalpen National Park in Austria over 1000 years, and investigated 36 unique combinations of different disturbance and climate scenarios. We used simulated changes in tree cover and composition as well as projected temperature and precipitation to predict changes in the diversity of Araneae, Carabidae, ground vegetation, Hemiptera, Hymenoptera, Mollusca, saproxylic beetles, Symphyta, and Syrphidae, using empirical response functions.

3. Our findings revealed widely varying responses of biodiversity indicators to climate change. Five indicators showed overall negative effects, with Carabidae, saproxylic beetles, and tree species diversity projected to decrease by more than 33%. Six indicators responded positively to climate change, with Hymenoptera, Mollusca, and Syrphidae diversity projected to increase more than twofold.

4. Disturbances were generally beneficial for the studied indicators of biodiversity. Our results indicated that an increasing disturbance frequency and severity has a positive effect on biodiversity, while increasing disturbance size has a moderately negative effect. Spatial hotspots of biodiversity were currently found in low- to mid-elevation areas of the mountainous study landscape, but shifted to higher elevation zones under changing climate conditions.

5. *Synthesis and applications*. Our results highlight that intensifying disturbance regimes may alleviate some of the impacts of climate change on forest biodiversity. However, the projected shift in biodiversity hotspots is a challenge for static conservation areas. In this regard

overlapping hotspots under current and expected future conditions highlight priority areas for robust conservation management.

Key-words: biodiversity hotspots, climate change impacts, conservation management, forest ecosystem management, insect diversity, landscape ecology, Kalkalpen National Park, plant diversity

Introduction

Biodiversity has been identified as a key determinant for the quality and functioning of ecosystems worldwide (Díaz & Cabido 2001; Cardinale, Palmer & Collins 2002). The currently ongoing decline in biodiversity threatens the ability of ecosystems to adapt to changing conditions and hampers the provisioning of ecosystem services, and thus represents one of the greatest challenges for humanity (Bellard *et al.* 2012). Changes in land use and climate have been identified as the main drivers of this decline (Sala 2000). Particularly forest ecosystems are under pressure, as climate change may threaten forest-dependent species across a wide range of species groups (Thomas *et al.* 2004). The vulnerability of forest biodiversity along with the fact that the majority of terrestrial species depend on forest ecosystems underlines the key role of forests in conservation management (Myers *et al.* 2000; Parrotta, Wildburger & Mansourian 2012).

The majority of studies on climate change impacts on biodiversity have focused on direct effects of climate change, i.e. effects of changes in temperature and precipitation on biodiversity. Fewer works have also investigated indirect effects, such as the effect of climatemediated changes in forest structure and composition on species presence and abundance (e.g. De Frenne et al. 2013). While forest structure and composition generally respond slowly to environmental changes, they can be altered quickly and profoundly by disturbances, i.e. pulses of tree mortality caused by agents such as bark beetles, fire and wind. Disturbances are climate sensitive and have already intensified during the last decades (Seidl, Schelhaas & Lexer 2011). A further intensification of disturbance regimes in response to ongoing climatic changes is likely (Seidl et al. 2014; Millar & Stephenson 2015). While often regarded as undesirable "calamities" in forest management, the resulting increases in biodiversity (e.g. indicated by the number of species) generally reveal a positive impact of disturbances on biodiversity (Müller et al. 2008; Thom & Seidl 2015). However, the net effect of changing climate and disturbance regimes on forest biodiversity remains unclear: Will intensifying disturbance regimes offset the predicted negative direct effects of climate change on biodiversity? Or will increasing climate and disturbance change threaten the ecological resilience of ecosystems, and consequently the habitat quality of forest-dependent species?

Future climate change impacts on plant and animal diversity have predominantly been assessed using niche models, i.e. empirical relationships between species presence or abundance and climate variables (Zimmermann *et al.* 2010). Notwithstanding their scientific value (e.g. assessing the climatic suitability of species and their potential range for migration under future climate), such models have major shortcomings in the context of conservation planning and management. For instance, they commonly ignore biotic interactions that strongly affect species composition (but see Thuiller *et al.* (2015)). Moreover, niche models assume that species track changing climatic conditions instantaneously, disregarding time lags and indirect effects of climate change such as habitat changes and disturbance-driven perturbations (Elith & Leathwick 2009). In contrast, process-based forest simulation models project transient pathways of ecosystem change while accounting for the complex and interacting effects of climate change (Kearney & Porter 2009). These approaches, however, usually focus solely on tree vegetation and rarely address other species relevant in the context of biodiversity conservation.

Here we combined landscape-scale forest simulation modelling with empirical climatediversity relationships to circumvent many of these limitations. Our aim was to address the climate sensitivity of forest biodiversity explicitly in space and time, and particularly study the effect of current and changed climate and disturbance regimes over an extended time frame of 1000 years. Our specific objectives were to (i) investigate the role of climate change on a wide range of indicators of forest biodiversity over time, (ii) assess the effects of different disturbance frequencies, severities, and sizes on biodiversity indicators, and (iii) identify current and future biodiversity hotspots at the landscape scale to facilitate future conservation management. The latter question is of particular relevance as identifying and preserving areas of particular value for biodiversity, e.g. due to their particular richness or habitat value for keystone species (Myers et al. 2000), is a cornerstone of current conservation management. Many existing protected areas are centred on such biodiversity hotspots, yet whether these systems also will remain hotspots in a drastically changing climate remains uncertain (see e.g. Hansen et al. 2001; Bässler et al. 2013). Here, we tested for a shift of biodiversity hotspots along the steep altitudinal gradients of our study landscape to higher elevation areas due to reduced thermal limitations in a future climate. Based on previous large-scale assessments we furthermore hypothesized an overall negative impact of climate change on forest biodiversity (Thomas *et al.* 2004), but a positive effect of natural disturbance (Thom & Seidl 2015). Finally we tested the hypothesis that a slow response of forest composition and structure leads to a considerable time lag in the response of biodiversity to changing climatic conditions (Bertrand *et al.* 2011).

Materials and methods

STUDY AREA

The Kalkalpen National Park (KA-NP) is located at N47.47° E14.22°, in the northern front range of the Austrian Alps (Fig. 1). The landscape is characterized by steep mountainous terrain, with elevations ranging from 385 to 1963 m a.s.l. Soils are predominately shallow with Lithic and Rendzic Leptosols and Chromic Cambisols as the dominant soil types over calcareous bedrock. The climate varies with topography, with temperature decreasing (mean annual temperature range: 3.6–9.0°C) and precipitation increasing (mean annual precipitation range 1205–1741mm) with elevation. With a total size of 20 856 ha mainly consisting of forests, the Kalkalpen National Park is the largest forest wilderness in Austria. It includes a diverse range of forest ecosystems including European beech *Fagus sylvatica* (L.) forests in the lower reaches, mixed forest types of beech, Norway spruce *Picea abies* (L. Karst.), and silver fir *Abies alba* (Mill.) in mid elevations, and subalpine spruce forests in high elevations. Before establishment of the KA-NP in 1997, the area was managed mainly for timber production, but today conforms to IUCN category II (National Park).



Fig. 1. Location, extent, and topography of the study landscape - Kalkalpen National Park.

SIMULATION MODEL

To simulate forest landscape dynamics at KA-NP we used iLand, the individual-based forest landscape and disturbance model. iLand is a spatially explicit process-based model. It was developed to simulate interactions between environmental drivers (e.g. climate regime, nutrient and water availability), forest vegetation processes (e.g. growth, mortality, and regeneration), and disturbances regimes (e.g. wind storms, wildfires) (Seidl et al. 2012a). Processes in iLand interact in a hierarchical multi-scale framework, including processes on the tree (e.g. growth, mortality, competition for resources), stand (availability of water, nutrients), and landscape level (disturbance, seed dispersal). The simulation of primary production in iLand is based on a light-use efficiency approach, with scalar modifiers accounting for the effects of temperature, soil water availability, vapour pressure deficit, nutrient availability as well as atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentration. Mortality of trees in iLand considers intrinsic mortality (i.e. age-related causes) and stress-related mortality (using carbon starvation as a physiological proxy for stress) as well as disturbance events such as windstorm or fire. Regeneration is spatially explicit and depends on the availability of seeds as well as favourable light and environmental conditions. A detailed description of iLand is available in Seidl et al. (2012a; b) and from an extensive online documentation (http://iLand.boku.ac.at).

For the current study, we evaluated the model's ability to simulate the KA-NP by testing iLand's ability to reproduce expected values of productivity (Fig. S1 in Supporting Information), climate sensitivity (Fig. S2), and the potential natural vegetation (Fig. S3). Overall, these tests resulted in good correspondence of the model with independent observations and supported the application of iLand for studying ecosystem dynamics at the KA-NP.

INITIAL CONDITIONS AND DRIVERS

Soil and climate varied at a spatial grain of 100×100 m in the simulations (in total 19 200 ha), while the initial vegetation conditions were derived for stand polygons covering the 13 865 ha forest area of the KA-NP (median stand size: 1.4 ha). Soil depth and type (Kobler

2004), texture (from inventory plots) as well as plant available nitrogen (Seidl, Rammer & Lexer 2009) were used to characterize soil conditions. To initialize the current vegetation, we combined data sources from forest inventory and planning data, aerial photo analysis and LiDAR. Altogether, we initialized more than 2 10^6 trees from 17 different species, representing the state of the tree vegetation at KA-NP in the year 1999. Four climate scenarios were studied: A baseline climate scenario where we repeatedly sampled years from the period 1950–2010 for the 1000-year simulation period, and three regionally downscaled climate change scenarios, representing different combinations of global and regional circulation models under A1B forcing. A stabilization of climate conditions at the level of 2080–2099 was assumed for the years beyond 2100 (i.e. *inter alia* 3.1–3.3°C change relative to the baseline period). A more detailed description of the initial conditions and driver data for the simulation is provided in Appendix S1.

LANDSCAPE SIMULATION

We simulated the currently forested 13 865 ha of the KA-NP for 1000 years with 36 unique combinations of climate and disturbance scenarios to derive tree species composition at the level of 100-m grid cells. In addition to the four climate scenarios described above, we investigated all possible combinations of two different disturbance frequencies, severities and size scenarios for every climate scenario. The low-intensity disturbance variant represents the current disturbance regime, with a rotation period of 250 years (Thom et al. 2013), and a mean disturbance size of 5.3 ha (based on a disturbance inventory at KA-NP). As moderate disturbance severity we assumed a mortality of 50% of trees with diameter at breast height (d.b.h.) > 10 cm in this variant. At increased disturbance scenarios the disturbance rotation period was halved to 125 years, the size increased 10-fold to 53.4 ha, and the severity doubled to 100%. Additionally, we included a scenario without disturbance, bringing the total number of studied disturbance scenarios to nine (2 frequencies \times 2 severities \times 2 sizes + 1 no disturbance scenario). Within these disturbance regime definitions, simulated disturbances were implemented stochastically in each scenario, with the actual disturbance size drawn from a negative exponential distribution, and the location of the disturbance assigned randomly to the landscape. Each scenario was replicated ten times to account for stochasticity in the simulation. We tested the sufficiency of using ten replicates per scenario by analysing the coefficients of variation (cv) of our response variables, and found robust results for all indicators at the end of the simulation period (cv < 2% for all indicators and scenarios, Table S1). In total 360 simulations were conducted (4 climate scenarios \times 9 disturbance scenarios \times 10 replicates). This simulation design was specifically developed (i) to stringently distinguish climate and disturbance effects on biodiversity (due to independence of climate and disturbance scenarios in the simulation), and (ii) to assess which disturbance regime parameters (i.e. size, severity, or frequency) are most influential on biodiversity. To account for the vegetation changes that have occurred between 1999 (the year for which initial vegetation information was available) and 2013 (the initial year of the analysis), we ran the model for these 14 years using the respective climate forcing and recreating the disturbances that were observed during that period. Each simulation was then run over 1000 years starting in the year 2013.

INDICATORS OF BIODIVERSITY

To obtain a comprehensive assessment of the climate and disturbance effects on forest biodiversity we jointly analysed eleven different biodiversity indicators for each simulated 1-ha grid cell. Tree species diversity and canopy complexity were directly derived from iLand simulations. Basal area shares were used to compute tree species diversity, using the exponent of the Shannon-Index (exp(H')) as an indicator for the effective number of tree species. Canopy complexity was described by means of the rumple index (Parker *et al.* 2004), which is the ratio of the canopy surface area to the projected ground surface area, calculated here at 10-m horizontal resolution. With regard to animal diversity, richness data (number of species) on Araneae (web spiders), Carabidae (ground beetles), Hemiptera (true bugs), Hymenoptera (sawflies, wasps, bees and ants), Mollusca (snails and slugs), saproxylic (deadwood-dependent) beetles, Symphyta (sawflies), as well as Syrphidae (hoverflies) were derived from biodiversity inventories (0.1 ha plots) in 52 locations distributed over neighbouring Bavaria (Bässler *et al.* 2008). Furthermore, data on the richness of the ground vegetation (vascular plant species with a height of up to 60 cm) were derived from the FlorAlp-Database (Dullinger *et al.* 2012) by selecting releves with a uniform size of 625 m² (n=852). Based on

these data we developed empirical response functions for the nine biodiversity indicators not derived directly from simulations, where the response variable (number of species in each group) was related to mean annual precipitation sum (Psum) and mean annual temperature (Tmean) (indicators of the climate regime), canopy cover (an indicator for light availability and the local thermal regime), and the relative share of canopy tree species (indicators of species association). We used negative binomial generalized linear models (glms) with a logarithmic link function to predict species diversity of each indicator. Based on ecological theory we hypothesized an optimum relationship of temperature and canopy cover for each indicator, and consequently transformed these predictors using second order polynomial functions (Austin 2002). The transformed variable was retained if the species diversity response was biologically meaningful. To determine the model most strongly supported by the data we used Akaike's information criterion (AIC), Nagelkerke R² values as well as P-values from chisquare goodness-of-fit tests. Final models were tested for multicollinearity by means of (generalized) variance inflation factors (VIF or GVIF). To further analyse the thus derived empirical models with regard to their response to climate and tree vegetation changes a local sensitivity analysis was conducted.

In a subsequent step we used the fitted glms with the respective climate input and iLandderived tree layer information to project biodiversity responses for all scenarios. For each of the eleven indicators we derived the effect of climate change at any given point in space and time by relating each simulation under climate change to the mean over the baseline period under the same disturbance scenario. For the analyses of climate change effects over time, we aggregated the 100-m grid cells to landscape-level mean responses. From these comparisons over all scenarios and replicates, the median and 95th percentile range of climate-induced diversity changes were computed. Similarly, the disturbance effect was calculated by relating scenarios of different disturbance frequency, severity and size to the respective undisturbed scenario under any given climate regime. Both climate and disturbance effects were tested against the null hypothesis of no effect by means of Wilcoxon's signed rank sum test.

BIODIVERSITY HOTSPOTS

To also address spatial changes in biodiversity on the landscape we assessed biodiversity hotspots at KA-NP, i.e. we identified areas that support a high diversity across all indicators. To be able to compare across indicators, we used percentiles of diversity estimates for all 360 simulations at the end of the simulation period. In analogy to the assessment of multifunctionality across ecosystem services (e.g. Pasari *et al.* 2013), hotspots were defined as an area where every indicator reaches or exceeds a predefined threshold (here set this at the 25th percentile value). Differences between scenarios were analysed by means of McNemar's chi-squared test, and spatial analysis of hotspots was conducted by mapping at a grain of 100-m grid cells. To evaluate sensitivities of the result to this particular definition of hotspots an alternative hotspot definition was also investigated (see Fig. S4 for details).

Results

SENSITIVITY OF FOREST BIODIVERSITY

The empirical models for predicting diversity in species groups were found to satisfactorily fit the empirical data, with pseudo- R^2 values ranging from 0.23 to 0.96 (Table 1). Chi-square goodness-of-fit tests did not reject the final models. VIF and GVIF, respectively, were all <10, indicating that final models were not strongly affected by multicollinearity (Dormann *et al.* 2013).

Analyses of the fitted parameters and sensitivity analysis indicated that taxonomic groups reacted non-uniformly to modifications in their environment (Table S2). Changes in average temperature, for instance, resulted in a range of responses: while species groups such as Hymenoptera and Syrphidae strongly benefited from increasing temperatures (+71.8% and +49.9% for a +1°C increase), others such as Araneae and saproxylic beetles were clearly negatively affected (-9.3% and -8.8% for the same temperature increase). Compared to this distinct temperature effect, precipitation had a weaker influence on diversity in species groups. Six out of nine models maintained precipitation as covariate though, with Araneae, Carabidae, Hymenoptera and saproxylic beetles showing negative responses while ground vegetation and Syrphidae responding positively to an increase in precipitation. Besides impacts of changing climatic conditions, changes in tree vegetation were also important determinants of diversity in species groups. While the proportion of beech and spruce was found to have negative impacts on biodiversity, the share of oak Quercus petraea (Matt.) and Quercus robur (L.) and hornbeam Carpinus betulus (L.) positively influenced diversity in a range of species groups. An increase in canopy cover was found to have negative effects on the species diversity of most taxonomic groups (between -1.8% and -13.6% for a 10% increase in canopy cover) – only Carabidae and saproxylic beetles were weakly positively related to canopy cover.

Table 1. Parameters and goodness-of-fit of the empirical species diversity models (negative binomial generalized linear models with a logarithmic link function). Tmean: mean annual temperature; P_{sum} : sum of annual precipitation; beech, spruce, oak + hornbeam as well as canopy cover are relative shares (%). poly() indicates the polynomial transformation (2. order) of a predictor

Response		R ²	<i>P</i> -value
variable	Predictors	(Nagelkerke)	(Chi ²)
Araneae	Tmean, Psum, oak + hornbeam, poly(canopy cover)	0.61	0.179
Carabidae	Tmean, Psum, beech, canopy cover	0.26	0.126
Ground			
vegetation	poly(Tmean), Psum, spruce, poly(canopy cover)	0.23	0.176
Hemiptera	Tmean, beech, spruce, canopy cover	0.54	0.252
Hymenoptera	Tmean, Psum, poly(canopy cover)	0.90	0.174
Mollusca	Tmean, spruce, canopy cover	0.87	0.250
Saproxylic	poly(Tmean), Psum, oak + hornbeam, poly(canopy		
beetles	cover)	0.96	0.173
Symphyta	Tmean, beech, poly(canopy cover)	0.37	0.108
Syrphidae	Tmean, Psum, beech, poly(canopy cover)	0.47	0.186

CHANGES IN BIODIVERSITY IN RESPONSE TO CLIMATE CHANGE

Our simulations indicated a pronounced increase in the share of European beech and a decrease in Norway spruce under climate change (Table 2), with changes progressing considerably beyond the assumed point of climate stabilization in 2100. Tree species composition did, however, also change under baseline climate conditions, highlighting past management legacies in the current tree species composition. The combined effects of direct and indirect responses to climate change on the eleven biodiversity indicators were strongly divergent. While six indicators showed overall positive responses, five were negatively affected at the end of the 1000-year simulation period (P < 0.001). Climate change was beneficial for the diversity of ground vegetation, Hemiptera, Hymenoptera, Mollusca, Symphyta and Syrphidae, but reduced the diversity of Araneae, Carabidae and saproxylic beetles as well as the canopy complexity of forests in the landscape (Fig. 2, Table 3). Tree species diversity was slightly positively affected during the first 100-200 years, but eventually dropped to -35.8% compared to baseline climate conditions. The most drastic changes in a wide range of species groups were found during the first 100 years of the simulation, indicating a prominent direct climate effect. Tree layer-mediated indirect effects were most distinctive for Araneae and saproxylic beetles, where the increase in oak and hornbeam cover in response to warming (positive indirect effect) compensated direct negative impacts of elevated temperature and reduced precipitation over the long term. The opposite signal was found for Hemiptera and Symphyta: While direct climate change effects were beneficial for both species groups, the climate-induced increase in beech negatively influenced species diversity in these groups.



Fig. 2. Landscape-scale response of biodiversity indicators to climate change relative to baseline climate conditions (1950–2010). Red lines present the median, and grey shaded areas illustrate the 95th percentile range. The y-axis indicates the percentage change compared to baseline climate conditions, while the x-axis indicates the simulated year. Note that y-axes are on different scales.

	Disturbance	Initial state	Baseline climate				Climate change			
	year 0		year 100		year 1000		year 100		year 1000	
		mean	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD
<i>A. alba</i> (%)	no	-	3.3	0.0	13.1	0.0	3.6	0.1	1.3	1.0
	yes	2.9	3.4	0.1	7.8	1.8	3.6	0.2	0.9	0.8
C. betulus (%)	no	-	< 0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.7	0.2
	yes	< 0.1	< 0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.3	2.8	1.5
F. sylvatica (%)	no	-	34.7	0.0	34.4	0.0	37.9	1.2	67.3	9.0
	yes	39.3	27.7	4.0	22.2	4.1	31.6	3.8	49.7	11.5
L. decidua (%)	no	-	12.0	0.1	7.9	0.0	12.4	0.9	2.5	0.6
	yes	10.7	12.5	0.3	8.4	0.8	13.0	1.0	4.6	1.2
<i>P. abies</i> (%)	no	-	43.2	0.1	21.5	0.1	36.8	0.7	2.2	0.2
	yes	38.5	39.8	3.0	18.2	2.2	32.7	3.1	2.7	0.2
Q. petraea (%)	no	-	0.1	0.0	0.9	0.0	0.4	0.2	16.3	7.1
	yes	< 0.1	0.1	0.0	0.7	0.1	0.6	0.3	15.8	5.9
<i>Q. robur</i> (%)	no	-	0.1	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.3	0.1	4.6	1.3
	yes	< 0.1	0.1	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.4	0.2	6.6	1.9
Other tree species (%)	no	-	6.7	0.0	21.8	0.0	8.6	0.3	5.2	0.5
	yes	8.6	16.3	7.0	42.1	8.7	17.7	6.2	16.9	6.6

Table 2. The sensitivity of forest composition to climate change and disturbance. Values are based on iLand simulations and indicate means and standard deviations (SD) over averaged landscape values (i.e. average species shares in the landscape) of all respective scenarios

Table 3. Response of biodiversity indicators to disturbance and climate scenarios for the years 0, 100 and 1000 of the simulation. Mean and standard deviation (SD) are over averaged landscape values (i.e. average species number in the landscape) for the respective scenarios. Presented are richness levels for Araneae, Carabidae, Hemiptera, Hymenoptera, Mollusca, saproxylic beetles, Symphyta and Syrphidae, the effective tree species diversity (exp(H')) as well as the rumple index of forest canopy complexity

	Disturbance Initial state		Baseline climate			Climate change				
		year 0	year 100		year 1000		year 100		year 1000	
		mean	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD
Araneae	no	-	11.6	0.0	11.8	0.0	8.1	0.7	10.7	0.7
	yes	10.7	11.6	0.0	11.8	0.0	8.2	0.6	11.2	0.7
Canopy complexity	no	-	1.2	0.0	1.5	0.0	1.2	0.0	1.1	0.0
	yes	1.2	1.3	0.0	1.6	0.1	1.3	0.0	1.3	0.0
Carabidae	no	-	8.8	0.0	9.0	0.0	6.2	0.7	5.8	0.6
	yes	7.4	8.9	0.1	9.2	0.0	6.3	0.7	6.1	0.6
Ground vegetation	no	-	33.1	0.0	34.0	0.0	35.6	1.1	37.3	1.2
	yes	37.4	33.4	0.2	34.2	0.2	36.1	1.1	37.6	1.2
Hemiptera	no	-	33.4	0.0	39.5	0.0	43.7	0.9	43.9	4.9
	yes	37.8	37.3	2.6	46.1	2.8	48.8	3.5	52.3	6.7
Hymenoptera	no	-	25.6	0.0	26.3	0.0	129.4	8.2	123.0	7.7
	yes	37.5	26.0	0.3	26.7	0.3	132.7	8.6	127.2	8.4
Mollusca	no	-	10.1	0.0	11.9	0.0	32.7	1.2	38.9	1.3
	yes	12.0	10.3	0.2	12.1	0.1	33.5	1.3	38.9	1.3
Saproxylic beetles	no	-	48.0	0.0	49.9	0.0	25.9	2.4	32.1	1.2
	yes	44.5	48.1	0.1	49.8	0.0	26.0	2.3	33.5	1.2
Symphyta	no	-	11.4	0.0	10.9	0.0	19.7	0.5	14.7	2.0
	yes	14.8	12.2	0.5	12.3	0.6	21.3	1.1	17.8	2.6
Syrphidae	no	-	19.9	0.0	18.9	0.0	73.6	10.2	59.8	12.4

	yes	30.7	21.0	0.6	20.7	0.7	78.3	11.3	68.9	14.1	
Tree diversity	no	-	3.1	0.0	5.7	0.0	3.4	0.1	2.8	0.3	
	yes	2.5	4.1	0.6	7.4	0.5	4.6	0.7	5.0	1.2	

DISTURBANCE EFFECTS ON BIODIVERSITY

While climate change impacts on diversity were ambiguous but strong for each indicator studied, the effect of disturbance was generally positive but less pronounced (Table 3, Fig. 3). Compared to a hypothetical trajectory omitting disturbances for the entire 1000-year simulation period, disturbances increased diversity in all indicators (P<0.001). Tree species diversity was affected most strongly by disturbance, followed by the species groups Symphyta, Hemiptera, Syrphidae as well as canopy structure. Increases in both disturbance frequency and severity were positively associated with all biodiversity indicators (Fig. 3). The opposite was the case for disturbance size, where an increase in the mean disturbance size was found to decrease biodiversity.




Fig. 3. Response of biodiversity indicators to disturbance (a) frequency, (b) severity and (c) size relative to scenarios without disturbance (zero line) at the end of the 1000-year simulation period. Dots are median values and whiskers indicate the 95th percentile range across all scenarios. Positive values indicate an increase in diversity.

SHIFTS IN BIODIVERSITY HOTSPOTS

After 1000 years of simulation, areas identified as hotspots were substantially different when comparing baseline climate and climate change conditions (Fig. 4). While hotspots in the baseline climate scenario were mainly located at low to moderate elevation, climate change supported hotspots in higher elevation zones. The extent of hotspot area strongly decreased under changed climatic conditions (P<0.001). Without disturbance and climate change 17.2% of the landscape were hotspots (Fig. 4a), but only a heavily fragmented 0.1% remained under changed climatic conditions (Fig. 4c). Disturbance significantly increased the extent of hotspot areas (P<0.001), e.g. by 146.1% under baseline climate (Fig. 4b). Under future climate, the simulations resulted in a total hotspot area of at least 18.4% (Fig. 4d), of which 23.1% overlapped with current hotspots.



Fig. 4. Biodiversity hotspots of the Kalkalpen National Park after 1000 simulation years. Hotspots are defined as areas where each of the eleven biodiversity indicators studied here exceeds the 25th percentile of its value range.

Discussion

CONSEQUENCES OF CHANGES IN CLIMATE AND DISTURBANCE REGIMES

Based on findings of broad-scale assessments (e.g. Sala 2000; Thomas *et al.* 2004), we had hypothesized a decline in biodiversity in response to climatic changes for the KA-NP. However, our in-depth analyses revealed that climate change effects on forest biodiversity in mountain forest landscapes can be both positive and negative, depending on the indicator and species group assessed. This finding corroborates other studies showing divergent effects among taxonomic groups, and exemplifies the existence of considerable variation in local-scale biodiversity trends (see e.g. Bowler *et al.* 2015). The steep altitudinal gradient of the study landscape (> 1000 m) allows trees to migrate upward, tracking their suitable climate niche. Doing so, European beech increasingly occupies areas dominated by Norway spruce, while giving way to oak and hornbeam at lower elevations. From this setting emanates a specific climate change response in biodiversity, which does not necessarily mirror broad scale biodiversity trends, as species linked to overstorey tree species (e.g. saproxylic beetles associated with oak (Bergman *et al.* 2012)), mainly track the spatio-temporal shifts of these trees.

Another reason for the differentiated result of climate change impacts could be that many previous broad-scale studies have considered the direct effects of climate change only. While individual studies have already incorporated selected indirect climate change effects previously, such as modifications in seed dispersal and biotic interactions (e.g. Brooker *et al.* 2007) or changes in forest structure (e.g. De Frenne *et al.* 2013), here we applied a novel combination of simulation modelling and empirical climate change. While all species groups indicated a strong direct response to climate, indirect effects also had a distinctive effect on the trajectories of a number of species groups studied (e.g. Araneae, saproxylic beetles, see Fig. S4). In line with our initial hypothesis these indirect effects of climate change impacts could be delayed, an effect that was not accounted for here. As the species groups investigated here have relatively short life-cycles compared to the pace of

climate change, a swift direct response to a changing environment can be assumed (see e.g. Danks 2004), and the lag of direct climate effects might be negligible in our study. Furthermore, our study does not consider biotic interactions within the investigated species groups or any associations with other species groups except trees (see e.g. Thuiller *et al.* 2015).

It is also important to note that the different definitions and focal indicators of biodiversity under consideration in different studies likely account for diverging reports on the climate change sensitivity of biodiversity. For ten out of eleven indicators we here used species diversity as a proxy for biodiversity. Other important aspects of biodiversity not considered here include the abundance of rare species (e.g. red list species) or endemic species (Engler, Guisan & Rechsteiner 2004), as well as the consideration of functional diversity (Thuiller *et al.* 2006) or phylogenetic diversity indicators spanning the plant and animal kingdoms it would be desirable to also include, for instance, vertebrate species such as mammals, birds, amphibians or reptiles (see e.g. Maiorano *et al.* 2013) in future assessments.

In contrast to climate change, disturbance had a clear positive effect on the investigated forest biodiversity indicators, supporting our initial hypothesis. This result is in line with a wide range of literature on the impacts of disturbance on biodiversity in forest ecosystems (Thom & Seidl 2015). However, we found different biodiversity responses for changes in the frequency, severity and size of disturbance. While the effect of an increase in disturbance frequency and severity was consistently positive, an increase in disturbance size reduced the positive disturbance effect on biodiversity. High disturbance severity and increasing frequency facilitate edges, and create a complex pattern of open areas and remaining closed canopy forests, increasing the variation in ecological conditions and habitats (Perry et al. 2011; Lehnert et al. 2013). An increasing disturbance size, however, homogenizes areas and reduces the forest edge density (Hansson 1994). Future changes in climatic conditions are expected to further intensify disturbance regimes in many ecosystems (Seidl et al. 2014; Millar & Stephenson 2015), and will thus exert an important indirect impact of climate change on forest biodiversity. Our study suggests that increasing disturbance frequency and severity (at current disturbance sizes) can compensate negative effects of climate change on selected biodiversity indicators (e.g. tree diversity). This underlines that future studies should take a dynamic and integrative perspective on the potential trajectories of biodiversity beyond correlative relationships with temperature and precipitation. The value of such a perspective is furthermore underlined by finding century-long lag times in biodiversity responses to climatic drivers (Menendez *et al.* 2006), and in dampening as well as amplifying feedbacks between direct and indirect influences of climate change.

IMPLICATIONS FOR CONSERVATION MANAGEMENT

Our study indicates that local hotspots of biodiversity can shift significantly under climate change, a fact that should be considered more explicitly in future conservation management. Spatio-temporal analyses as the one presented here can support future conservation planning and foster prospective allocation of resources in conservation management. To increase the robustness of conservation decisions under changing environmental conditions, efforts should focus particularly on areas that are hotspots under both current and changed climatic conditions (see also Rose & Burton 2009). However, it also has to be noted that there are pronounced differences between different hotspot definitions (see Fig. S4), which underline remaining uncertainties in this regard. In the case of the KA-NP, robust hotspots are located in the central and eastern reaches of the park at low to mid elevations in both variants investigated.

Furthermore, addressing a wide range of species groups explicitly is important for conservation management to identify biota particularly at risk from climate change. Based on our analyses these include Araneae, Carabidae and saproxylic beetles at the KA-NP. As tree species diversity was also found to decrease, and many phytophages are host-dependent (Brandle & Brandl 2001), a wide range of indicators might benefit from a coarse filter conservation approach aiming to maintain a diverse forest tree composition. Furthermore, migration corridors as well as temporal connectivity of hotspots on the landscape can help to maintain species threatened by climate change at the regional scale (Fischer, Lindenmayer & Manning 2006). These corridors should be designed particularly to connect current and future hotspots of biodiversity to allow species to relocate in response to changing climatic conditions.

Our findings of positive disturbance impacts on biodiversity underline that intensifying disturbance regimes are congruent with the goals of biodiversity conservation in Central European forests. It is important to note, however, that this positive effect of disturbances can be strongly reduced or even offset by measures such as salvage logging and homogenizing disturbed areas (Lindenmayer & Noss 2006), which is current standard practice in the managed forest ecosystems of Central Europe. For example, the richness of saproxylic beetles as well as wood-inhabiting fungi has been found to increase after disturbance events, but decreased severely when areas were salvage-logged (Thorn *et al.* 2014; Thorn *et al.* 2015). Furthermore, such interventions that are usually performed using heavy machinery compact soils, and consequently reduce soil fauna and microflora (Marshall 2000). In the light of the importance of biodiversity for the adaptive capacity and response diversity of ecosystems (Mori, Furukawa & Sasaki 2013), a more differentiated perspective on disturbance might be necessary in order to ensure the resilience of forest ecosystems in a rapidly changing world.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by the Austrian Science Fund FWF (grant P 25503-B16). R. Seidl acknowledges further support from an EC FP7 Marie Curie Career Integration grant (PCIG12-GA-2012-334104). We are grateful for the cooperation with Kalkalpen National Park and the Austrian Federal Forests (ÖBf) as well as to Wolfgang Willner and Stefan Dullinger for providing ground vegetation data. We thank two anonymous reviewers for helpful comments on an earlier version of the manuscript. The simulation results presented here have been achieved using the Vienna Scientific Cluster (VSC).

Data accessibility

The data used in this study are archived in the Dryad Digital Repository http://dx.doi.org/10.5061/dryad.2d6h4 (Thom *et al.* 2016). Additional information on the individual-based forest landscape and disturbance model used in this study can be found on the iLand homepage: <u>http://iland.boku.ac.at/</u>

References

- Austin, M. (2002) Spatial prediction of species distribution: an interface between ecological theory and statistical modelling. *Ecological Modelling*, **157**, 101–118.
- Bässler, C., Förster, B., Moning, C. & Müller, J. (2008) The BIOKLIM project: Biodiversity research between climate change and wilding in a temperate montane forest - the conceptual framework. *Waldökologie, Landschaftsforschung und Naturschutz*, 7, 21–33.
- Bässler, C., Hothorn, T., Brandl, R. & Müller, J. (2013) Insects overshoot the expected upslope shift caused by climate warming. *PLoS ONE*, **8**.
- Bellard, C., Bertelsmeier, C., Leadley, P., Thuiller, W. & Courchamp, F. (2012) Impacts of climate change on the future of biodiversity. *Ecology Letters*, 15, 365–377.
- Bergman, K.-O., Jansson, N., Claesson, K., Palmer, M.W. & Milberg, P. (2012) How much and at what scale? Multiscale analyses as decision support for conservation of saproxylic oak beetles. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **265**, 133–141.
- Bertrand, R., Lenoir, J., Piedallu, C., Riofrío-Dillon, G., de Ruffray, P., Vidal, C., Pierrat, J.-C. & Gégout, J.-C. (2011) Changes in plant community composition lag behind climate warming in lowland forests. *Nature*, **479**, 517–520.
- Bowler, D.E., Haase, P., Kröncke, I., Tackenberg, O., Bauer, H.G., Brendel, C., Brooker, R.W., Gerisch, M., Henle, K., Hickler, T., Hof, C., Klotz, S., Kühn, I., Matesanz, S., O'Hara, R., Russell, D., Schweiger, O., Valladares, F., Welk, E., Wiemers, M. & Böhning-Gaese, K. (2015) A cross-taxon analysis of the impact of climate change on abundance trends in central Europe. *Biological Conservation*, 187, 41–50.
- Brandle, M. & Brandl, R. (2001) Species richness of insects and mites on trees: expanding Southwood. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, **70**, 491–504.
- Brooker, R.W., Travis, J.M.J., Clark, E.J. & Dytham, C. (2007) Modelling species' range shifts in a changing climate: The impacts of biotic interactions, dispersal distance and the rate of climate change. *Journal of Theoretical Biology*, 245, 59–65.
- Cardinale, B.J., Palmer, M.A. & Collins, S.L. (2002) Species diversity enhances ecosystem functioning through interspecific facilitation. *Nature*, **415**, 426–429.
- Danks, H. V. (2004) Seasonal Adaptations in Arctic Insects. *Integrative and Comparative Biology*, 44, 85–94.

- De Frenne, P., Rodriguez-Sanchez, F., Coomes, D.A., Baeten, L., Verstraeten, G., Vellend, M., Bernhardt-Romermann, M., Brown, C.D., Brunet, J., Cornelis, J., Decocq, G.M., Dierschke, H., Eriksson, O., Gilliam, F.S., Hedl, R., Heinken, T., Hermy, M., Hommel, P., Jenkins, M.A., Kelly, D.L., Kirby, K.J., Mitchell, F.J.G., Naaf, T., Newman, M., Peterken, G., Petrik, P., Schultz, J., Sonnier, G., Van Calster, H., Waller, D.M., Walther, G.-R., White, P.S., Woods, K.D., Wulf, M., Graae, B.J. & Verheyen, K. (2013) Microclimate moderates plant responses to macroclimate warming. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **110**, 18561–18565.
- Díaz, S. & Cabido, M. (2001) Vive la différence: plant functional diversity matters to ecosystem processes. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, **16**, 646–655.
- Dormann, C.F., Elith, J., Bacher, S., Buchmann, C., Carl, G., Carré, G., Marquéz, J.R.G.,
 Gruber, B., Lafourcade, B., Leitão, P.J., Münkemüller, T., McClean, C., Osborne, P.E.,
 Reineking, B., Schröder, B., Skidmore, A.K., Zurell, D. & Lautenbach, S. (2013)
 Collinearity: a review of methods to deal with it and a simulation study evaluating their
 performance. *Ecography*, 36, 27–46.
- Dullinger, S., Willner, W., Plutzar, C., Englisch, T., Schratt-Ehrendorfer, L., Moser, D., Ertl, S., Essl, F. & Niklfeld, H. (2012) Post-glacial migration lag restricts range filling of plants in the European Alps. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, **21**, 829–840.
- Elith, J. & Leathwick, J.R. (2009) Species Distribution Models: Ecological Explanation and Prediction Across Space and Time. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, **40**, 677–697.
- Engler, R., Guisan, A. & Rechsteiner, L. (2004) An improved approach for predicting the distribution of rare and endangered species from occurrence and pseudo-absence data. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, **41**, 263–274.
- Fischer, J., Lindenmayer, D.B. & Manning, A.D. (2006) Biodiversity, ecosystem function, and resilience: ten guiding principles for commodity production landscapes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, **4**, 80–86.
- Hansen, A.J., Neilson, R.P., Dale, V.H., Flather, C.H., Iverson, L.R., Currie, D.J., Shafer, S., Cook, R. & Bartlein, P.J. (2001) Global change in forests: responses of species, communities, and biomes. *BioScience*, **51**, 765.
- Hansson, L. (1994) Vertebrate distributions relative to clear-cut edges in a boreal forest landscape. *Landscape Ecology*, **9**, 105–115.

- Kearney, M. & Porter, W. (2009) Mechanistic niche modelling: combining physiological and spatial data to predict species' ranges. *Ecology Letters*, **12**, 334–350.
- Kobler, J (2004) Risikokarten als Planungsgrundlage für Flächenbewirtschaftung und Tourismuslenkung im Nationalpark Kalkalpen Oberösterreich. Faculty of Earth Sciences, Geography and Astronomy, University of Vienna. 1-304.
- Lehnert, L.W., Bässler, C., Brandl, R., Burton, P.J. & Müller, J. (2013) Conservation value of forests attacked by bark beetles: Highest number of indicator species is found in early successional stages. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, **21**, 97–104.
- Lindenmayer, D.B. & Noss, R.F. (2006) Salvage logging, ecosystem processes, and biodiversity conservation. *Conservation Biology*, **20**, 949–958.
- Maiorano, L., Amori, G., Capula, M., Falcucci, A., Masi, M., Montemaggiori, A., Pottier, J., Psomas, A., Rondinini, C., Russo, D., Zimmermann, N.E., Boitani, L. & Guisan, A. (2013) Threats from climate change to terrestrial vertebrate hotspots in Europe. *PLoS ONE*, 8, e74989.
- Marshall, V. (2000) Impacts of forest harvesting on biological processes in northern forest soils. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **133**, 43–60.
- Menendez, R., Megias, A.G., Hill, J.K., Braschler, B., Willis, S.G., Collingham, Y., Fox, R., Roy, D.B. & Thomas, C.D. (2006) Species richness changes lag behind climate change. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, **273**, 1465–1470.
- Millar, C.I. & Stephenson, N.L. (2015) Temperate forest health in an era of emerging megadisturbance. *Science*, **349**, 823–826.
- Mori, A.S., Furukawa, T. & Sasaki, T. (2013) Response diversity determines the resilience of ecosystems to environmental change. *Biological Reviews*, **88**, 349–364.
- Müller, J., Bußler, H., Goßner, M., Rettelbach, T. & Duelli, P. (2008) The European spruce bark beetle Ips typographus in a national park: from pest to keystone species. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, **17**, 2979–3001.
- Myers, N., Mittermeier, R.A., Mittermeier, C.G., da Fonseca, G.A.B. & Kent, J. (2000) Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. *Nature*, **403**, 853–858.
- Parker, G. G., Harmon, M. E., Lefsky, M. A., Chen, J., Van Pelt, R., Weis, S. B., Thomas, S. C., Winner, W. E., Shaw, D. C., & Franklin, J. F. (2004) Three-dimensional structure of

an old growth Pseudotsuga–Tsuga canopy and its implications for radiation balance, microclimate, and gas exchange. *Ecosystems*, **7**, 440–453.

- Parrotta, J.A., Wildburger, C. & Mansourian, S. (2012) Understanding Relationships between Biodiversity, Carbon, Forests and People: The Key to Achieving REDD+ Objectives. A Global Assessment Report Prepared by the Global Forest Expert Panel on Biodiversity, Forest Management and REDD+. *IUFRO World Series*, **31**, Vienna, 161p.
- Pasari, J.R., Levi, T., Zavaleta, E.S. & Tilman, D. (2013) Several scales of biodiversity affect ecosystem multifunctionality. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, **110**, 10219–10222.
- Perry, D.A., Hessburg, P.F., Skinner, C.N., Spies, T.A., Stephens, S.L., Taylor, A.H., Franklin, J.F., McComb, B. & Riegel, G. (2011) The ecology of mixed severity fire regimes in Washington, Oregon, and Northern California. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 262, 703–717.
- Rose, N.-A. & Burton, P.J. (2009) Using bioclimatic envelopes to identify temporal corridors in support of conservation planning in a changing climate. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 258, S64–S74.
- Sala, O.E. (2000) Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science, 287, 1770–1774.
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W. & Lexer, M.J. (2009) Schätzung von Bodenmerkmalen und Modellparametern für die Waldökosystemsimulation auf Basis einer Großrauminventur. *Allgemeine Forst- und Jagdzeitung*, **180**, 35–44.
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W., Scheller, R.M. & Spies, T.A. (2012a) An individual-based process model to simulate landscape-scale forest ecosystem dynamics. *Ecological Modelling*, 231, 87–100.
- Seidl, R., Schelhaas, M.-J. & Lexer, M.J. (2011) Unraveling the drivers of intensifying forest disturbance regimes in Europe. *Global Change Biology*, **17**, 2842–2852.
- Seidl, R., Schelhaas, M.-J., Rammer, W. & Verkerk, P.J. (2014) Increasing forest disturbances in Europe and their impact on carbon storage. *Nature Climate Change*, 4, 806–810.
- Seidl, R., Spies, T.A., Rammer, W., Steel, E.A., Pabst, R.J. & Olsen, K. (2012b) Multi-scale drivers of spatial variation in old-growth forest carbon density disentangled with Lidar and an individual-based landscape model. *Ecosystems*, **15**, 1321–1335.

- Thom, D., Rammer, R., Dirnböck, T., Müller, J., Kobler, J., Katzensteiner, K., Helm, N., Seidl, R. (2016) Data from: The impacts of climate change and disturbance on spatiotemporal trajectories of biodiversity in a temperate forest landscape. Dryad Digital Repository, http://dx.doi.org/10.5061/dryad.2d6h4.
- Thom, D. & Seidl, R. (2015) Natural disturbance impacts on ecosystem services and biodiversity in temperate and boreal forests. *Biological Reviews*, DOI: 10.1111/brv.12193.
- Thom, D., Seidl, R., Steyrer, G., Krehan, H. & Formayer, H. (2013) Slow and fast drivers of the natural disturbance regime in Central European forest ecosystems. *Forest Ecology and Management*, **307**, 293–302.
- Thomas, C.D., Cameron, A., Green, R.E., Bakkenes, M., Beaumont, L.J., Collingham, Y.C., Erasmus, B.F.N., de Siqueira, M.F., Grainger, A., Hannah, L., Hughes, L., Huntley, B., van Jaarsveld, A.S., Midgley, G.F., Miles, L., Ortega-Huerta, M.A., Townsend Peterson, A., Phillips, O.L. & Williams, S.E. (2004) Extinction risk from climate change. *Nature*, 427, 145–148.
- Thorn, S., Bässler, C., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Cadotte, M., Heibl, C., Schäfer, H., Seibold, S. & Müller, J. (2015) Changes in the dominant assembly mechanism drive species loss caused by declining resources. *Ecology Letters*, DOI: 10.1111/ele.12548.
- Thorn, S., Bässler, C., Gottschalk, T., Hothorn, T., Bussler, H., Raffa, K. & Müller, J. (2014) New insights into the consequences of post-windthrow salvage logging revealed by functional structure of saproxylic beetles assemblages. *PLoS ONE*, **9**, e101757.
- Thuiller, W., Lavergne, S., Roquet, C., Boulangeat, I., Lafourcade, B. & Araujo, M.B. (2011) Consequences of climate change on the tree of life in Europe. *Nature*, **470**, 531–534.
- Thuiller, W., Lavorel, S., Sykes, M.T., Araújo, M.B. (2006) Using niche-based modelling to assess the impact of climate change on tree functional diversity in Europe. *Diversity and Distributions*, **12**, 49–60.
- Thuiller, W., Pollock, L.J., Gueguen, M. & Münkemüller, T. (2015) From species distributions to meta-communities. *Ecology Letters*, **18**, 1321–1328.
- Zimmermann, N.E., Edwards, T.C., Graham, C.H., Pearman, P.B., Svenning, J.C. (2010) New trends in species distribution modelling. *Ecography* **33**, 985–989.

Supporting Information

Additional Supporting Information may be found in the online version of this article:

Fig. S1. Productivity tests.

- Fig. S2. Climate sensitivity test.
- Fig. S3. Potential natural vegetation test.
- Fig. S4. Additive approach for biodiversity hotspots.
- Appendix S1. Initial conditions and drivers add-on.
- Table S1. Coefficient of variation of replicates in each scenario for each biodiversity indicator studied at the end of simulation period.
- Table S2. Local sensitivity analysis of the empirical species diversity models to changes in climate and tree vegetation.

Supporting Information

INITIAL CONDITIONS AND DRIVERS ADD-ON

<u>Soil</u>

Soil data were derived from inventory plots distributed over the national park on a regular 300 m \times 300 m grid. 710 and 688 inventory plots were used to develop statistical models for soil depth (Fig. 1) and soil type (Fig. 2), using linear and logistic regression respectively (Kobler 2004). These relationships were subsequently used to derive wall-to-wall estimate of these parameters for the landscape. Surveys on soil texture (N=622) were aggregated by soil type and resampled for the whole landscape. Plant available nitrogen values were derived from a dataset previously developed for the grid of the Austrian National Forest Inventory (Seidl, Rammer & Lexer 2009), and were imputed to the study area by a stratified sampling over ecoregion, elevation, soil depth, aspect and slope (N=557).



Fig. A1. Effective soil depth according to Kobler (2004).



Fig. A2. Soil types according to Kobler (2004).

Climate

The years 1950 - 2010 were selected as the baseline for the analysis of climate change effects (reference period, see examples for climate input parameters in Fig. 4 and Fig. 5). Three regionally downscaled climate change scenarios, representing different combinations of global and regional circulation models under A1B forcing, were studied: CNRM-RM4.5 (Radu, Déqué & Somot 2008) driven by the global climate models (GCM) ARPEGE and MPI-REMO (Jacob 2001) as well as ICTP-RegCM3 (Pal *et al.* 2007) driven by the GCM ECHAM5. Climate changed transiently in these scenarios until the end of the 21^{st} century (temperature change of between 3.1° C and 3.3° C, and precipitation change of between -89 mm and + 141 mm in 2080 – 2099 relative to the baseline period). A stabilization of climate conditions at the level of 2080 - 2099 was assumed for the years beyond 2100.



Fig. A3. Mean maximum temperature under baseline climate conditions.



Fig. A4. Annual precipitation sum under baseline climate conditions.

Vegetation

Information on current vegetation was derived via integrating various data sources. First, we defined stand polygons (median stand size: 1.4 ha) based on aerial photo analysis with rough estimates for tree species composition. Then we used terrestrial inventory data (N=1,122) to

refine tree species composition as well as to derive diameter at breast height (dbh) and the number of trees per ha within each stand polygons. To establish stand age we used information from forest inventory and planning data. Airborne LiDAR (light detection and ranging) was improved by forest inventory data to estimate tree heights of forest stands (Fig. 6). LiDAR and forest inventories were further used to derive the stockable area within a stand (i.e. based on these data sources, we excluded areas on a 10 m \times 10 m where trees cannot grow, for example due to rocks on these areas). LiDAR data also served to determine the position of trees for initialization of the simulation model (i.e. we did not assume a uniform distribution of trees over the stands, but accounted for gaps and lumps of trees within the stands). Altogether, we initialized more than 2 10⁶ trees from 17 different species on an area of 13.865 ha. All these data sources pertained to the end of the 1990s or early 2000s, and were combined to determine the state of tree vegetation at KA-NP in the year 1999.



Fig. A5. Dominant tree height within stand polygons.

References

- Jacob, D. (2001) A note to the simulation of the annual and inter-annual variability of the water budget over the Baltic Sea drainage basin. *Meteorology and Atmospheric Physics*, 77, 61–73.
- Kobler, J (2004) Risikokarten als Planungsgrundlage für Flächenbewirtschaftung und Tourismuslenkung im Nationalpark Kalkalpen Oberösterreich. Faculty of Earth Sciences, Geography and Astronomy, University of Vienna. 1-304.
- Pal, J.S., Giorgi, F., Bi, X., Elguindi, N., Solmon, F., Rauscher, S.A., Gao, X., Francisco, R., Zakey, A., Winter, J., Ashfaq, M., Syed, F.S., Sloan, L.C., Bell, J.L., Diffenbaugh, N.S., Karmacharya, J., Konaré, A., Martinez, D., da Rocha, R.P. & Steiner, A.L. (2007)
 Regional climate modeling for the developing world: The ICTP RegCM3 and RegCNET. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 88, 1395–1409.
- Radu, R., Déqué, M. & Somot, S. (2008) Spectral nudging in a spectral regional climate model. *Tellus A*, **60**, 898–910.
- Seidl, R., Rammer, W. & Lexer, M.J. (2009) Schätzung von Bodenmerkmalen und Modellparametern für die Waldökosystemsimulation auf Basis einer Großrauminventur. *Allgemeine Forst- und Jagdzeitung*, **180**, 35–44.